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DAY 1 – 3 NOVEMBER 2015 

 

  [10.04 am] 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  We will just acknowledge appearances to start with.  5 

Ms Scott, you are with Ms McCallum today? 

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, good morning, sir. 

 

SJH:   Mr Allen, you are with? 10 

 

MR ALLEN:   Bazalo, sir. 

 

SJH:   Bazalo, thank you. 

 15 

MR ALLEN:   Thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Mr Chapman and Mr Webster for the University of Canterbury? 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Yes, sir. 20 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Leckie, you are for Pegasus Health and no support? 

 

MR LECKIE:   Yes, sir. 

 25 

SJH:   Could the roaming mic be taken to the back and we will just record any 

submitters that may be here in person.  I don’t think there will be any 

but we had better just double check.  Are there any submitters at the 

back that are not involved as witnesses or anything?  Okay, that is fine, 

sorry; I should have asked that before I asked you. 30 

 

 Ms Scott, just one minor matter before we start, we received an 

understandably late memorandum from the District Health Board 

asking the excusing of witnesses and it presupposes that you have 

withdrawn your application to cross-examine Mr Willis, I think it was? 35 

 

  [10.05 am] 

 

 And given that it indicates his complete agreement over the Hospital 

Special Purpose Zone, we can take that as read? 40 

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, sir, that we formally withdrew that cross examination last 

night. 
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SJH:   Yes, it just didn’t reach me; I only had the one so I just wanted to 

confirm that.  All right, thank you.  That can go on the website at the 

adjournment.  All right, Ms Scott, thank you. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, sir.  Just to explain the documents that you have in 5 

front of you.  We were asked to provide a copy and it is in the bound 

document of each of the witnesses’ most recent revised proposal.  The 

accept/reject table and section 32 report, sir you will find that under 

each tab for each of the Council’s planning witnesses.   

 10 

 Also you will have in front of you two memoranda that were filed last 

night.  The first is a joint memorandum by the Crown, the Canterbury 

District Health Board and Christchurch City Council regarding 

agreement on the Specific Purpose Hospital Zone, and matters of 

agreement relating to the Defence Wigram Zone. 15 

 

 So the version that you have in the bound document of the most recent 

revised proposal is what was filed last night.  There is also a 

memorandum of Council on behalf of just Christchurch City Council 

and that relates to the Specific Purpose Cemetery Zone.  That explains 20 

that Mr Eman has identified another, I think it is four changes that he 

recommends, and he will present that revised proposal as an exhibit 

when he is called this morning. 

 

 Sir, if I could turn to the opening legal submissions - - - 25 

 

SJH:   Just before you do that because it is, as they always are, this has been a 

movable feast.  Could you just run through and say now what has been 

totally agreed, and what areas we are still looking at a level of 

disagreement? 30 

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes I can, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 35 

MS SCOTT:   In paragraph 1.3 of the legal submissions I endeavour to explain 

that – I will go through in the order that they are set out. 

 

 There is two outstanding matters for the Defence Wigram Zone, the 

first is minor and between the Council and the Crown as to the how to 40 

use the rules text in the zone. 

 

 The second is a request from the Crown to decrease the minimum 

setbacks from 10 metres, to six metres.  There is no submission point 

on this change and we have outlined this in the memorandum that we 45 
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filed last night.  The Council has concerns about the fairness of that 

reduction in setback that is sought by the Crown. 

 

 For the Cemetery Zone, the one outstanding matter is the Crown’s 

request for a comprehensive consent policy and also for absolute 5 

completeness I note that although Orion’s setbacks have been accepted 

by the Council, Federated Farmers was a further submitter opposing 

them but they haven’t filed any evidence and also did not participate in 

mediation. 

 10 

SJH:   This is the same point that has been, I was going to say “laboured” but it 

is probably belaboured in other hearings, isn’t it around? 

 

MS SCOTT:   It is, sir, and Federated Farmers has only become involved in 

this stage. 15 

 

SJH:   Yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   I understand it was traversed in yesterday’s subdivision hearing.  

There are no outstanding issues for the Styx Mill Zone.  There are no 20 

outstanding issues for the Hospital Zone. 

 

 For the School Zone there is an outstanding matter between the Council 

and the Catholic Diocese regarding the applicable built form standards 

for churches and spiritual facilities in the School Zone.   25 

 

 There is also an outstanding matter between the Council and the 

Elmwood Club as to an alternative zoning of part or all of the playing 

fields at Heaton Intermediate and I should add there that they have 

included alternative relief, which is the addition of a new permitted 30 

activity rule into that zone. 

 

 For the Tertiary Education Zone, outlined at F on page 2 are the matters 

that remain outstanding.  The Council and the University are largely 

agreed but there are other submitters who have raised concerns with 35 

that agreed position. 

 

 In terms of what does remain disagreed between the Council, 

University and the Polytech are the definition of site, there is a 

difference in opinion there, and also the activity status for the sale of 40 

alcohol on the University campus between 11.00 pm and 7.00 am.  

Council’s position is non-complying; submitter’s is prohibited activity. 

 

  [10.10 am] 

 45 

SJH:   I’m sorry, the time, 11.00 pm to 7.00 am, is it? 
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MS SCOTT:   Yes, sir.  And the university seeks that there be no rule.  And 

finally there is a submission point by Mr Carter that the objectives and 

policies – sorry, it is not a submission point, but his involvement is 

that, in his written statement, is that the objectives and policies as 5 

amended significantly decrease the level of consideration afforded to 

adjacent residents. 

 

SJH:   We will need to explore that.  I think they are down for tomorrow, are 

they, Mr Carter and the residents’ group?  Because a number of 10 

paragraphs of Mr Carter’s evidence and the pages themselves have the 

residents’ group name on it and they seem to mirror provisions, so 

we’ll have to work out what that relationship exactly is, I suspect. 

 

 The issue that I think there was agreement on, of ensuring that the zone 15 

boundaries and the designation boundaries, the line, there was a scope 

issue raised around that. 

 

MS SCOTT:   There was one submission point the Council, sir - - -  

 20 

SJH:   It was really residential, wasn’t it? 

 

MS SCOTT:   There was one that relates to this hearing, and the Council has 

withdrawn its submission point because through the designation 

decision, the alignment – the change in the boundary was not included 25 

in the designation.  So the Council has withdrawn that submission point 

so that the position is aligned. 

 

SJH:   So they are now aligned? 

 30 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, sir.  

 

SJH:   Right, that is good.  Thank you. 

 

MS SCOTT:  So, sir, I do not intend to take you through a more detailed 35 

explanation of those areas of disagreement, unless you wish me to.  

They are all covered by the evidence that is before you.   

 

 In terms of what has been agreed on the Hospital Zone and the Defence 

Wigram Zone, the relevant witnesses are available to explain those 40 

changes to you when we call them this morning. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 

MS SCOTT:  I also note, I have included in section 2 of my submissions the 45 

one legal issue that the Council considers the Panel needs to make a 
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determination on, and that is whether a number of submission points 

are on the proposal.   

 

 I have set up there for the Panel’s assistance the relevant part of the 

order in Council and some relevant case law referring there to the High 5 

Court’s decision, Palmerston North City Council and the Motor 

Machinists.  We set out there the two-limb approach.  This is nothing 

new, sir, and the purpose of these parts of the submissions is to explain 

the situation for each of these submissions.  

 10 

 Where the Council witnesses have raised scope concerns, they are in a 

sense all slightly difference, in terms of how we have got to where we 

are.  For example, some of the submissions are on land that in Stage 2 

was greyed out on the planning maps.  Sometimes the submitter made a 

submission in Stage 1 challenging the appropriateness of what was 15 

notified in Stage 1 and then has again made a submission in Stage 2.   

 

 In other examples, no submission was made in Stage 1 at all, so the 

issue did not come before the Panel as to the appropriateness of that 

land.  And as in another example, in Stage 1 a submitter even supported 20 

the notified zoning in Stage 1 and has then sought in Stage 2 a different 

zoning. 

 

 So there are various examples of that.  I have endeavoured to set them 

out there for your assistance, sir. 25 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 

MS SCOTT:  Sir, at paragraph 9, I set out the witnesses that the Council will 

be calling for the Specific Purpose Zones.  Unless you have any further 30 

questions, I propose that we get into hearing the evidence 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Let us go straight to Mr Blair then. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, sir.  I call Mr Scott Blair. 35 
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<ADAM SCOTT BLAIR, sworn [10.14 am] 
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SJH:   Thank you.  

 

<EXAMINATION BY MS SCOTT [10.14 am] 

 

MS SCOTT:  Thank you, if you could confirm your full name is Adam Scott 5 

Blair? 

 

MR BLAIR:  Yes, it is.  

 

MS SCOTT:  And you have prepared two statements of evidence for this 10 

hearing, a statement of evidence-in-chief, dated 5 October, relating to 

the Hospital Zone, and second in rebuttal, also related to the Hospital 

Zone, dated 23 October 2015? 

 

  [10.15 am] 15 

 

MR BLAIR:   That is correct. 

 

MS SCOTT:   You have the qualifications and experience which is set out in 

your evidence-in-chief filed in an earlier hearing, being Residential 20 

Proposal? 

 

MR BLAIR:   That is correct. 

 

MS SCOTT:  And do you have any corrections you wish to make to your 25 

evidence? 

 

MR BLAIR:   Not at this stage, no. 

 

MS SCOTT:  Thank you.  If you could confirm that your evidence is true and 30 

correct to the best of your knowledge? 

 

MR BLAIR:   I can. 

 

MS SCOTT:  Thank you.  If you can provide a brief highlights’ package, and I 35 

understand that Mr Allen has withdrawn his cross-examination of Mr 

Blair - - - 

 

SJH:   Okay, thank you. 

 40 

MS SCOTT:  - - - so if you remain seated to answer any questions for the 

Panel, please? 

 

MR BLAIR:   Yes. 

 45 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you. 
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MR BLAIR:   Good morning, Panel.  The highlights package by Ms Schroder 

will outline the purpose of the Specific Purpose (Hospital) Zone and 

the reasons for delineating it as suburban, suburban services and inner 

urban hospitals, and changes to the rule structure.   5 

 

 My statement focuses on the requested rezonings to the Specific 

Purpose (Hospital) Zone. The Council received Stage 1 and Stage 2 

submissions for rezoning of properties from public hospitals from 

Resident to Specific Purpose (Hospital) from St George’s Hospital at 10 

Merivale.  This involved a row of residential properties abutting the 

hospital on Heaton Street and fronting Heaton Street; from Pegasus 

Health 24 Hour Surgery at Bealey Avenue, now currently zoned 

Residential; from Nurse Maude at Merivale, in relation to a property on 

McDougall Avenue across the road from the existing Nurse Maude 15 

Hospital; from WesleyCare Methodist Mission at the corner of 

Marblewood Drive and Harewood Road in Papanui; and from 

Hillmorton Hospital and Canterbury District Health Board land at 

Annex Road, abutting the southern side of the Christchurch Southern 

Motorway and adjoining the western side of the existing Hillmorton 20 

Hospital. 

 

 I met with planning representatives of all of the organisations in the six 

weeks leading up to the formal mediations to discuss the organisation’s 

needs and reasons for requesting the rezonings.  At these meetings and 25 

in formal mediation, it was agreed between officers and submitted 

representatives that, however, one, the request by St George’s Hospital 

for rezoning of properties at Heaton Street is supported.   

 

 A number of the sites that the hospital was seeking the rezoning of are 30 

owned by the hospital and/or are already used for healthcare purposes.  

However, the properties also sit within a Character Area and officers 

were concerned to ensure that any redevelopment fit with the character 

of the surrounding area.  

 35 

 Officers and submitted representatives have agreed that development 

on the sites would be subject to a Restriction Discretionary Activity 

(Urban Design) assessment.  Rules to this effect have been drafted and 

have been presented by myself in evidence to the Hearings’ Panel.  It is 

understood that St George’s Hospital have elected not to submit 40 

evidence but support the officers’ position. 

 

 The request by Pegasus Health 24 Hour Surgery is supported.  The 

facility functions much like a hospital and sits within the definition of a 

hospital in the PRDP as publicly notified.  The facility provides an 45 

important support role for healthcare in Christchurch and the wider 
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region.  It is again understood that Pegasus Health have elected not to 

submit evidence but support the Council’s position. 

 

 The request by Nurse Maude, Merivale, a private hospital, is supported.  

The scale and intensity of potential operations on the site would be very 5 

similar to the scale and intensity of the Medium Density Residential 

Development site being zoned RMD as publicly notified.  However, 

buildings would not be subject to a Restricted Discretionary Activity 

(Urban Design) assessment as the neighbouring properties in the RMD 

Zone would have been subject to the same sort of assessment. It is 10 

requested that these properties, that the rezoned property, also be 

subject to the same assessment. 

 

 The request by WesleyCare Methodist Mission is supported.  A third to 

a half of the site abutting road frontage is already zoned as Special 15 

Purpose (Hospital) in the Operative District Plan. It was zoned 

Residential Suburban and Residential Suburban Density Transition 

Zone in Stages 1 and 2 of the process.  The original officer analysis 

determined that the facility did not sit comfortably with the definition 

of hospital as publicly notified, and that the site should be zoned for 20 

residential purposes based on the opinion that the site functioned more 

as a retirement home.   

 

  [10.20 am] 

 25 

 After submissions on stage 2 closed, I undertook a site visit and 

received additional information about the site’s relationship with the 

Canterbury District Health Board to determine that there was sufficient 

specialist medical or hospital activity being undertaken at the site to 

qualify as a hospital, albeit primarily for the elderly. 30 

 

 It is also noted that a specialist care facility providing medical care has 

recently been consented and constructed on the front third to half of the 

site. 

 35 

 The request by the Canterbury District Health Board for land at the end 

of Annex Road to be zoned Specific Purpose Hospital is supported in 

final rebuttal evidence to the IHP – to this Panel.  The DCHB own the 

site. In previous iterations of the city plan the land was zoned for 

hospital purposes but was rezoned in the Operative Plan for residential 40 

purposes at the request of the CDHB because it was projected that the 

land would not be needed for hospital purposes. 

 

 However the CDHB has now advised that the land is now required to 

meet demand for services provided at the hospital.  Officers originally 45 

could not support the rezoning because it was thought water servicing 



 Page 10 

  

Ch21: Specific Purposes Zones (Stage 2) Commenced 03.11.15 

for the site was inadequate.  Further investigation has now found that 

the site can be serviced and Ms O’Brien’s evidence confirms this 

position.  

 

 However the CDHB and the Crown also sought changes to the rules 5 

package that would apply to the suburban hospital sites.  Planning and 

urban design officers have been continuing to negotiate with CDHB 

and the Crown planning representatives over the formative rules in 

relation to the way that suburban hospital sites relate to surrounding 

developments.   10 

 

 These were in relation to setback of hospital sites, the size of 

acceptable buildings at road and internal boundaries, urban design of 

buildings at road and internal boundaries and urban design consent 

status of those buildings, ultimately being a mixture of permitted 15 

controlled and restricted discretionary activities, and fencing, some of 

which has to be security fencing for operational purposes. Those 

changes are set out in the joint memorandum of Council filed yesterday 

and I can confirm that I support that version of the proposal. 

 20 

 Because of the staged nature of the District Plan review there are some 

scope and jurisdiction issues to be resolved.  I understand that the Panel 

will need to make a decision on those issues of scope before deciding 

on those rezoning requests. 

 25 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 

MR DAYSH: Yes, thank you very much, Mr Blair. I have a question of 

clarification about the alternative zone approach which, as I read the 

papers, is a mechanism or a technique that has come out of the 30 

Operative District Plan? 

 

MR BLAIR:   That is correct. 

 

MR DAYSH:  And, correct me if I am wrong but many of these sites or most 35 

of these sites are designated in the Plan – the hospital sites, is that? 

 

MR BLAIR: I am not sure all of them are. Some will be, yes some are 

designated, some are not. 

 40 

MR DAYSH:  Yes, and the Special Purposes Zone is on the planning maps 

basically like an underlying zone or a zone that can be utilised in 

addition to the designation? 

 

MR BLAIR:   That is correct.  I think of it as the primary zone being a Specific 45 

Purpose Hospital Zone but if the owners of land or applicants within 
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that zone choose not to undertake a hospital development then they can 

use the provisions of the alternative zone, the Residential Zone. 

 

MR DAYSH:  Okay, and in your evidence at 5.17, 5.21 you use different terms 

– alternative zones, underlying, default zone.  Is that all essentially 5 

talking about the alternative zone? 

 

MR BLAIR:  Yes, it is. It would have been preferable if I had used a consistent 

term. 

 10 

MR DAYSH: Okay, so that is the alternative zone and just looking at the 

bundle of papers which has been tabled to us with the red tags on them 

today, with what I understand is the final agreed set of provisions, can 

you look at page 5 of those provisions, permitted activity table. 

 15 

MR BLAIR:   Yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:  And P8 which is a permitted activity rule associated with 

alternative zone and that was cross referred to page 13 which is the 

alternative zone and that cross refers to page 13 which is the alternative 20 

zone provisions. 

 

  [10.25 am] 

 

MR BLAIR:   Yes. 25 

 

MR DAYSH:   So this is really just a clarification for my understanding.  So it 

is not actually a zone is it, it is not on the planning maps as a zone, it is 

a list of? 

 30 

MR BLAIR:   Yes, I think that is a fair way of describing it.  In some ways it is 

a list of alternative rules that would sit within a Specific Purpose 

Hospital Zone.  But it is a technique that has been used in the Operative 

Plan before I think, one that springs to mind is the former or the current 

school zones. 35 

 

MR DAYSH:  Yes, I have read evidence before us that it has been quite a 

successful technique for the city. It is reasonably unusual in my 

experience to have these sort of three planning provision designation, 

an underlying zone, a special zone and then another zone which you 40 

could use but your experience with the Plan is that it has worked 

successfully. 

 

MR BLAIR:   My understanding is it has worked quite successfully, yes. 

 45 
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MR DAYSH:  Okay, and if, as I say just from a plan clarity point of view, 

would you be concerned if that were alternative zone?  Do you think 

that is accurate or would it be better to be termed the alternative 

permitted activities as provided in those other zones? 

 5 

MR BLAIR:  I think you are correct, I think that would be a more accurate 

reflection of the situation, thank you. 

 

MR DAYSH:  And just following on from that, these are permitted activity 

rules that refer to 2.5.3. Do those, let’s call them alternative zone 10 

provisions, is their access under this Special Purpose Zone to the 

restricted discretion and discretionary activity rules in that, let’s call it 

alternative zone?  Or is it just a permitted activity that you can actually 

undertake? 

 15 

MR BLAIR:   It would be, as I understand it, it’s meant to be the entire rules 

package that sits in the alternate. 

 

MR DAYSH:  How does that work in the rule table?  If the alternative 

restricted discretionary activity for example in the RS Zone, how does 20 

that make its way into the alternative provisions? 

 

MR BLAIR:   At this stage I do not think that it does. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Do you think it should? 25 

 

MR BLAIR:   I think we should look into whether it should, sir, because I am 

not sure straight off the top of my head but on its face it needs to be 

clarified. 

 30 

MR DAYSH:  I am really trying to look at it from a plan drafting point of 

view.  If that is the intent I think we perhaps need to hear about if that 

is the intent and it is working well, whether from a plan drafting point 

of view the actual activity tables follow through on that. 

 35 

MR BLAIR:   As I understand it that is the intent and I think you are correct 

that some explicit drafting in the tables or in the package itself will 

certainly help the interpretation of that. 

 

MR DAYSH:  Are there any scope problems with those sorts of changes do 40 

you think? 

 

MR BLAIR:  I would not have thought so, no.  I think it is clear from the 

objectives and policies that it is meant to provide for an alternative use. 

 45 
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MR DAYSH:  All right, and Mr Blair, my only other question relates to this 

question of scope that has been raised by counsel and you, you are 

saying we need to look at the scope issues where you have raised them.  

Do you have a view yourself on any of the scope matters? 

 5 

MR BLAIR:   No, well I guess just in terms of where I would have a concern is 

where submissions to rezone from Residential to Specific Purpose 

Hospital have been made at Stage 2 only. 

 

  [10.30 am] 10 

 

 Where at Stage 1 the Council has rezoned former Living Zones into 

Residential Zones and it might not have been signalled at that stage that 

further changes might be made by submissions in future stages.  So if 

there was I think it might be around the issue of people not engaging in 15 

the process because they thought the zoning was settled at Stage 1. 

 

MR DAYSH: So just with those, I do have one final question, it has been 

presented with the joint memorandum of Council that the zone is 

settled, is that just between the Crown, the Health Board and the 20 

Council or are there other submitters that have still got queries about 

these zone provisions? 

 

MR BLAIR:   I am not at this stage aware of any other outstanding issues. 

 25 

MR DAYSH:   So the only matter from your point of view is the scope issues 

you have pointed out. 

 

MR BLAIR:   Well the scope aside it is settled. 

 30 

MR DAYSH:  But you agree, I think you already said that there is a drafting 

issue around the intent of the alternative zone in exclamation marks. 

 

MR BLAIR:   That is correct. 

 35 

MR DAYSH:   Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Apart from the Crown and the DHB, were there any other submitters on 

Hospital Zones? 

 40 

MR BLAIR:   Yes here was, there was Nurse Maude, there was Pegasus Health 

- - - 

 

SJH:    Oh, I am sorry, other than that, put it this way, other than the health 

industry, were there any lay submitters that submitted expressing any 45 

concerns? 
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MR BLAIR:   No there wasn’t. 

 

SJH:   And is your concern around the scope issues that some residents may 

have misunderstood Stage 1? 5 

 

MR BLAIR:   Not so much may have misunderstood Stage 1 or just might not 

have realised that there was potential for future rezoning of that 

particular site, of those sites after they had been dealt with in Stage 1. 

 10 

SJH:   Okay, thank you.  Ms Scott, anything arising? 

 

MS SCOTT:   No thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Mr Blair, you may stand down. 15 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [10.33 am] 

 

MS SCOTT:   I now call, Mr Peter Eman. 

 20 
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<PETER NICHOLAS EMAN, affirmed [10.33 am] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS SCOTT [10.33 am] 

 

MS SCOTT:   Good morning, Mr Eman, if you could confirm your full name is 

Peter Nicholas Eman? 

 5 

MR EMAN:   That is correct. 

 

MS SCOTT:   You have prepared two statements of evidence for this hearing 

on the Cemetery Zone, the first evidence-in-chief dated 5 October 

2015, the second in rebuttal dated 23 October 2015. 10 

 

MR EMAN:   Correct. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Your experience and qualifications are set out in your evidence 

presented to the Strategic Directions hearing dated 18 November 2014? 15 

 

MR EMAN:   Yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:  Do you have any corrections you wish to make to your evidence? 

 20 

MR EMAN:  Yes, I do, in terms of my evidence-in-chief dated 5 October, on 

page 4, paragraph 5.2 the wording starts “the definition of 

comprehensive assessment is”, that should be corrected by deleting the 

word “assessment” and replacing it with the word “consent”. 

 25 

MS SCOTT:   Is that all? 

 

MR EMAN:   That is all. 

 

MS SCOTT:   With that one correction can you confirm that your evidence is 30 

true and correct to the best of your knowledge? 

 

  [10.35 am] 

 

MR EMAN:   Yes. 35 

 

MS SCOTT:   I understand that you have prepared an updated version of the 

Cemetery Zone that was filed by way of memorandum last night and 

you wish to present it as an exhibit.  If you could do that during the 

course of your highlights’ package that would be appreciated and I 40 

have copies for the Secretariat. 

 

SJH:   Shall we take this then as an exhibit? 

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, sir. 45 
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SJH:   Exhibit I, sorry A. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, if you could now present a brief highlight summary 

of your evidence and remain seated to answer any questions. 

 5 

MR EMAN:  Yes. The purpose of the Cemetery Zone is specifically to provide 

for burial and cremation activities to meet the community needs.  

Actually for two issues which I will briefly address in a minute, I have 

recommended that the submission points are either accepted or 

accepted in part, with the agreement of the submitters. 10 

 

 The agreed submission points relate to corrections to the zoning and 

identification of existing cemeteries, removal of unnecessary references 

to rules, improved formatting and minor corrections. 

 15 

 The first issue is that Orion has sought setbacks from electricity 

transmission lines and these are recommended to be accepted for Orion 

lines consistent with earlier evidence from the Council on this issue and 

the Panel’s decision on temporary earthquake recovery activities.   

 20 

 The further submitters, Transpower and Federated Farmers, opposing 

Orion’s submission have not formally agreed with the inclusion of the 

provisions but did not seek formal mediation on the issue and have not 

provided evidence. 

 25 

 The second remaining issue is the inclusion being sought by the Crown 

of only a policy requiring comprehensive consents for development in 

the cemeteries.  The Crown has agreed that the provision that is in the 

rules in the Notified Replacement District Plan be deleted, as was 

sought in the Crown’s submission.   30 

 

 The Crown also agrees with the removal of the definition of 

comprehensive consents. However the Crown instead now seeks a 

policy requiring comprehensive consents.   

 35 

 While I agree that integrated planning and joint applications for related 

consents is good practice, I do not support the inclusion of such a 

policy because it contained a direction that comprehensive consents be 

required, whereas the parties agree that such a rule is not necessary in 

the Cemetery Zone. 40 

 

 Secondly without such a rule there would be no trigger that would lead 

to consideration of the policy, and thirdly applying such a policy to the 

Cemetery chapter and not to other zones where consents from multiple 

consent authorities is more likely to occur, may create confusion as to 45 

the directions contained in the Plan as a whole.  It really suggests that 



 Page 18 

  

Ch21: Specific Purposes Zones (Stage 2) Commenced 03.11.15 

comprehensive consents are less of an issue in other zones which do 

not have such a policy, when they are in fact likely to be more relevant 

in other zones, such as Rural Quarry Zones. 

 

 Instead I have recommended the inclusion of an advice note.  I am also 5 

of the view that it would be more appropriate to leave the issue of 

whether joint hearings are required to be dealt with under section 102 

of the Resource Management Act, which contains a discretion for 

consenting authorities not to do so. That is instead of our policy that 

directs that there shall always be joint hearings. 10 

 

 So if I can just now, sir, move on to the exhibit that has just been 

presented. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 15 

 

MR EMAN:   Since writing my evidence-in-chief I have identified that there 

are some unnecessary provisions, typographical errors and in two cases 

some wording that will benefit of further clarification so I will go 

through those now. 20 

 

 So starting on page 3 of the exhibit under sub-clause B, it is a small 

change to the name of the zoning from Specific Purposes Cemeteries 

Zone to Cemetery Zone. 

 25 

  [10.40 am] 

 

 And over the page in terms of permitted activity P2, the provision there 

relating to what is permitted in those two cemeteries as per a Resource 

Consent, I consider it is unnecessary because that Resource Consent 30 

provides for those activities anyway and it is not necessary to be in the 

District Plan. 

 

 Turning to page 4 - - -  

 35 

SJH:   Sorry, just before you go on, P1, you have deleted all the text under the 

note but left “this activity shall be undertaken” in. 

 

MR EMAN:   Yes, sorry sir, I have just noted that this morning through some 

electronic - - - 40 

 

SJH:   So it should have a line through it as well? 

 

MR EMAN:   Yes, sir, the same thing seems to have happened to all the notes, 

through some sort of electronic (INDISTINCT 1.29) 45 
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SJH:   Right, so it is just one line that has been in inadvertently? 

 

MR EMAN:   Yes. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 5 

 

MR EMAN:   I will supply a corrected version, sir. 

 

SJH:   That’s great, thank you. 

 10 

MR EMAN:   So turning to P5 on page 5 under sub-clause C, this is one of the 

clauses I have particular difficulty in understanding and I have 

simplified that down to shrub planting of existing planted areas.  And 

sub-clause G of the same permitted activity 5 there are no trees in that 

schedule the cemeteries so there is no need to refer to that appendix. 15 

 

 Moving down to permitted activity 7, I thought the notified wording 

was a bit vague as to what was meant by “graveyard services” and I 

understand that the intention was that they be spiritual services.   

 20 

 Turning over the page to page 6 and in a number of places in the 

provisions there is reference to site coverage.  So first of all here under 

RD1 and RD2 there are in fact a number of site coverage rules in these 

provisions, so they can be deleted, and also in terms of RD2 there is an 

extra word, it says it is “cemeteries listed identified in that appendix”, 25 

obviously one of those two words can go and I have just deleted 

“identified”. 

 

 On page 8 the matters of discretion relating to site coverage, again 

because there is no site coverage rule that can be deleted.  And then the 30 

final one on page – it hasn’t got a number – the very last page, sir, 

relating to the definition of cemetery, there is a paragraph there that I 

do not consider is necessary.  The statement included in that paragraph 

relates to where the Specific Purpose Cemetery Zone has been applied, 

rather than helping to define what is a cemetery. 35 

 

 Sir, I would also note that there was one other provision that I have 

concerns about that I am unsure, well I suspect there is no scope to 

change that, and that is on page 5, permitted activity 4 which allows as 

an activity any single building, not necessarily a building related to any 40 

of the other permitted activities.   

 

 In my view the provision that this is trying to apply is really a built 

form standard because it goes on to limit the size of buildings but there 

is as I say no submission that would suggest that there is scope to 45 

change that. 
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 And that is all, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Allen?  Sorry. 

 5 

MR ALLEN:   Thank you, sir. 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS BAZALO [10.45 am] 

 

MS BAZALO:  Thank you, Mr Eman.  So you would agree that it is good 10 

practice to drive integrated planning and to apply for related consents 

together, wouldn’t you? 

 

MR EMAN:   Yes. 

 15 

MS BAZALO:   And would you accept that a policy is more transparent and 

obvious to the users of a plan than an advice note? 

 

MR EMAN:   Not in a practical sense, no.  My experience has been that most 

users of the plan will refer to those parts of the plan contained under the 20 

rule section.  So having an advice note in the rule section to my mind 

will alert readers of that issue because my experience is that most 

readers do not consult the objectives and policies unless they need to go 

through a resource consent. 

 25 

MS BAZALO: Okay but would you accept that the policies provide more 

specific and effective guidance as to the intended outcome of the 

provisions of the plan? 

 

MR EMAN:  Not more so than having a similar provision in an advice note as I 30 

have suggested. 

 

MS BAZALO:   Do you accept that there is nothing in the RMA that precludes 

a plan from having a policy like this that pertains to a matter of 

process? 35 

 

MR EMAN:   I think that is for the plan to contain, yes. 

 

MS BAZALO:   And you are familiar with the strategic objective 3.3.2 which 

relates to clarity of language and efficiency? 40 

 

MR EMAN:   Yes. 

 

MS BAZALO:   And also the statement of expectations? 

 45 

MR EMAN:   Yes. 
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MS BAZALO:   And do you accept that policy should be used to clearly state 

the outcomes that are intended in a plan? 

 

MR EMAN:  To give direction on how those outcomes are to be achieved, yes. 5 

 

MS BAZALO:   Thank you, Mr Eman. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Mr Illingworth? 

 10 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Just one question, morning, Mr Eman.   

 

MR EMAN:   Good morning. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:  With reference to your rebuttal 2.2, with respect to 15 

policy versus the notes which you have used, you said in 2.2A that a 

policy would require a comprehensive consent where no-one supports 

the inclusion of such a requirement.  And I then went and had a look at 

the evidence of the Crown and CERA to try and find words that led to 

the fact that they did not always support the inclusion of it and I could 20 

not do it, so what I saw from it was that the Crown and CERA do want 

comprehensive consents all the time.  Is that not the case? 

 

MR EMAN: Sir, that is not my understanding of the submission from the 

Crown. 25 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:  So could you lead us to the clause or submission from 

the Crown? 

 

MR EMAN:   Yes, sir, it is – actually I am thinking maybe it is easier to refer 30 

to my evidence-in-chief.  Submission point 2387, point 9.6.5.  So in my 

attachment B of my evidence-in-chief, sir, it shows under the decision 

sought, it is page 4 of my attachment B, so under - - - 

 

  [10.50 am] 35 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Page 4? 

 

MR EMAN:   Page 4, yes, sir.  So 2387.965, that is the submission point 

number in the third column. 40 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   2387, yes. 

 

MR EMAN:   2387.965.  In the decision sought you can see that under sub-

clause C what is being sought is the deletion of the reference to a 45 
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comprehensive consent process, which is in the very final line of the 

notified clause. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   65?  So could you read that out for me please? 

 5 

MR EMAN:   Yes, sir.  So sub-clause C is, that was proposed in an inflow plan 

is for existing and future cemeteries where extensive works are 

expected to trigger consents from the resource management national 

environmental standards for assessing and managing contaminants in 

soil to protect human health, regulations 2011 Canterbury Regional 10 

Council or Christchurch City Council, a comprehensive consent 

process shall be undertaken. 

 

 And, sir, in terms of the reasons given for removal of that clause – and 

I am just reading straight from the Crown’s submission, which is, “as 15 

drafted, the provisions are necessarily referred to the need for an 

undefined comprehensive consenting process, a joint hearing of any 

applications under section 102 of the RMA is appropriate”.  

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Okay, thank you. 20 

 

SJH:   Mr Daysh? 

 

DR DAYSH:   Yes, I am quite intrigued by this debate about whether - - - 

 25 

SJH:   Confused. 

 

DR DAYSH:   - - - we should be having a rule or a policy or an advice note.  

Perhaps – or before I ask some questions about that, is Exhibit A that 

has been presented, as far as you are aware, is that the same as in the 30 

bundle we were given this morning?  Or have there been some 

changes? 

 

MS SCOTT:   It is the same, sir. 

 35 

DR DAYSH:   It is the same.   

 

SJH:   All right? 

 

MR DAYESH:   Look, I would like to ask you some questions about advice 40 

notes, the role of advice notes, or the role of policy, or the role of rules 

in district plans, and get your experience to help us. 

 

 An advice note, in your opinion, is that good practice to have advice 

notes or explanations trying to explain policies or rules in a district 45 

plan? 
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MR EMAN:   Sir, I do not see the role of an advice note being to explain what 

is in the plan.  It is really more of an alert to readers of the plan that 

there are other considerations they may need to consider as well as the 

provisions of the district plan.  So in this case, for example, the fact that 5 

an activity may need a consent under those national environmental 

standards as well as having to comply with the standards in the District 

Plan. 

 

MR DAYESH:   Right, so what I hear you saying is that it is an information - - 10 

- 

 

MR EMAN:   Yes. 

 

MR DAYESH:   - - - for an information purpose, for plan readers? 15 

 

MR EMAN:   Yes, sir. 

 

MR DAYESH:   Right.  What do you see as the key differences in planning 

terms between the role and purpose of a policy in a plan and of a rule?  20 

What are the key differences? 

 

MR EMAN:   Sir, I think the role of a policy is to provide direction as to how 

the outcomes that are sought by the plan are to be achieved, whereas 

the rule is the mechanism for achieving that. 25 

 

  [10.55 am] 

 

 So perhaps, just to use an example, a policy may be to restrict certain 

activities in a particular zone to achieve an outcome, and the rule then I 30 

would expect to flow from such a policy would be that those activities 

may be a discretionary activity, for example, or a noncomplying 

activity, depending on the level of restriction that is intended. 

 

MR DAYESH:   Is it your opinion that a rule is a control, something that is 35 

required to be adhered to? 

 

MR EMAN:   Yes. 

 

MR DAYESH:   Is it your opinion that a policy can be a control, requiring 40 

something to be undertaken by a plan user or by the Council?   

 

MR EMAN:   Yes, it can.  I think, though, I would have to qualify it in that in 

terms of the user of the plan, it is the rules, particularly the permitted 

activity rules, that will determine what a person can do as of right, and 45 

that it is not necessary to refer back to a policy to determine what a 
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person can do as of right.  So the policy does not assist in terms of 

permitted activities. 

 

MR DAYESH:   But it can assist in terms of process direction or plan - - - 

 5 

MR EMAN:   Yes, it can potentially assist in process direction.  It can also 

assist where if a resource consent is required, then there is obviously 

reference back to policies and objectives, depending on the consent that 

is involved. 

 10 

MR DAYESH:   All right.  Look, just on this point, one last question.  You 

think both in terms of joint hearings and the multiple consents being 

done comprehensively, you think as a point of practice that is good 

practice? 

 15 

MR EMAN:   Yes, sir.  The joint hearings aspect though, as I have said in my 

evidence, there is a discretion under the Act to not have joint hearings 

if the matters are sufficiently unrelated, and in some cases I think that is 

entirely appropriate.  So to insist that there shall always be joint 

hearings I do not think is appropriate. 20 

 

MR DAYESH:   Is it currently common practice in Christchurch for joint 

hearings between the Region and the District? 

 

MR EMAN:   There certainly are joint hearings.  I am sorry, I am not familiar 25 

enough as to how often they would occur. 

 

MR DAYESH:   All right, thank you. 

 

SJH:   Can I just go back to the questions that were put to you earlier.  If you 30 

look at where we have been looking, at page 4, the decision sought is 

clearly a decision sought by CERA on behalf of the Crown, that there 

be joint hearings for existing and future cemeteries where extensive 

works, et cetera. 

 35 

MR EMAN:   Yes, sir. 

 

SJH:   In your rebuttal evidence, at 2.2A, says that the policy would imply that 

there should be a requirement for comprehensive consents when no one 

supports the inclusion.  But surely the wording that they are seeking 40 

does support the inclusion of comprehensive consents, doesn’t it? 

 

MR EMAN:   No, sir.  The way I interpret the submission is that it purposely 

deletes the words “comprehensive consents”, but it does insert 

reference to joint hearings, 45 

 



 Page 25 

  

Ch21: Specific Purposes Zones (Stage 2) Commenced 03.11.15 

SJH:   Okay.  Comprehensive consents would be required from the local and 

regional authority, in this case?  There would be no other party 

involved, would there? 

 

MR EMAN:   Yes, if there is a possibility that there would be a need for a 5 

particular work to have consent from both the Regional Council and 

from the City Council. 

 

SJH:   So doesn’t joint hearings by implication, isn’t it talking about 

comprehensive consent?  It may not be the best way to express, but 10 

isn’t it expressing the same thing? 

 

  [11.00 am] 

 

MR EMAN:   Sir, I think that has been part of the process and part of my 15 

concern about comprehensive consents is exactly what is meant by the 

term comprehensive consent.  Because you can have a comprehensive 

consent that deals solely with a situation where multiple consents are 

required, but they may just be multiple consents required from the City 

Council.  They do not necessarily - - - 20 

 

SJH:   But you would not be holding a joint hearing if that was the case. 

 

MR EMAN:   Yes, sir, I think the reference to joint hearings are those multiple 

consents where a consent is required both from the City Council and 25 

from the Regional Council. 

 

SJH:   So your concern is that joint hearings may not involve comprehensive 

consents? 

 30 

MR EMAN:   No, no, sir, my point I was trying to make is that comprehensive 

consents may not necessarily need or even raise the issue of whether 

there needs to be a joint hearing, because they may not involve the 

Regional Council. 

 35 

SJH:   I understand that.  What do you understand by the term “comprehensive 

consents” yourself? 

 

MR EMAN:   That was part of the problem I had with this whole issue in that it 

potentially - - -  40 

 

SJH:   More than two or two or? 

 

MR EMAN:   Yes, sir, at the very least, multiple consents, sir. 

 45 

SJH:   Multiple being, again there is a problem in language. 
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MR EMAN:   Yes. 

 

SJH:   As long as a piece of string. 

 5 

MR EMAN:   At least two consents. 

 

SJH:   All right.  As I understand some of your concerns are that there are a 

higher likelihood of the need for comprehensive consents in other 

zones? 10 

 

MR EMAN:   Yes, sir. 

 

SJH:   And there is no rule to support this policy?  Two of the concerns you 

expressed. 15 

 

MR EMAN:   Yes, well sir, I would turn it round the other way in that I would 

see this policy as containing a direction but there should be a rule 

because it uses the word ensure. 

 20 

SJH:   Right, okay.  But leaving those concerns aside, particularly the one 

about comprehensive consents being required in other zones, doesn’t 

either a joint hearing or a comprehensive consent hearing more accord 

with the Statement of Expectations and the Strategic Direction chapter 

need for clarity and reducing of consenting requirements and suchlike? 25 

 

MR EMAN:   Yes, in terms of process, yes they will assist in achieving those 

outcomes. 

 

SJH:   And just finally, you express concern that the policy as expressed may 30 

well be in conflict with I think it is section 172 of the Resource 

Management Act. 

 

MR EMAN:   102 I think it would be, sir. 

 35 

SJH:   102, well whatever the one you referred to. 

 

MR EMAN:   Yes. 

 

SJH:  Was that a concern?  Because surely the Act would override the 40 

provision in the Plan would it not? 

 

MR EMAN:  Well my concern was that the policy was taking away the 

discretion that exists under that or seemed to be trying to take away the 

discretion that exists under - - - 45 
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SJH:   But you cannot take away a statutory discretion.  If you do not feel able 

to answer it - - - 

 

MR EMAN:   No, sir, I cannot answer that. 

 5 

SJH:   Okay, that is fine, thank you.  Ms Bazalo, anything arising from the 

Panel’s questions? 

 

MS BAZALO:   No, sir. 

 10 

SJH:   Ms Scott? 

 

MS SCOTT:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Mr Eman, you may stand down. 15 

 

MR EMAN:   Thank you. 

 

SJH:   I think if that Exhibit A as we gave it is already exactly the same as what 

is in the bundle we don’t need to give it a formal exhibit number.  20 

Thank you. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, sir, we will however file an updated version that 

corrects the underlining, just so that is - - - 

 25 

SJH:   And that does remind me of something I was going to ask, my 

apologies.  Would you mind going to page 5 of that and one of the 

changes you made, and your latest change is the purple is it not? 

 

MR EMAN:   Yes, sir. 30 

 

SJH:   So as I read that now, and it does not quite make sense to me, “removal 

of trees except for those listed in cemeteries listed in appendix 9, 

43.6.1”.  Does it now have unnecessary words in it?  Should it read 

“removal of trees except for those listed in appendix 9, 43.6.1, schedule 35 

of significant” et cetera? 

 

 Or is the (INDISTINCT 5.05) that it is trees listed in cemeteries that 

are listed in the appendix? 

 40 

MR EMAN:   Sir, the way I read that is that general managements are allowed 

including the removal of trees, except those listed in cemeteries listed 

in that appendix, because, sir it is the whole of that heritage place as 

listed in that appendix. 

 45 

SJH:   Not just the trees? 
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MR EMAN:   Not just the trees, sir. 

 

SJH:   Right, okay, thank you for that clarification. 

 5 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [11.05 am] 

 

SJH:   Yes, thank you, Ms Scott. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, sir, I now call Ms Janice Carter. 10 
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<JANICE CARTER, sworn [11.06 am] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS SCOTT [11.06 am] 

 

MS SCOTT:   Good morning, Ms Carter, if you confirm that your full name is 

Janice Carter and you have prepared two statements of evidence, the 

first, in-chief, dated 5 October 2015, the second in rebuttal dated 5 

23 October 2015? 

 

MS CARTER:   I do. 

 

MS SCOTT:   You hold the qualifications and experience as set out in 10 

paragraphs 1.2 and 1.3 of your statement of evidence? 

 

MS CARTER:   I do. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Do you have any corrections you wish to make to either of those 15 

statements? 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes, I do, just two.  In my rebuttal evidence at page 9, 

paragraph 320 - - - 

 20 

MS SCOTT:   Ms Carter I think you might need to speak into the microphone a 

little bit more, thank you. 

 

MS CARTER:   Sorry, it is at paragraph 320 of my rebuttal evidence, just a 

minor change.  Remove “a gateway test” - - - 25 

 

SJH:   Sorry, what line? 

 

MS CARTER:   Line 3. 

 30 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 

MS CARTER:   Remove the words “a gateway test” and replace with “an 

additional component”.   

 35 

SJH:   Sorry, an additional? 

 

MS CARTER:   An additional component. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 40 

 

MS CARTER:   And in my evidence-in-chief, in attachment D, I would like to 

remove under permitted activity 1, the last permitted activity specific 

standard L.  I would like to remove that and I will explain why I want 

to remove it. 45 
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SJH:   I am sorry, mine does not have page numbers on. 

 

MS CARTER:   The attachment D does not have page numbers.   

 

SJH:   This is the Styx Mill transfer station? 5 

 

MS CARTER:   Styx Mill Road transfer station, it is on the second page of 

appendix D/ 

 

SJH:   Right. 10 

 

MS CARTER:   P1. 

 

SJH:   Yes. 

 15 

MS CARTER:   And at the very bottom there is an activity specific standard L, 

which I would like to delete. 

 

SJH:   That is the one referring to traffic routes. 

 20 

MS CARTER:   Yes, that’s right. 

 

SJH:   So you delete he whole thing? 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 25 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Sir that is the same version that is included in the bundle that has 

been provided to you, just to put that on the record, thank you.  30 

Ms Carter with those two corrections can you please confirm that your 

evidence is true and correct to the best of your knowledge? 

 

MS CARTER:   It is. 

 35 

MS SCOTT:   If you could provide a brief highlights package of your evidence 

and remain seated to answer any questions.  Thank you. 

 

MS CARTER:   Good morning.  My evidence covers the Specific Purpose 

Defence Wigram Zone and the Styx Mill Road Transfer Station Zone.  40 

Both of these zones have been rolled over with minimum amendments 

on the Special Purpose Wigram and Special Purpose Transfer Station 

Zones in the Operative City Plan.   

 

 Informal mediation has resulted in considerable agreement between the 45 

parties in respect of these zones.   
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 Defence Wigram Zone.  So starting with Defence Wigram’s proposal, 

this proposal recognises the wider use of the site for functions and 

events and other recreational and cultural activities not covered by the 

Defence Purposes designation held by NZDF.   5 

 

 The main submitter to the Defence Wigram proposal is the Crown and 

more specifically the New Zealand Defence force.  I have agreed to 

revised wording in the policy to better recognise the value and 

importance of the Air Force Museum.  I have also agreed to include 10 

cross references in appropriate places so that it is clear which 

provisions apply in this proposal and which general provisions apply, 

particularly in relation to temporary activities and noise.   

 

  [11.10 am] 15 

 

 Through informal mediation with the Crown I have agreed to the merits 

of a reduced separation from neighbours setback to six metres, but I am 

concerned that there is no scope in the Crown submission to include 

this, which means there is a fairness issue as neighbours have not had 20 

the opportunity to comment. 

 

 The outstanding matters relate to whether it is better to have an overall 

note that allows the rules in proposal 21 for the Defence Wigram zone 

to prevail over rules elsewhere in the plan.  I consider it more 25 

appropriate to identify any inconsistencies or double ups now during 

this District Plan review process, and to delete duplicate or 

contradictory provisions, and/or use cross-referencing where 

appropriate. 

 30 

 I also have concerns about the wording of the note which has some 

ambiguity and could lead to the need for judgement calls to be made by 

resource consent planners given that no specific rules are referenced. 

 

 The Styx Mill Zone.  Turning now to the Styx Mill Zone proposal.  35 

This proposal gives effect to the objectives and policies in the 

Canterbury Regional Policy Statement, particularly chapter 19, which 

emphasises the importance of minimising waste, establishing a waste 

management hierarchy for integrated management of waste, and 

provision of community waste transfer facilities.   40 

 

 The main submitters to the Styx Mill proposal are EcoCentral, the 

operator of the site, and Mr Errol Bennett, a neighbour.  The majority 

of issues raised are about operation of the facility to minimise adverse 

effects on the surrounding environment, but I note that very few 45 

complaints are received in respect of this site.   
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 I have agreed to a number of minor corrections, structural 

improvements and rewording to the extent provided in submissions, 

and in particular in relation to the removal of wind-blown litter from 

the site.  However, after discussions with the Christchurch City Council 5 

contract supervisor of Solid Waste, I no longer consider my proposed 

addition at 21.4.2.2.1P1L, which I have just asked for deletion, I no 

longer consider it appropriate as it is a Council roading matter to deal 

with those issues and EcoCentral do not have jurisdiction over it.   

 10 

 Mr Errol Bennett indicated in discussions that he would prefer the 

objective to the Styx Mill proposal also included the words “a clean 

facility” as well as being a safe and efficient facility, but that wording 

is not included in his submission.   

 15 

 I am happy to answer questions.   

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Now, Mr Allen, is it you Ms Bazalo? 

 

MR ALLEN:   Bazalo. 20 

 

SJH:   Thank you.   

 

MS BAZALO:   Thank you, sir.   

 25 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS BAZALO [11.12 am] 

 

MS BAZALO:   Thank you, Ms Carter.  So subject to this issue, you agree 

with the merits of having a six metre building setback from a 

residential zone and the built form standards, don’t you? 30 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes, I do. 

 

MS BAZALO:   Do you accept that a Specific Purpose Zone is akin to a spot 

zone enabling activities? 35 

 

MS CARTER:   Usually they are quite large, but yes, a spot zone for that 

specific purpose.   

 

MS BAZALO:   And would you accept that having all the relevant provisions 40 

for Defence Wigram in one complete package is more transparent and 

easy to use than spreading the provisions throughout the Replacement 

Plan? 

 

MS CARTER:   I think in the ideal world it would be good to have them all in 45 

one place, but the reality is that we have varied other provisions, such 
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as Noise and Transport, Natural Hazards, Subdivision, which actually 

carry through the whole city, so it is more appropriate from a drafting 

perspective to have them in one place.  So if you were going to have 

one whole zone for Specific Purpose Defence Wigram it would be 

quite a large document.   5 

 

MS BAZALO:   Yes, but having an advice note as proposed by the Crown 

would avoid conflict in situations where conflict would arise between 

the different provisions, wouldn’t it? 

 10 

MS CARTER:   I do not agree with the approach of using the note to start with.  

I think it is much more effective to find out where, at this stage in the 

District Plan process where we have got the opportunity through 

submissions, through the hearing process, to identify the duplications, 

identify any areas that should be deleted or cross-referenced and do it 15 

now so that we know what is in the plan.  Whereas the statement that 

has been proposed is quite wide sweeping and it basically says “we do 

not know what is in this plan, so therefore let us make these rules 

prevail”.   

 20 

 So I think that it is much better at this stage in the process to identify 

the inconsistencies first and to cross-reference and make sure that we 

do know where all the other rules are in the plan and how they affect 

this zone.   

 25 

MS BAZALO:   So would you disagree that the approach proposed by the 

Crown is a simple solution to that issue that you are identifying?  

 

  [11.15 am] 

 30 

MS CARTER:   I do disagree because I do not think it is simple.  I think it 

causes more problems than it solves.   

 

MS BAZALO:   Are you aware of any other council’s using similar provisions 

as currently proposed by the Crown? 35 

 

MS CARTER:   I am not specifically aware of any, but I would not be 

surprised if there was.   

 

MS BAZALO:   Thank you, Ms Carter.  That is all.  Thank you, sir.   40 

 

MR DAYSH:   May I ask a question, sir? 

 

SIR HANSEN:   Mr Daysh? 

 45 
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MR DAYSH:   Yes, thank you, Ms Carter.  Was there any mediation report on 

this matter?  I am searching through my papers and – was there a 

mediation? 

 

MS CARTER:   We had informal mediation, but we have had no facilitated 5 

mediation. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Nothing written up? 

 

MS CARTER:   No.   10 

 

MR DAYSH:   Right.  And could you just take me to the statement the Crown 

is seeking? 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes.  If you look at my rebuttal evidence, the actual statement 15 

that they seek is in paragraph 3.3, and that would be at the bottom of 

the “How To Use The Rules” that I have identified in 3.1.  So putting 

them together, well, I have not listed that in the rules – you would have 

to go to revised proposal to get how it would look and then add the 

sentence in 3.3 to the bottom of the revised proposal, because that is 20 

what they are seeking to be inserted.  So if you look at 3.3, “note in the 

event of an activity being provided”. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes. 

 25 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   And you are saying that that type of note is not widespread 

through the Proposed Plan? 

 30 

MS CARTER:   No. 

 

MR DAYSH:   It is just in other special zones or? 

 

MS CARTER:   Well something similar to this in reference to particular rules I 35 

have noticed in the Open Space Zone where it says “notwithstanding 

this rule, this rule applies”, so that is naming both rules to what the 

statement is relating to.  The difficulty I have here is that this does not 

name any rules to which it is superseding.  So it could lead to problems 

later on because it does not specify the rules that it is prevailing over, 40 

whereas in other parts of the Proposed Plan there are a small number of 

cases where a rule is identified as being an exception to another rule. 

 

MR DAYSH:   So your concern is that this is non-specific? 

 45 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 
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MR DAYSH:   And are there any obvious rules in the Special Zone that sort of 

would jump out at us to say well there is something else that might be 

somewhere else in the plan that we need to look at? 

 5 

MS CARTER:   Yes.  If you look at the list of “How To Use The Rules” – so 

Natural Hazards, the Subdivision, the Transport – an example would be 

the Transport, and it is all about how to interpret this, which is what I 

have got a concern about as well is how a resource consent planner will 

interpret it, when it is there in the light of day.  Does the rule mean that 10 

the high traffic generator will not apply to a new building or structure?  

Because if the rule in the Specific Purpose Zone says that a building or 

structure is a permitted activity provided it complies with high 

recession plains, but there is nothing in the Specific Purpose Zone 

about high traffic generation – that is a rule that applies across the 15 

whole city on the whole plan.   

 

 So looking at this rule, how would we look at the high traffic generator 

rule?  Would we say that specific purpose makes it permitted to have 

that building or structure but that the high traffic generator rule may 20 

make it something else? 

 

MR DAYSH:   You say that there is a rule – are you talking about the note? 

 

MS CARTER:   Well yes, actually - - -  25 

 

MR DAYSH:   The note is not a rule. 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes, that is right.  And that is another problem I have with it.  

If it was to be effective it would have to be a rule.  So that is just 30 

another – I have not in my evidence gone into what I do not like about 

the rule because I think there is a better way of dealing with the 

problem that the Defence Force are concerned about, which is rules in 

other parts of the plan superseding the rules that are here, or somehow 

effecting the status that in this zone, also having to fish through the 35 

plan for various rules.   

 

 So there are legitimate problems with a big District Plan that you might 

have to fish through different parts of the District Plan to find the rules 

that apply to any particular case.  So the concern is a real one, but my 40 

solution to it is to actually identify all those and make sure there is 

appropriate cross-referencing, or to, if there is even a duplicate, to 

actually delete it in one place and make sure it only occurs in one.   

 

 So at this stage in the District Plan review process we have got that 45 

opportunity to make sure that we do that, whereas with this particular 
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wording I have not concentrated on what is wrong with the wording 

itself because I prefer that approach.   

 

 But if I was to focus on the wording then there are a number of things 

that I do not like about the wording, and the first one is that it is a note 5 

rather than a rule, and if it was to be effective it would have to be a 

rule.   

 

  [11.20 am] 

 10 

 The second one is that it talks about in the event of an activity being 

provided.  So that implies that if it is a permitted activity in the Specific 

Purpose Defence Wigram Zone, then that would prevail over any other 

rule making it something other than permitted.  So I have a concern 

about that.  So there are some issues. 15 

 

MR DAYSH:   Okay, that is helpful.  Turning to the scope around the 

reduction of 10 metres to six metres, I think in your, I am looking at 

your rebuttal, your 3.22, you suggest to us that perhaps, well I think 

you have already agreed that it is consistent with other parts of the plan 20 

and it is appropriate? 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes, I do, yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   You seem to suggest that there is a general submission point 25 

made by the Crown about clarity, structure, usability of the plan which 

could be utilised? 

 

MS CARTER:   Well I have some concern about that.  I think that the Panel 

has scope to look at things more widely but if I was a neighbour here, 30 

bordering onto this zone and I saw the notified plan at 10 metres, I 

might think I would make a submission.  But if I saw it lower I might 

make a submission.  So the concern I have is that we haven’t canvassed 

the neighbours in any way for a lower setback and there is no 

submission for which a surrounding neighbour could say, well the 35 

Crown wants that reduced to six metres therefore I think we’ll do a 

submission in opposition.   

 

 So that is the only concern I have about reducing it.  From a planning 

point of view I think it is quite appropriate to reduce it to six metres. 40 

 

MR DAYSH:   So you are saying to us that you do have concerns that it 

doesn’t meet Justice (INDISTINCT 1.54) tests because there is no – I 

am not familiar with the actual neighbours and where there are 

residences right up to the edge of the zone, those sorts of things. 45 

 



 Page 38 

  

Ch21: Specific Purposes Zones (Stage 2) Commenced 03.11.15 

MS CARTER:   Well there are residents right up to the zone boundary, yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Okay.  So your evidence is that you think that some of those – 

given that situation of the land use – that residents neighbouring the site 

would be interested to know whether it was six metres or 10 metres and 5 

have the opportunity to submit? 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes, that is what I think, because I don’t think they have been 

put on notice specifically on that matter.  So it is how wide people use a 

general submission and what are the scope to do that, yes. 10 

 

MR DAYSH:   Thank you, that is all I have, sir. 

 

SJH:   Your concern with the note I understand but you accept there is a 

problem? 15 

 

MS CARTER:   I do. 

 

SJH:   And in part that problem has been created by the way we have had to 

deal with this matter in chapters? 20 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 

 

SJH:  And exacerbated by the Council’s decision to carve up chapters 

themselves? 25 

 

MS CARTER:   I would agree. 

 

SJH:   But presumably there is some process that has been put in place to 

integrate the various chapters to avoid the various problems we have 30 

talked about? 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes, and going through this process to deal with the overlaps I 

have identified other parts of the Plan such as the general Plan and 

appended them to my rebuttal, that would need to change in a future 35 

hearing, should this approach be taken so it is about wrapping it up and 

making sure that other parts are identified and the double ups are 

recognised.  But I thing we’ve got the opportunity in this process to do 

that and make sure that we get them all right. 

 40 

SJH:   So could we just go to that document.  Attached to your rebuttal you 

say?   

 

MS CARTER:   As attachment B to my rebuttal. 

 45 

SJH:   Yes. 
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MS CARTER:  And I have pulled out some examples there, the cross 

referencing back to the Special Purpose Defence Wigram Zone.  The 

first one that is there was the helicopter landing areas. 

 5 

SJH:   They are all matters for future hearings though. 

 

MS CARTER:   All matter for, yes they are. 

 

SJH:   They are not matters that have already been determined? 10 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes, these ones that I have got in the back here are all matters 

for your future hearing. 

 

SJH:  Are there any where there are matters that have already been determined 15 

that you are aware of? 

 

  [11.25 am] 

 

MS CARTER:   Not that I am aware of.  Really it is to do with - - - 20 

 

SJH:   But have you done that check for example? 

 

MS CARTER:   I have done that check.  What it is is mainly in the general 

rules where there are temporary activities and noise standards so that is 25 

where the main area of overlap occurs.  And so that is the area where I 

have looked most closely to find the overlaps. 

 

SJH:   I just wonder if either you or the Crown have thought that this is a 

matter that may require consideration under our, what we have loosely 30 

termed “wash-up powers”, which may also include a re-notification 

regarding the neighbours if we find there is no scope, for example.  

Because clearly there are a number of matters that are going to - - - 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes, I was actually quite surprised with the extent, when I 35 

looked at it, that I would have to look through and carefully check the 

overlaps. 

 

SJH:   Which would suggest perhaps that the process of making sure things are 

aligned, is not as robust as we might hope and it is for the Panel to 40 

identify them? 

 

MS CARTER:   I think so, yes. 

 

SJH:   You really think it is the Panel’s job to identify those? 45 
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MS CARTER:   Well I don’t think it is the Panel’s job to identify the overlaps.  

I think that through the process of the hearings, like I have done here, I 

think as many as possible could come to light. 

 

SJH:   All right. 5 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Bazalo? 

 10 

MS BAZALO:   No further questions, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:  Ms Scott? 

 

MS SCOTT:   No questions, sir. 15 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [11.27 am] 

 

SJH:   Okay, thank you Ms Carter, you may stand down.  We will take the 

morning adjournment until 11.45 thank you. 20 

 

ADJOURNED [11.27 am] 

 

RESUMED [11.54 am] 

 25 

SJH:   Thank you, sorry we took a little bit longer because we were discussing 

a matter that is causing a little bit of concern, Ms Scott, and it is around 

what has been described as the alternate zone.  Because what we have 

really got is a designation, a Specific Purpose Zone and then what you 

describe as an alternate zone.   30 

 

 I am not sure it is truly a zone, it is not shown on the planning maps, is 

it? 

 

MS SCOTT:   No it is not, sir. 35 

 

SJH:   The other concern we have is as we understood Mr Blair’s evidence, the 

rule should have carried through all of the alternative zone, not just 

permitted activities.  Is that evidence of the Council’s position, that it is 

just an oversight the whole lot has not been carried through? 40 

 

  [11.55 am] 

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, that is my understanding, sir. 

 45 
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SJH:   Which I guess then may possibly get into a scope issue although it 

probably only impacts on the requiring authority who owns the land, 

but we would just like you to have some consideration around that and 

address it in your closing, if you would. 

 5 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, sir, I can do that. 

 

SJH:   And if it is not truly a zone then we should call it something other than 

alternate zone or – we don’t want to interfere because we heard 

evidence and no-one has contradicted and no submitter has come 10 

forward to suggest otherwise that the three tier level works, but we just 

want to be quite clear about that. 

 

MS SCOTT:  Yes, and perhaps that is a matter of terminology in terms of 

referring to the zone rules, for example when referring to the 15 

Residential Suburban Zone rules. 

 

SJH:   Yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:  So perhaps that is a matter of clarify in terminology that is 20 

required. 

 

SJH:   I think the potential for that is sorted out but we just need to know firstly 

that it was an oversight that the whole of an alternate zone was not 

carried though, there was some discussion that perhaps and I cannot 25 

recall it but did we have this in Residential?  Did this issue come up?  

Somebody thought it might have.  Look, don’t worry about it now. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Sir, nothing is jumping to mind, sorry. 

 30 

SJH:   No, no, don’t worry about it now, we will get on with the evidence and 

if you would just address it and keep your mind on it. If you need extra 

time in closing to do that we can sort that out tomorrow when we make 

directions around the closing submissions. 

 35 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, sir.  Just before I call the next witness, I have read 

the Crown’s opening submissions and they raise one further matter of 

disagreement between the Crown and the Council on the school zone 

that relates to the appropriate activity status for default activities that 

are not listed. The Council’s position is that non-complying is 40 

appropriate, the Crown’s is discretionary.   

 

 I did withdraw my application to ask Mr McCallum-Clark some 

questions - - - 

 45 

SJH:   You want to reinstate it? 
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MS SCOTT:   I have spoken to my friend, Mr Allen, and he has no issues with 

that.  It should probably only be five minutes, sir. 

 

SJH:   That is all right, thank you. 5 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you.  I now call Ms Glenda Dixon. 
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<GLENDA MARGARET DIXON, sworn [11.57 am] 



 Page 44 

  

Ch21: Specific Purposes Zones (Stage 2) Commenced 03.11.15 

<EXAMINATION BY MS SCOTT [11.57 am] 

 

MS SCOTT:   Good morning, your full name is Glenda Margaret Dixon? 

 

MS DIXON:   It is. 5 

 

MS SCOTT   You have prepared two statements of evidence for this hearing, 

the first, in-chief, dated 6 October 2015, the second in rebuttal dated 

23 October 2015? 

 10 

MS DIXON:   That is correct. 

 

MS SCOTT: You have the qualifications and experience as set out in 

paragraph 1.2 of your evidence-in-chief? 

 15 

MS DIXON:   Yes, I do. 

 

MS SCOTT:  Do you have any corrections you wish to make to your evidence? 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes, I do have a few, starting with my evidence-in-chief, page 1, 20 

at the bottom, paragraph 1.6.  The item C should have the word “trust” 

added at the end of the sentence.  And item D should have the word 

“trust” struck out. 

 

 Next correction is page 13 of the evidence-in-chief, and paragraph 6.16 25 

on the first line the word “internal” should be replaced with “road”.  So 

“however the other main difference is road boundary setbacks”.  And 

also in that paragraph, on the third line at the beginning of that line it 

should say “be six metres from the road boundary”, so “six metres” and 

not “five metres”. 30 

 

 I also have a couple of corrections in my rebuttal, there on the first 

instance page 7.  On page 7 there is a table in paragraph 5.4 so taking 

you down to the line that starts “road boundary setback” and going 

right across to the right-hand side under “scheduled church and any 35 

residential zone”.  Again that “five metres” should be struck out and 

replaced with “six metres”. 

 

  [12.00 pm] 

 40 

 And the last corrections are on page 14 of the rebuttal.   Paragraph 

10.4, I would like to delete the words on about the ninth line, which say 

“planning consultant representing the club” and replace them with 

“club’s agent”. 

 45 
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 Last correction at the bottom of page 14, in the second to last line I 

would like to insert some words so that it reads “but even if the trees on 

this strip of land were able to be cut down”.   

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, Ms Dixon.  With those corrections, can you confirm 5 

that your evidence is true and correct? 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes, it is. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you.  If you could provide your highlights’ summary of 10 

your evidence and remain seated to answer any questions? 

 

MS DIXON:   Thank you. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you. 15 

 

MS DIXON:   I was the author of the Specific Purpose School and Specific 

Purpose Tertiary Education Proposals, and my evidence addresses 

submissions made on those chapters.   

 20 

 The majority of the issues raised in the submissions have now been 

resolved through amendments to the proposals and also through 

mediation.   

 

 There has been a significant degree of change in the education sector 25 

since the city plan provisions were made operative.  Changes in school 

rolls have resulted in expansion of some schools onto adjoining 

properties, while other schools have disposed of surplus land.  This 

means there has had to be a considerable degree of updating of school 

zone boundaries in this review of the District Plan. 30 

 

 Additionally, as a result of the Canterbury earthquakes, education 

providers have, in general terms, sought a higher degree of flexibility in 

Proposed District Plan rules to enable them to readily repair and rebuild 

their buildings, and to do so in a way that provides for more and bigger 35 

buildings than before on their properties. 

 

 Residents adjoining educational sites have, in general terms, sought to 

preserve their existing amenity and privacy and to avoid visual 

dominance by large educational buildings.  However, most do appear to 40 

value the contribution that education sites make to the character of their 

area and the wider contribution that schools and tertiary institutions 

make to the community, including increased sharing of facilities with 

the community. 

 45 
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 In my view, the proposals as they now stand provide the extra 

flexibility sought by education providers to facilitate their recovery 

while at the same time ensuring that adverse effects of changes on the 

amenity of neighbours are not significant. 

 5 

 I consider that the proposals are consistent with and given effect to 

objectives 3.3.1 and 3.3.2 and more specifically objective 3.3.11 in the 

Strategic Directions chapter decision.  

 

 School zone provisions are mostly now settled with the exception of 10 

outstanding issues in the Specific Purpose (School) Zone, relating to 

whether churches in School Zone should have the same built form rules 

as the schools, or the same built form rules as scheduled churches in 

other zones; and secondly, a proposal by the Elmwood Club, an 

umbrella organisation for seven private sports clubs, to include a 15 

permitted activity rule to establish a major sports facility behind the 

existing Elmwood Bowling Club on the edge of Heaton Intermediate 

School playing fields. 

 

 There are some outstanding matters in the Specific Purpose (Tertiary 20 

Education) Zone covered in my evidence.  One relates to the proposed 

rule in the Tertiary Education Zone which makes sale or supply of 

alcohol on the University of Canterbury Dovedale site after 11.00 pm at 

night a noncomplying activity. 

 25 

 The University would like to be able to sell or supply alcohol on this 

site after 11.00 pm if it wishes. Residents oppose this and seek a 

prohibited activity rule, as well as opposing the Council’s rule.   

 

 Third party use of student hostels may also still be an issue.  I have 30 

recommended that this be permitted, subject to a maximum length of 

stay of 30 days and a requirement that use by non-students must be 

outside of student residential agreement periods.   

 

  [12.05 pm] 35 

 

 There is one final matter I would like to comment on.  With regard to 

KiwiRail’s submission – I think it is number 2.2.4.6 seeking a four-

metre internal boundary setback in the School and Tertiary Education 

Zones, set back from railway corridors, I have noted in my rebuttal 40 

evidence at paragraphs 6.3 and 6.4 that I do not consider this necessary 

for the School Zone and because of the physical situation of the three 

schools, which border railway corridors in Christchurch. 

 

 And I have also noted in my evidence-in-chief at paragraph 11.24 that I 45 

do not consider this necessary for the Tertiary Zone because there is 
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already a six-metre internal boundary setback for tertiary buildings.  

But I would like to confirm that, as noted in paragraph 6.4 of my 

rebuttal evidence, I would be comfortable with including these rules in 

the zones if that is considered by the Panel to be appropriate at this 

time. 5 

 

 So I am happy to answer any questions. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Allen?   

 10 

MR ALLEN:  No, thank you. 

 

SJH:   Ms Bazalo? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS BAZALO [12.06 pm] 15 

 

MS BAZALO:   Thank you, Ms Dixon.  So, Ms Dixon, you are aware that the 

Crown has a concern about the default non-complying activity status 

and the non-complying NC1 rule? 

 20 

MS DIXON:   Yes. 

 

MS BAZALO:   And, Ms Dixon, you would agree that most schools have an 

alternative zone – they have alternative rules or provisions, depending 

on what terminology we go with, but those alternative rules are 25 

residential? 

 

MS DIXON:   In most cases.  There are a few that are not residential. 

 

MS BAZALO:   But most are residential? 30 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes, the majority. 

 

MS BAZALO:  And obviously you are aware that rule D3, so Discretionary 

Activity 3, of the School Zone says that any activity that would be 35 

discretionary in the alternative zone is discretionary in the School 

Zone? 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes. 

 40 

MS BAZALO:   And are you aware that the latest track change version of the 

Residential chapter shows that the Council has agreed that activities not 

otherwise provided for the Residential Zone be downgraded from 

noncomplying to discretionary? 

 45 

MS DIXON:   No, I am not aware of that. 
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MS BAZALO:  So would you agree that for the majority of schools, the non-

complying rule is somewhat redundant? 

 

MS DIXON:   I do not actually think it is appropriate to consider school zones 5 

as similar in that sense to residential zones.  They are much more site 

specific and as I think I have mentioned in my evidence, I think that 

school zones should in general terms be primarily for educational 

activities. 

 10 

MS BAZALO:  Okay, so in any event do you accept that a non-complying 

activity status is typically used to signal the Council’s desire to 

discourage types of activities? 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes. 15 

 

MS BAZALO:  And noncomplying activity status also increases the risk of 

consent being declined, doesn’t it?   

 

MS DIXON:   Yes, it can do. 20 

 

MS BAZALO:   And also adds to the cost of any consent process, doesn’t it? 

 

MS DIXON:  Not necessarily. It depends on the length of the hearing, et 

cetera. 25 

 

MS BAZALO:  Just lastly, your section 32 report attached to your rebuttal 

evidence does not actually assess the costs and benefits of a 

noncomplying activity status, does it? 

 30 

MS DIXON:   No, I do not actually see them as being dramatically different to 

the cost of the discretionary activity application. 

 

MS BAZALO:   Thank you.  That is all. 

 35 

SJH:   Mr Chapman? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR CHAPMAN [12.08 pm] 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Good afternoon, Ms Dixon.  Firstly I want to just take you 40 

back, wind back the clock to Stage 1 for a moment, in terms of looking 

at the car parking rules associated with the University of Canterbury. 

 

 Do you accept that a common position was reached in terms of the way 

car parking should be assessed by the University and the Council using 45 

fulltime equivalent? 



 Page 49 

  

Ch21: Specific Purposes Zones (Stage 2) Commenced 03.11.15 

 

MS DIXON:   During Stage 1? 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Yes. 

 5 

MS DIXON:   That might be matter – a question you had best address to Mr 

Falconer.  I was not part of that set of discussions. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Well, are you aware of the definition of “site” in the plan? 

 10 

MS DIXON:   The definition of “site” is different in Stage 1 and Stage 2.  In 

Stage 2 there is an extra clause, G, which I wrote, which actually makes 

a distinction between site for the purposes of activities and site for the 

purposes of built form standards and general citywide standards. 

 15 

MR CHAPMAN:   And it is that rule, the introduction of G, that is causing the 

University grief, is it not? 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes, although there was a very similar “G” – it might not have 

been numbered as such in the Operative Plan but I have made that 20 

difference, as I have said, between what the definition of site for 

activity purposes versus other.   

 

  [12.10 pm] 

 25 

MR CHAPMAN:   And it is that definition that would require the university to 

assess car parking on individual sites rather than on the university plot? 

 

MS DIXON:   That is right, and I believe that is consistent with the outcome of 

Chapter 7 and the decision on Chapter 7 in Stage 1.   30 

 

MR CHAPMAN:  I want to discuss some practicalities with you now in 

relation to - - -  

 

SIR HANSEN:   Just pause a minute, Mr Chapman.   35 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   I was just beginning to ask you about some practicalities in 

terms of measurement of car parking at the university.   If one had to 

assess car parking based on individual sites, how do you think the 

university should apply the rule when students are meandering between 40 

one part of the campus and another? 

 

 To put it bluntly, should they assess the car parking on the first lecture 

that the student attends, or the last lecture of the day?  What would be 

your preference? 45 
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MS DIXON:  I think again that is a question for Mr Falconer who has provided 

specific evidence on the definition of site.   

 

MR CHAPMAN:  I am really asking you as a planner that is required to ensure 

that there is certainty in a rule about how that rule should work. 5 

 

MS DIXON:  I understand that the university has actually shifted their position 

in Stage 2 from what they were seeking in Stage 1 and I think we now 

have a full time equivalent standard for parking.  That is difficult but I 

don’t see it as impossible to work out a proportion between the three 10 

main sites.   

 

SIR HANSEN:  No, but that wasn’t the question.  You were asked what is your 

preference on how the university should do the assessment? 

 15 

MS DIXON:   Okay.  I haven’t given specific thought to that.  I understood that 

David Falconer was going to address this matter.   

 

MR CHAPMAN:  Well I am just asking you though.  The issue is not a 

complicated traffic one, it is really how the university should assess 20 

when it manages an overall campus and students move between. 

 

MS DIXON:   I know that there have been a lot of changes in recent times with 

shifts of departments between the sites.  I think that it should still be 

possible to establish what the general usage of particular sites is at any 25 

point and as I say, haven’t given specific thought to this one because it 

was to be addressed by our transport planner.   

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Well I will put it to you a different way.  Do you think that 

there is a high degree of certainty in planning when one assesses car 30 

parking over the university site as a whole? 

 

MS DIXON:  It could be. Although the role of the university can obviously 

fluctuate quite a lot over time, so full time equivalents could change 

quite significantly year on year.   35 

 

MR CHAPMAN:  But that is something the university is used to in terms of 

complying with car parking rules? 

 

MS DIXON:   Well no, I think the car parking rules in the operative plan were 40 

not on that basis.  They were about floor area I think.   

 

MR CHAPMAN:   In relation to the definition of site that we now have, you 

accept that the introduction of G is going to create an exception to the 

way the site is otherwise assessed for university purposes – it is going 45 

to put car parking into an exception effectively? 
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MS DIXON:  From that G, but not from the normal way of assessing a site.  

The difference is really about the activities being considered on a basis 

of the whole facility, not about the parking being considered across, or 

not across the whole facility. That method of approach to parking is 5 

consistent with what it has been. 

 

  [12.15 pm] 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Do you accept that it introduces a degree of administrative 10 

artificiality when it doesn’t manager per site? 

 

MS DIXON:   Possibly.  As I say, I don’t think it is insurmountable to estimate 

a proportion of use of each of the three sites.   

 15 

MR CHAPMAN:  May I ask what you are relying on in terms of evidence 

when you say you don’t think it is impossible? 

 

MS DIXON:   Comments that I think Mr Falconer includes in his evidence.   

 20 

MR CHAPMAN: Just changing the topic for a moment, just to student 

accommodation and the use of that, you would agree from an efficiency 

point of view that it is wise to allow, if I can use the expression, ad hoc 

conferences to be able to use the university accommodation facilities 

outside term time? 25 

 

MS DIXON:   What was your question – efficient? 

 

MR CHAPMAN: That from an efficiency point of view it makes sensible 

efficiency to be able to use the accommodation facilities outside term 30 

time? 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes, I have said outside the academic year. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   And outside the academic year, do you accept that there are 35 

sort of several definitions that the university might apply to the 

academic year? 

 

MS DIXON: Yes, and that is why I haven’t used those words in my recording.   

 40 

MR CHAPMAN:   Yes. 

 

MS DIXON:   I have used, I think, “student residential agreement periods”.   

 

MR CHAPMAN:  Yes. So there is a notion in there that there might be 45 

different periods associated with different hostels potentially? 
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MS DIXON:   That is right.  From what I could establish from looking at the 

university website, I think the standard period seems to be 48 weeks, 

but there also seems to be, at least university hall, it seems to have a 40 

week standard period and I think that is because they use that hostel for 5 

the purposes of summer student accommodation and possibly also 

conferences.   

 

MR CHAPMAN:   I am going to now just turn to your comments with respect 

to the sale of alcohol rules that apply and I wonder if we could bring up 10 

6.9.  In particular rule 6.9.2.2.3 please.  Firstly, I would just ask you to 

confirm that these are city wide rules. 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes, they are.   

 15 

MR CHAPMAN:  And as a city wide rule, when one gets beyond the threshold 

of 11.00 pm, in that period 11.00 pm to 7.00 am, one becomes no 

longer a permitted activity but a restricted discretionary activity? 

 

MS DIXON:   That is correct, if you are within 75 metres of a residential zone. 20 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Yes. 

 

SIR HANSEN:   We will just pause and bring up the general rule.   

 25 

MR CHAPMAN:  If you could just scroll down a little further please to 

6.9.2.2.5, it just follows on from – so you accept that at the moment the 

way things are there are no sites which currently have a non-complying 

status under the plan? 

 30 

MS DIXON:   Not under this chapter, no.   

 

  [12.20 pm] 

 

MR CHAPMAN:  If you then turn and go down a little bit further to the 35 

matters of discretion under 6.9.3.1, from your knowledge, are there any 

matters in those matters of discretion which would not be capable of 

raising issues at the Dovedale site with respect to the sale of alcohol? 

 

MS DIXON:  No, I think they are quite comprehensive, however, as you are no 40 

doubt wishing to point out, I have noted a specific rule in this Specific 

Purpose Tertiary Zone which makes that sale of alcohol between 11.00 

pm and 7.00 am non-complying.  
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MR CHAPMAN:   So you want to specify in here that Dovedale will be the 

only site in the city which enjoys – if I can use that expression – a non-

complying status? 

 

MS DIXON:   Do you mean do I want to specify it in chapter 6? 5 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Yes. 

 

MS DIXON:   I think that could be a useful clarification. 

 10 

MR CHAPMAN:   I work at the upper end of Victoria Street and there are a 

number of residential properties immediately off Victoria Street that 

have raised issues about alcohol consumption.  Is there a rationale why 

you signal out Dovedale to be different from that residential area? 

 15 

MS DIXON:   Yes, there is.  In terms of Victoria Street while it is on kind of 

behind both sides of the street in terms of the Dovedale situation we 

have got the site in terms of the Dovedale site surrounded on four sides 

effectively by residential so it is even more of an enclave within a 

residential area. 20 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Is it a result of specific submissions in relation to Dovedale 

that have not been either made in respect of other areas where alcohol 

policies have been contentious close to residential areas? 

 25 

MS DIXON: Yes, but in terms of Victoria Street, for example, that was 

obviously subject to the Central City Recovery Plan and a recent 

revision of that which addresses that situation with alcohol I think with 

Victoria Street the hours are slightly different to in some of the other 

entertainment precincts.   30 

 

MR CHAPMAN:  But you have confirmed there are known matters in the 

restricted discretionary issues which would not allow a full and 

comprehensive assessment relating to the sale of alcohol at Dovedale. 

 35 

MS DIXON:  No, I do not think there are omissions, I just think it is more 

appropriate to send the signal that it is not necessarily appropriate and 

probably not appropriate to actually allow the sale of alcohol after 

11.00 pm on the Dovedale site and therefore I have suggested a 

different activity status. 40 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   And in terms of that activity status, are there objectives and 

policies in the plan which would specifically address the reason for 

differentiation for Dovedale? 

 45 
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MS DIXON:  There are objectives and policies in the Specific Purpose Tertiary 

Education Zone that talk about amenity and character of the 

surrounding environment. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:  But again that character of the surrounding environment 5 

could be taken into account in the restricted discretionary matters? 

 

MS DIXON:  It could be but in general terms I think making it restricted 

discretionary in that particular location would give the signal that it is a 

potentially appropriate subject possibly to conditions. 10 

 

MR CHAPMAN:  Do you accept on the basis that there are no particular issues 

raised with respect to the Dovedale site that you can point to that a 

restricted discretionary status for the sale of alcohol between those 

times could be an option that this Panel could look at? 15 

 

MS DIXON:   The Panel could consider it. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Moving onto urban design, you have seen the rule proposed 

by Ms Schroder in her rebuttal evidence? 20 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes, I have. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   It is on the last page of Ms Schroder’s rebuttal.  When you 

are looking at that particular rule which is in a comprehensive urban 25 

design rule, Ms Schroder invites you on a controlled activity basis to 

have regard to the bulk and scale of the proposed building, is that 

correct? 

 

MS DIXON:   It is about mass I think, essentially, yes, bulk of the building. 30 

 

  [12.25 pm] 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Yes.  Just go down slightly further down the page, please.  

Thank you.  So when you were looking at this bulk and scale of the 35 

building, you accept that the overall scale of buildings at the university 

can go to 30 metres in height? 

 

MS DIXON:  On the main site, yes.  On the other sites I think the heights are 

lower than Dovedale, is 20 metres. 40 

 

MR CHAPMAN:  Yes, I will just focus on the Ilam site as an example for a 

moment. So when you are looking at that subparagraph A that is 

highlighted there, what is your point of reference?  Is it the overall 

height that one is permitted in terms of reducing the bulk and scale or is 45 
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it the surrounding Residential Zone which informs you as to whether 

the scale is appropriate or not? 

 

MS DIXON:  It is a bit of both.  It is the context of tertiary buildings being 

quite close to adjoining residential areas.  5 

 

MR CHAPMAN: And when you are asked as a planner to look at visual 

interest, do you accept that visual interest can be both negative and 

positive? 

 10 

MS DIXON:   Yes. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   So which side of the spectrum does that invite you to go 

towards when you are assessing something for visual interest? 

 15 

MS DIXON:  I think visual interest we all know examples of particularly 

unattractive buildings but in general terms this is not about that, it is 

about attempting to break down the bulk of buildings by a bit of 

modulation and so make it more attractive and less intrusive and 

dominant with regard to the neighbours. 20 

 

MR CHAPMAN: As a planner preparing evidence for this zone, have you 

heard of any complaints that lead you, that sway you towards the 

introduction of this rule, are people complaining to the Council about 

the urban design at the university? 25 

 

MS DIXON:   I have not heard specific complaints but I have heard concerns 

about the ability of the university to build large buildings very close to 

neighbours. 

 30 

MR CHAPMAN:  Do you accept that the university probably always takes 

architectural advice on these matters in any case? 

 

MS DIXON:   I would think that they do, that does not necessarily mean from 

my perspective that that building has modulation as Ms Schroder might 35 

want to call it. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:  Do you accept that it is in the interest, from this Panel’s 

perspective, to try and reduce the amount of consenting that is required 

in relation to this particular rule? 40 

 

MS DIXON:  Yes, I do.  I think this rule though needs to be seen in the context 

of the reason that it was proposed and in the context of what 

Ms Schroder is going to talk about on that. 

 45 

MR CHAPMAN:   Sorry, can you just elaborate on that, please? 
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MS DIXON:   Can you repeat your question, please. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Simply, do you accept that from the Panel’s perspective it 

is in everybody’s interest to reduce the amount of consenting 5 

associated? 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes, I do.   

 

MR CHAPMAN:   And as a single owner of the site, this rule could effectively 10 

be superfluous on the basis that the university could be trusted to do 

this in any case? 

 

MS DIXON:   I do not think we operate the plan on the basis of trust otherwise 

we would not have any rules at all.  In terms of a large landowner, in 15 

general terms, yes, they would be using urban design experts. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Good, thank you.  No further questions. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Now, Ms Ellis, you have been instructed late by Elmwood 20 

Club, is that correct? 

 

MS ELLIS:   Yes. 

 

SJH:   And you seek leave to cross-examine as well? 25 

 

MS ELLIS:   Yes, sir. 

 

SJH:   Okay, well I grant there is no objection to that, Ms Scott, I take it? 

 30 

MS SCOTT:   No, there is not, sir. 

 

SJH:   Yes, go ahead. 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS ELLIS [12.29 pm] 35 

 

MS ELLIS:   Thank you.  Ms Dixon, just quickly as a matter of clarification on 

the correction you made to paragraph 10.4 of your rebuttal evidence 

regarding a conversation you had with Ms McLeod. 

 40 

  [12.30 pm] 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes. 
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MS ELLIS:  Can you confirm for me that you are now aware she did not 

consider herself to be a planning consultant representing the Elmwood 

Club? 

 

MS DIXON:  That is correct, she did mention to me that she was not being 5 

paid for the work she was doing. 

 

MS ELLIS:  Thank you.  Have you had any discussions with the Council’s 

sports and recreation staff in relation to the relief sought by the 

Elmwood Club? 10 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes. 

 

MS ELLIS:   Have you referenced that at all in your evidence? 

 15 

MS DIXON:   I am not sure that I have mentioned it. 

 

MS ELLIS:   Can you elaborate on what happened in those discussions? 

 

MS DIXON:   I have spoken with members of the sports and recreation unit 20 

and I am aware that they support the concept of this proposal in general 

terms. 

 

MS ELLIS:  Thank you.  I now just have a few questions about traffic and 

parking.  You have formed a view that there will be a shortfall of 25 

parking at Elmwood Park, haven’t you? 

 

MS DIXON:  Yes, I think that would be the case and also from my site visit. 

 

MS ELLIS:   Right.  And parking requirements are determined on the basis of a 30 

public floor area? 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes. 

 

MS ELLIS:   In accordance with the appendix to the transport unit chapter.  35 

And is it correct that the public floor area excludes such things as the 

exclusive staff areas, toilets, lift wells and so on? 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes, I think it does. 

 40 

MS ELLIS:   And so given that the facility has not yet been designed, wouldn’t 

it be impossible for you to calculate the parking requirements? 

 

MS DIXON:  I didn’t calculate the parking requirements, I merely got a bit of a 

guess at it from a Council transport planner.  That was because I was 45 

interested to know whether the proposal would actually be of 
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appropriate scale for that site. I considered that it would likely be pretty 

large and there would be difficulty in actually fitting it on the site. 

 

MS ELLIS:   Okay, thank you.  And given that answer as well you are clearly 

quite familiar, as you say in paragraph 10.5 of the rebuttal evidence, 5 

with that site? 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes. 

 

MS ELLIS:   Would you say that this is due to the fact that this site is already 10 

operating as a sports hub? 

 

MS DIXON:   That I am familiar with it? 

 

MS ELLIS:   Well, the parking shortage. 15 

 

MS DIXON:   I think there is likely already a shortfall of parking on the site, it 

is already operating as a sports hub as you say.  There is definitely a 

shortfall of parking on Saturdays as I have mentioned.  It could be that 

there is shortfalls of parking on other days that I am not going past. 20 

 

MS ELLIS:  Right.  Is it possible that the rebuild and redevelopment of the 

existing facilities could just as easily alleviate these parking issues? 

 

MS DIXON:   I am not sure that at the moment with the information that we 25 

have been given that we can be sure of that. 

 

SJH:   You weren’t asked whether you could be sure of it.  Do you think it 

could be possible to achieve that result? 

 30 

MS DIXON:   Not with the scale of the building that is being proposed at this 

point. 

 

MS ELLIS:   I now take you to the strategic directions decision which I am 

sure you are familiar with, in particular the strategic objectives 3.3.1 35 

and 3.3.11. 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes. 

 

MS ELLIS:   Have you considered the Elmwood Club’s relief in relation to 40 

those objectives? 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes, I have. 

 

MS ELLIS:   Thank you.  Have you mentioned that in your evidence at all? 45 
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MS DIXON:   I mentioned in my highlights package that I think the proposals 

as they now stand meet the terms of those objectives.  I think clearly 

objective 3.3.11 is talking about shared facilities and no one has a 

problem with that.  The question in my mind is not whether that is 

appropriate, it’s is that site suitable for a proposal or a building of that 5 

size or likely size. 

 

MS ELLIS:   Right.  Just one further question in relation to further mediation, 

was any opportunity taken to meet with the Elmwood Club following 

the 12 October mediation? 10 

 

  [12.35 pm] 

 

MS DIXON:   No, I felt that I had a pretty clear idea of their case from their 

submission and also from that further conversation with Ms McLeod 15 

about the size of the building and the likely footprint. 

 

MS ELLIS:   Right, thank you. That is all my questions. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Illingsworth? 20 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH.   No questions, sir. 

 

SJH:   Mr Daysh? 

 25 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, thank you, Ms Dixon.  I really want to follow through on 

this alternative zone concept with you as well and my read of the two 

Specific Purpose zones you have looked at is that there is an alternative 

zone proposition or ability to apply an alternative zone to the School 

Specific Purpose zone but not the tertiary education one, is that correct? 30 

 

MS DIXON:   Oh, no, it is tertiary as well. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Tertiary as well. 

 35 

MS DIXON:   But that is very much less used in practice because there is 

rarely surplus tertiary land. 

 

 

MR DAYSH:   All right.  Well, let us go to those provisions then because this 40 

might help us with this broader concept.  I will ask you the same 

question I asked the previous witness.  This three tier approach of 

having a designation, a Specific Purpose zone which seems to be the 

underlying zone on the planning maps and then bringing in activities in 

the adjoining zone as a third opportunity for the same piece of land, as I 45 

understand that is a technique that is used currently in the operative - - - 
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MS DIXON:  I think the operative city plan introduced it for schools in tertiary 

education in 1995 and it has been in operation for the last 20 years 

here. 

 5 

MR DAYSH:   Has that been a useful, effective provision? 

 

MS DIXON:   I believe so, I have heard from both sides that they like that 

provision because it provides flexibility for providers and it also 

provides certainty for communities as to what might occur if that 10 

facility or institution actually has surplus land and wants to dispose of it 

and thereby that land may be used for other purposes.  So it is certainly 

in terms of it could be, say, in accordance with the provision of that 

alternative package of zone rules. 

 15 

MR DAYSH:   Rules, yes.  So I think your school zones, shall we have a look 

at that and I am looking at the bundle with the red tags, it is under tab 5 

which is the Specific Purpose School zone and in your zone here that I 

think you are the creator of, this is your new zone? 

 20 

MS DIXON:   Yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, so we do have under permitted activities on page 3 the 

activities, this is in P4, “Any activities or facilities which would be 

permitted activities in the alternative zone for that site” and then you 25 

have go through to page 10 of the rule provisions which has a list of 

alternative zones applicable to activities other than education.  And 

there is three and a half pages, no four pages of schools each with an 

alternative zone defined, yes? 

 30 

MS DIXON:   Yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   And also in this zone we do follow through with the restricted 

discretionary rules as well? 

 35 

MS DIXON:   Yes, and discretionary. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Do you think that is clear the way it is laid out that or would 

you like to see some more clearer drafting or you are happy with the 

way this has been done for this zone? 40 

 

MS DIXON:  I think it is relatively clear as it stands.  It is an unusual technique 

and I think that is what you are alluding to and when I started to review 

this zone I thought the same and I also thought, “Mm, what can I get 

rid of in terms of the layers”, it was actually quite difficult to do that 45 

though.  I think that the aim of the exercise must have been originally 
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to provide a bit more of a level playing field across all of the schools, 

we have got a number of non-designated schools in Christchurch.  And 

I guess the aim of the exercise was to give them an opportunity to have 

that alternative zoning or whatever we might call it as well as the 

designated schools having their underlying zonings. 5 

 

  [12.40 pm] 

 

MR DAYSH:   The way you have designed this is different to the Hospital 

zone.  Were you here this morning when we were talking to Mr Blair? 10 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   So would you think that a similar type of framework could be 

(INDISTINCT 0.10) the Hospital Zone and that would make it clearer 15 

for everyone? 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes, I do, yes, I think that would be more consistent with this 

approach here and also with the fact that it may not just be permitted 

activities that might be able to be undertaken in that zone, it could be 20 

other activities which would normally be subject to a consent and an 

alternative zoning but would therefore have that status in the School 

more than, you were talking about the Hospital Zone as well, so it 

creates that sort of more comprehensive package. 

 25 

MR DAYSH:   And would you agree that where this technique is used ideally 

it should be applied consistently as a rule technique throughout the Plan 

where it is used in zones? 

 

MS DIXON:   I do not think it is necessarily appropriate in every situation.  It 30 

has been applied here because of the designation situation and I cannot 

actually recall, hospitals may have at one stage been designated as well, 

under the old T&CP Act but it does not apply across all zones because 

we do not have that situation of course. 

 35 

MR DAYSH:   I was not asking that, I think where the technique is applied, do 

you think it should be applied consistently between the zones that have 

got designations, Special Purpose Zones, and then what is defined as 

alternative zones? 

 40 

MS DIXON:   I would need to think more carefully about each of the zones 

before giving an answer on those.  It could be that it is not necessarily 

appropriate in every situation.  I think it is particularly appropriate in 

the School Zone at the moment because of the extent of change that is 

occurring in the education sector and that might not actually be a 45 

situation that pertains to some of those other zones. 
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MR DAYSH:  Right.  So turning to your Specific Purpose Tertiary Education 

Zone, you mention that there is a similar technique used there? 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes. 5 

 

MR DAYSH:   Can you just take us through that? 

 

MS DIXON:   It is P3 I think is the new numbering of 21.7.221, permitted 

activities in the Tertiary Education Zone. So that P3 as it is renumbered 10 

is the equivalent provision to the School Zone and then at the absolute 

end of that proposal there is a list of the alternative zonings for those 

tertiary education sites. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, I see that.  And does that follow through to the RD and 15 

discretionary activity? 

 

MS DIXON:   No, it does not at the moment, you will see from the colours in 

the school zoning that I added that in fairly late in the piece when I 

realised that it was probably more appropriate to do that, to have it 20 

there.  With regard to University and CPIT properties as I have said, it 

is not to my knowledge have there been any circumstances when they 

have actually had any land surplus in recent years so I guess it did not 

seem quite so important to consider it for the Tertiary Zone. 

 25 

MR DAYSH:   So just to get it clear, you say that there are provisions in the 

restricted discretionary and discretionary tables? 

 

MS DIXON:   In the Tertiary Zone, not at this point. 

 30 

MR DAYSH:   So that is the same as the Hospital Zone where you have a list 

of permitted activities in an “alternative zoning”. 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes. 

 35 

MR DAYSH:   But it doesn’t bring through all of the provisions? 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes.  I would not be averse to adding in the restricted 

discretionary or discretionary rule in the tertiary education zone either.  

I think consistency is important. 40 

 

MR DAYSH:   Do you think we would have scope for that? 

 

MS DIXON:   Possibly not in this case because the scope for the School Zone 

additions pretty much I think derive from the Crown’s concerns about a 45 
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range of uses being able to be undertaken in School Zones.  I do not 

think there is a similar submission in the Tertiary Education Zone. 

 

MR DAYSH:   All right, thank you, that is helpful.  Look, I do have some 

questions about your rebuttal evidence, no let us come back to the 5 

evidence-in-chief.  I want to ask you some questions about this alcohol 

sale issue we have heard from the University.  Outside of 11.00 pm to 

7.00 am, what are the other provisions in the Plan?  Do you need a 

consent to sell alcohol? 

 10 

  [12.45 pm] 

 

MS DIXON:   Not in the District Plan, I think it is limited in that rule, 6 – 

whatever number we just looked at, to late night sales. 

 15 

MR DAYSH:   All right, so across the Plan and in this Specific Purpose Zone, 

the Tertiary one, there are no requirements to get a resource consent 

outside of those? 

 

MS DIXON:   No, not in the Plan. 20 

 

MR DAYSH:   So this is the only - - - 

 

MS DIXON:   Specific example that I have come across. 

 25 

MR DAYSH:   - - - specific rule where the District Plan is using a land use rule 

to control the sale of alcohol.  The rest of the city it is used through the 

other process of licensing, is that correct? 

 

MS DIXON:   As I understand it, the proposed I think it is Proposed Local 30 

Alcohol Plan in Christchurch does not say anything about the sale of 

alcohol in Residential Zones or in Specific Purpose Zones.  It is only 

controlling the sale of alcohol in Commercial and Local Commercial 

Zones. 

 35 

MR DAYSH:   All right, thank you.  The questions that were put to you about 

the site definition, is there a problem with parking at the University or 

the tertiary institutions currently? 

 

MS DIXON:   There would not be a problem with parking if the University did 40 

not charge for car parking.  I think there is adequate car parking, but the 

majority of it on some of the sites is not actually used because students 

do not want to pay $7.50 a day and therefore they park on adjoining 

roads, streets. 

 45 
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MR DAYSH:   Is there another witness that can talk about the way the Council 

controls parking on residential streets? 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes, I think Mr Falconer may be able to answer those sorts of 

questions. 5 

 

MR DAYSH:   All right, thank you.  You talk about a mediation statement.  Is 

that the one that is attached to someone else’s evidence?  Or was that - 

- - 

 10 

MS DIXON:   That should be attached to my rebuttal. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Your rebuttal, all right.  So this is a mediation report, John 

Mills, Mediator? 

 15 

MS DIXON:   Yes, that is right. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Right, so in that mediation you could not get a resolution about 

the sale of alcohol issue? 

 20 

MS DIXON:   No, because we have submitters from both directions as it were. 

 

MR DAYSH:   All right.  No thank you, that is all I have. 

 

SJH:   Just coming back to this Dovedale one, I do not think you correctly 25 

answered it but can you confirm this is the only part of the plan that 

controls the sale of alcohol? 

 

MS DIXON:   Well Chapter 6 has the general restricted discretionary. 

 30 

SJH:   But leaving aside Chapter 6, this is the only place where it is non-

complying? 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes, I think so, yes. 

 35 

SJH:   And specifically what was it that made you determine that this should be 

the exception in Christchurch?  Because it does remove a certain level 

of consistency across the plan, does it not? 

 

MS DIXON:   I guess it is, as I have talked about, the surrounds of this 40 

particular site being primarily residential on most of its periphery and 

also basically the concerns that submitters have had and I probably 

have seen in action of student behaviour.  I know that – and I am not 

trying to control student behaviour through the District Plan, I am 

merely suggesting that the precursor of being able to obtain alcohol late 45 

at night is perhaps a contributor to that behaviour and that there are 
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adequate alternative locations at the University for sale and supply of 

alcohol during those hours. 

 

SJH:   So it is a residential and the views of submitters and your personal views 

on student behaviour that (INDISTINCT 4.32) this.  That is just what 5 

you have said. 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes, it is what I have said.  I guess as I say the Plan is not 

attempting to control behaviour, it is merely addressing a precursor of 

that behaviour. 10 

 

SJH:   But I repeat, you said, it was not just the submitters’ but your own 

personal view of student behaviour. 

 

MS DIXON:   Well I have personally had my letterbox stolen but obviously 15 

there is no proof that that was by a student. 

 

  [12.50 pm] 

 

SJH:   Do you think your own personal opinion should colour your view when 20 

you are giving evidence as an expert? 

 

MS DIXON:   I do not actually think it has really coloured by view. 

 

SJH:   Well, you just said it has. 25 

 

MS DIXON:   The circumstances - - - 

 

SJH:   Didn’t you?  That was your answer.  Do you wish to go back on that 

answer? 30 

 

MS DIXON:   I have a couple of teenage boys so I guess it is hard not to have 

views about alcohol, but I do not actually think that my personal views 

have coloured my choice of activity status there.  That is very much 

determined by the circumstances of that particular location. 35 

 

SJH:   So where does that leave us with your answer that – there were two 

reasons, one was residential, and the second one was submitters’ and 

your personal view of student behaviour, which I am sure the transcript 

will confirm was your answer. 40 

 

MS DIXON:   So what is the question? 

 

SJH:   The reason why this was the only noncomplying site in Christchurch? 

 45 

MS DIXON:   Well - - -  
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SJH:   As I understand your answer – and the transcript may prove me wrong, 

but I doubt it – it was because it was surrounded by residential on four 

sides and the submitters’ and your personal view of student behaviour. 

 5 

MS DIXON:   It is really about the sale of alcohol near residential areas. 

 

SJH:   So where does that leave your previous answer.  That is what I am trying 

to discover.  Do you stick by that previous answer, or do you now wish 

to change it? 10 

 

MS DIXON:   No, I stick by that previous answer. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  This matter of the three levels, if you like, designation, 

specific purpose, and what is now called an alternative zone, that I take 15 

it – you said it was introduced in 1995 – that is unique to Christchurch, 

is it?  Do you know that? 

 

MS DIXON:   I do not know that for a fact but I would strongly suspect that. 

 20 

SJH:   And you said, as Mr Blair said, the feedback is all quite positive about 

that approach.  I wonder, however, if confusion is caused by the use of 

the term of “alternative zone”.  It is not shown as a zone on a planning 

map. 

 25 

MS DIXON:   No. 

 

SJH:   It is not really a zone at all, is it? 

 

MS DIXON:   It is a set of rules - - - 30 

 

SJH:   Yes. 

 

MS DIXON:   - - - which belong to that zone, and I guess because it is 

necessary to refer to which set of rules, that has given rise to the term 35 

“alternative zoning” as a name - - - 

 

SJH:   But you can see there is - - - 

 

MS DIXON:   - - - as a residential suburban package of rules. 40 

 

SJH:   Yes, but you can see why it has the potential to be confusing and 

misleading? 

 

MS DIXON:   That is true. 45 
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SJH:   Do you think you and your fellow Council planners could perhaps talk 

about it and see if you can - - - 

 

MS DIXON:   Think up a better term? 

 5 

SJH:   - - - come up with some better words for it? 

 

MS DIXON:   For sure.  “Alternative zoning rules”, or “zone rules”, or 

whatever - - - 

 10 

SJH:   Yes. 

 

MS DIXON:   - - - yes. 

 

SJH:   Well, we would be grateful for that, I am sure.  Okay, Ms Ellis do you 15 

have anything?  Sorry, do you - - - 

 

MR DAYSH:   Just one supplementary, if I may?  It is really about the –and it 

is something I have missed on my notes – the Elmwood Club rezoning 

or request to have provisions applicable to their proposal.  Apart from 20 

the parking issue, are there any other effects that you are concerned 

with in relation to their proposal? 

 

MS DIXON:   Effects? 

 25 

MR DAYSH:   Yes. 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes, potentially.  I understand that at the moment they do 

advertise the bowling clubrooms as a function centre so it is potentially 

other than straight parking.  There could also be noise effects, et cetera.  30 

 

 The effects in themselves are really not necessarily my major concern.  

I did say that they were in terms of the parking, but there are other 

concerns as well.  The lack of demonstrated agreement from the 

Ministry of Education in terms of the school land; the lack of, to date, 35 

demonstrated agreement from the Council, the Parks and Facilities 

Unit, in terms of the lease of those portions of properties; the fact that 

all of that Elmwood Park site other than the bowling club and the area 

behind it is a heritage item, including trees which are in the parking 

area at the moment that might be susceptible to a proposal to remove 40 

them. 

 

  [12.55 pm] 

 

 There are basically several issues attached, which I think need further 45 

work. 
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MR DAYSH:   You are not opposed to having a joint use proposal assessed 

through the plan, through a - - - 

 

MS DIXON:   No at all. 5 

 

MR DAYSH:   - - - resource consent application? 

 

MS DIXON:   No, not at all. 

 10 

MR DAYSH:   Is there any intermediate position that might be able to be 

applied, that went through a consenting process, that you would be 

happier with? 

 

MS DIXON:   I would be quite happy if it went through a consenting process.  15 

It is a bit complicated in that it actually has two zonings at the moment.  

About two-thirds of the land that is being indicated, where the clubs 

want to build, is School Zone, and about a third is the Open Space 

Community Park Zone.  That is where the existing bowling club green 

was.   20 

 

 So it is a proposal that straddles two zones, but that is not totally 

uncommon in planning.  

 

MR DAYSH:   The Open Space Zone is yet to be heard? 25 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes, it is going to be heard in January, I think. 

 

MR DAYSH:   But there is an issue of – the issue straddling two proposals and 

– so would you suggest we can make a decision on this pending the 30 

Open Space Zone - - - 

 

MS DIXON:   I do not think it is appropriate to actually make provision for 

that site or all of the playing fields, as is being suggested, as in fact all 

of the school title, to have recreation facility as a permitted activity.   35 

 

 In fact, it might be more appropriate to nominate a site.  I think it 

would be really good to have more information before anyone makes a 

decision about this.  And there is a chance, as you have alluded to, to 

revisit it at that Open Space hearing. 40 

 

MR DAYSH:   But your evidence is you do not support it because of lack of 

specificity and also the effects that you have told us?  That is right? 
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MS DIXON:   The potential effects.  It is hard to know what the effects are, 

because we do not have very much information at all about the 

proposal, including, as I have noted, we did not have a site plan.   

 

MR DAYSH:   All right.  Thank you, sir. 5 

 

SJH:   Sorry, I will pick up from that.  Really, your position is that the plans are 

too embryonic at this stage to make a decision around? 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes. 10 

 

SJH:   But you, I think, accepted to Ms Ellis that the Strategic Directions and a 

lot of other evidence we have had has – it really encourages the co-

joining of clubs and shared use of facilities, which has been an issue 

not only in Christchurch but in many cities, which has been 15 

exacerbated by the earthquake? 

 

MS DIXON:   Absolutely.  So my concern is really about the scale of that 

colocation - - - 

 20 

SJH:   I understand that, but would you accept that it would be sensible that we 

did not do anything that would prevent this going ahead if the right 

plan came along and the right detail came along and the Ministry 

agreed and all of those other things? 

 25 

MS DIXON:   I think things can stay the way they are in the meantime, until 

the plans are further developed and the appropriate approvals are 

obtained and, you know, that the traffic effects are shown to be 

potentially acceptable, or whatever the effects might be. 

 30 

SJH:   Okay, thank you.  Ms Ellis, do you have questions arising from the 

Panel’s questions? 

 

<FURTHER CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS ELLIS [12.59 pm] 

 35 

MS ELLIS:   I do just have one further question for you, Ms Dixon.  In relation 

to the noise effects and the traffic effects that you have now mentioned, 

how do you respond to the fact that the bowling clubrooms are already 

being used for community services and the sports facilities there are 

already being used in some way, and that really a community hub does 40 

already exist at the site? 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes, it does, but the scale of the “hub” at the moment is very 

small compared to the potentially very large scale of what is proposed.   

 45 

MS ELLIS:   Okay, thank you.  That is all I have. 
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SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Chapman? 

 

<FURTHER CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR CHAPMAN [12.59 pm] 

 5 

MR CHAPMAN:   Yes, I too have just one further question.  You were asked a 

series of questions about the exception created for Dovedale in relation 

to student behaviour.  Just as a consequence of the rule, do you accept 

that if you make it more stringent than the rest of the Plan at Dovedale, 

the practical effect is that you force students to walk through the 10 

residential area to get alcohol and then trundle back home again 

through that residential area? 

 

MS DIXON:   Well it depends where they live.  I know the Foundry is pretty 

centrally located so they might not be traipsing in any particular 15 

direction. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Ms Bazalo? 20 

 

MS BAZALO:   No further questions, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Ms Scott? 

 25 

MS SCOTT:   No questions, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you Ms Dixon, you may stand down. 

 

MS DIXON:   Thank you. 30 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [1.00 pm] 

 

SJH:   Yes, Ms Scott. 

 35 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, sir.  The Council’s next witness is Mr Falconer. 
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<DAVID IAN FALCONER, affirmed [1.01 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS SCOTT [1.01 pm] 

 

MS SCOTT:   Good afternoon, Mr Falconer, if you could confirm your full 

name is David Ian Falconer and you have provided two statements of 

evidence, the first in-chief dated 5 October 2015, the second in rebuttal 5 

dated 23 October 2015? 

 

MR FALCONER:   That is correct. 

 

MS SCOTT:   That your qualifications and experience are as set out in the 10 

evidence-in-chief you provided at the Stage 1 hearing on the transport 

proposal dated 26 May 2015? 

 

MR FALCONER:   That is correct. 

 15 

MS SCOTT:  Do you have any corrections you wish to make to your evidence? 

 

MR FALCONER:   No, I do not. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, if you could confirm that your two statements are 20 

true and correct to the best of your knowledge? 

 

MR FALCONER:   Yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you.  If you could provide a brief highlights package of 25 

your evidence and stay seated to respond to any questions. 

 

MR FALCONER:   Thank you.  Given my role as the chapter leader for the 

Transport Chapter, my evidence in this hearing addresses the 

relationship between that chapter and the Specific Purpose Hospital, 30 

School and Tertiary Education Zones. 

 

 My evidence addresses transport planning matters relating to these 

three zones and the specific relief sought by various submitters on these 

matters.  And through mediation most of the transport planning matters 35 

raised in submissions have now been resolved.   

 

 The only outstanding issue addressed in my evidence is that of the 

University of Canterbury and the CPIT seeking a change to the 

definition of “site”, which could enable car parking for buildings to be 40 

located on a different part of the campus from where the building itself 

is located.  For example, this could mean that parking for buildings on 

the University campus on the west side of Ilam Road could be provided 

almost two kilometres away across two busy roads on the Dovedale 

campus. 45 
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 I have not accepted this change as in my view there is a risk that if 

parking is located too far away from the destination then it will not be 

well used and there will be increased pressure for on-street parking in 

the surrounding residential areas. 

 5 

 Through the Panel’s Stage 1 decision, the Transport Chapter requires 

the calculation of car parking requirements for tertiary education 

activities on the basis on the number of full-time equivalent students.  

The University has this as the basis for why the definition of “site” 

needs to be changed.   10 

 

 The University states that it is difficult to calculate the number of full-

time equivalent students for the University.  Now the Council proposed 

alternative ways in Stage 1 to calculate the parking requirements, 

which would not have created this issue, but the University rejected 15 

these solutions.  Rather in Stage 1 the University sought that the 

parking requirements for the tertiary education activities be calculated 

on the basis of the number of full-time equivalent students and did not 

raise this issue of difficulties of calculating the parking requirements in 

Stage 1. 20 

 

 Now, after the Stage 1 Transport decision has been released they have 

raised this issue in Stage 2 and seek a change to the definition of “site”.  

Rather than what appears to be the crux of their concern being a change 

to the way the car parking requirements are calculated in Chapter 7, the 25 

University has not addressed in evidence the potential adverse effects 

on on-street parking and thus residential amenity from this change to 

the definition.  They have also raised that this change to the definition 

of “site” is required to support their rebuild programme. 

 30 

 However I consider that Chapter 7, the Transport chapter, already 

contains flexibility about the amount of car parking required for the 

rebuild of activities.  I am happy to answer any questions. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Chapman? 35 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR CHAPMAN [1.05 pm] 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Good afternoon, Mr Falconer.  Were you in court when I 

was questioning Ms Dixon on the issue of traffic effects? 40 

 

MR FALCONER:   Yes, I was. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   And she I think deferred the question to you that you would 

be able to answer to me how the University ought to assess its car 45 

parking requirements when a student starts her day at Dovedale with a 



 Page 74 

  

Ch21: Specific Purposes Zones (Stage 2) Commenced 03.11.15 

lecture there and then moves across the campus to various other sites.  

Is it the starting point lecture that you would say that the University 

should evaluate or the end point lecture that they could evaluate? 

 

MR FALCONER:   Sure, well first of all I would say that as I have mentioned 5 

in my highlights, that that was the calculation that the University 

requested that the Council put in the proposal so I suppose it is a matter 

for the University as to how they want to interpret the basis that they 

have sought. 

 10 

 But I have had discussions with the planner of the University and 

suggested that maybe a way around this is that we calculate it on the 

basis of the majority of time that a student spends on a certain campus, 

so if they spend the majority of time at Dovedale then they are 

calculated to be with the Dovedale parking requirements, or at Ilam 15 

they are likewise if the majority of time is there they calculate the 

requirements on that basis.  But that was not accepted by the University 

so once again I leave it to the University that they requested this 

calculation, the Council agreed to this and they need to consider either 

how to interpret it or if they have an issue with that, they need to seek a 20 

change. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Yes, they accepted that calculation of full-time equivalents 

on the basis that it was managed as an overall site, didn’t they? 

 25 

MR FALCONER:   No, the definition of site was in Stage 1 and that did not 

give an exemption for the University to consider it as an entire site 

across the three different parts of the University, so no, I consider that 

that definition was in place in Stage 1. 

 30 

MR CHAPMAN:   Well would you accept that the Stage 1 definition of site 

allowed the University to assess its car parking requirements over the 

whole site? 

 

MR FALCONER:   No, I do not consider the Stage 1 definition is any different 35 

to the Stage 2 definition in terms of the city-wide rules.  The addition 

of G, that Ms Dixon talked about previously, gives an exemption for 

activity standards to be considered across the entire zone, but it does 

not give that exemption to the city-wide rules, so G does not apply to 

the city-wide rules so once again the Stage 1 definition still applies as it 40 

was. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   So just taking you to the Stage 1 definition, in simple terms 

a site means an area of land or volume of space shown on a plan with 

defined boundaries? 45 
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MR FALCONER:   Yes. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   So the University can effectively, as the SPTE Zone does, it 

ring fences, this is a defined site? 

 5 

MR FALCONER:   Yes, I consider that it can. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   And it has only been at the Stage 2 where the issue arises 

about the exemption for general city-wide standards that says you 

cannot take it as a whole site.  But only at Stage 2 that the University 10 

could have anticipated a change in the way of assessment to do it on 

individual sites for car parking, is it not? 

 

MR FALCONER:   No, from my reading of G, which was the addition in 

Stage 2, G only applies to the activity standards.  It clarifies that G does 15 

not apply to the general city-wide standards so G does not change the 

situation for the general city-wide standards which includes the parking 

standards, at all, it is exactly the same as was the case in Stage 1. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Well what is the issue here then?  If you are saying in your 20 

evidence that G does not require assessment on a site by site basis at 

the University, we have got nothing more to talk about, have we? 

 

MR FALCONER:  Well it is the University that wants to change the definition.  

I do not think it is needed so I would agree, if we can accept not to 25 

change it - - - 

 

  [1.10 pm] 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Because parking is in the general city wide standards, is it 30 

not? 

 

MR FALCONER:   Yes, they are, yes. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   And it says in at G “you can take it as a whole site”, means 35 

“all of the land”, but not for the general city wide standards. 

 

MR FALCONER:   That is correct, yes. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   And your evidence has been on the basis that, that supports 40 

the breaking up of the land into different sites for the purposes of 

assessing car parking. 

 

MR FALCONER:   My evidence is, if you read the definition of “site”, it talks 

also about having different certificates of title and different legal 45 

parcels of land, the different parcels of land are different. So - - -  
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MR CHAPMAN:   All right, we might be getting into a bit of legal 

interpretation but if you just read that definition it says, “Provided you 

can get a defined boundary to your site” - - -  

 5 

MR FALCONER:   Yes. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   - - - that is where that stops, is it not?  It then goes onto say, 

“And includes this and that” in relation to titles? 

 10 

MR FALCONER:   Yes. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   So if you accept that the SPTE zone defines the defined 

boundaries, you are accepting that the University can assess their car 

parking over that one site? 15 

 

MR FALCONER:   Well the Tertiary Education zone is broken up by these 

two roads, so Ilam Road and Waimairi Road which is zoned Transport, 

so if that is the University’s interpretation that they can define an entire 

zone as a legally defined boundary as per the definition of site, then I 20 

would be surprised by that because the zone has these Transport zones 

that divides it into the three components. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Right, I think we are going rather round in circles, so you 

are now saying that the definition does support the dividing up into 25 

three separate sites, when you say, “It cannot be interpreted as being 

one site”? 

 

MR FALCONER:   I think it would be very difficult to interpret it as one site, 

because it is divided by a different zone, and obviously the University, 30 

their petition and their submission considers it, it could not be seen as 

one site because they have sought this change to the definition of site to 

enable it to be seen differently, so that is their interpretation, I would - - 

-  

 35 

MR CHAPMAN:   No, no, no, G was inserted as part of Stage 2, not by the 

University, the University have not sought that change, that is a change 

that was put in by, in the notified version in relation to Stage 2, do you 

accept that? 

 40 

MR FALCONER:   I accept that, yes, but the University have sought a change 

to G obviously because they do not consider that the way that the first 

part of the definition of site is worded, it gives them the ability that you 

mention before that the entire zone can be considered one site. 

 45 
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MR CHAPMAN:   Okay, I am going to leave that part of the discussion and 

just turn to some practical issues with you, if you would not mind, so 

you accept that the student population is a very mobile population? 

 

MR FALCONER:   Well there has been obviously changes in the role of the 5 

University in the few years post the earthquake, yes. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   And they do interchangeably move between one part of the 

campus and the other? 

 10 

MR FALCONER:   That is what I have heard from the University, I have not 

experience that, but that is what I have head. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Yes. And in your evidence, in your evidence-in-chief at 

10.3, you say that it is problematic effectively, for a student to walk 15 

two kilometres from one part of the campus to another, that they might 

not do that, it might be a disincentive? 

 

MR FALCONER:   Yes, if they can find car parking closer I would suspect and 

I think the current situation of having empty car parks at the University 20 

and often people parking on streets shows that that people would prefer 

to park closer to the building than two kilometres, yes. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Yes. A student starts his day at Dovedale and then has 

another lecturer, yes, at the Ilam part of the campus, do you think they 25 

are going to jump in their car and drive around? 

 

MR FALCONER:   Well that is up to the individual student, that is probably 

not the situation that I was really alluding to here, it is the student who 

spends the majority of their time at one campus is likely to want to park 30 

as close as possible to that building. 

 

  [1.15 pm] 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   To the lecture theatre that they are first going to? 35 

 

MR FALCONER:   Well - - -  

 

MR CHAPMAN:   What I am asking you is, do they then jump in their car, 

when you make that statement that they want to park as close to their 40 

building, do they then jump in their car and you are – have you done 

any assessment - and do they then drive round to their next closest 

building where their lecture is and try and park there? 

 

MR FALCONER:   I am not aware of any assessment of that situation but I 45 

think looking at the situation that is there, that there are car parks that 
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are empty onsite and there are car parks that are taken up on the street, 

shows that students are wanting to park as close as possible to their 

destination, and if the University car park does not provide that then 

they will find an alternative locations on the street. 

 5 

MR CHAPMAN:   When we have got to the position of deciding the full-time 

equivalent is the way to go to assess car parking, do you accept that 

that is a practical way for the University to assess car parking on the 

overall University site? 

 10 

MR FALCONER:   Well that was what the University suggested to us. Now 

we originally had based it on floor area, the University wanted it based 

on full-time equivalent students, we accepted that on the basis that the 

University said that that could be managed. 

 15 

 Now obviously I now hear that they are struggling to have difficulties 

with that so I have to say now, in light of this information, I think it 

really does – it would have been nice if this information had of come 

in, apparent in Stage 1 and we could have considered the basis for 

calculation and may be it does warrant a need to the – a change to the 20 

parking standards, but unfortunately that was not considered at Stage 1 

and a decision has since been released. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Lastly, I am going to move away from the University’s own 

parking requirements, just in terms of your role, advising the Council 25 

on parking matters, do you accept there is a range of alternatives that 

the Council has in relation to zoning residents car parking for example 

on the street to avoid the issue that you are raising? 

 

MR FALCONER:   Yes, and that was discussed in the Stage 1 hearing, there 30 

are other mechanisms, but what that would do would discourage people 

parking on the street, but it does not necessarily mean that the parking 

at the University is provided onsite any more, you know, convenient 

for people, for the students.  So it could still result in a situation we 

have now that there are large car parks that are not being used 35 

efficiently. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   But you are not saying that the University’s attempting to 

shovel the car parking on one particular site, it does provide car parking 

right round the University site? 40 

 

MR FALCONER:   At the moment it does, yes, I suppose, I do not know what 

the University’s intentions are, but I suppose what I am trying to 

highlight here is that this change in definition could enable the 

University to do that, now whether they do that or not is up to them, but 45 
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the plan will not prevent that, so it is a consequence that it could 

happen (INDISTINCT 3.46). 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Do you accept that your rule, you are concerned about the 

underutilisation of car parking, you have just mentioned that, do you 5 

accept that your interpretation of the rule would lead to further 

underutilisation because the University would “piece meal”, have to 

provide for separate car parking on separate sites that it would result in 

more car parking being required overall and further underutilisation? 

 10 

MR FALCONER:   Well the parking requirement has been (INDISTINCT 

4.22) between the university and Council in Stage 1, as I mention in my 

evidence, there are a number of changes through Stage 1 that has 

enabled reduction in the amount of parking requirements, there are 

parking reduction factors, there is also a requirement that says, “You do 15 

not need to provide any more parking than what existed pre-earthquake 

if you are not increasing the size of the University”, and what I 

understand is the student roll has dropped significantly since the 

earthquake. 

 20 

 So I do not consider that this will increase the number of car parks that 

are already on the University, they have enough to meet the parking 

requirements pre-earthquake, and their roll has dropped considerably, 

so I do not envision that this will result in more car parks 

 25 

  [1.20 pm] 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Thank you, no further questions. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Illingsworth? 30 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Thank you, sir.  Good afternoon, Mr Falconer. 

 

MR FALCONER:   Good afternoon. 

 35 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   So under chapter 7 other than for the University 

provisions for minimum parking is based on building area? 

 

MR FALCONER:   Yes, in most cases, yes, that is correct. 

 40 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   For a particular parcel of land it was based on 

building area in most cases.  There is no argument about the definition 

of site under the Tertiary zone, is there, in the sense that it is parcels of 

land that are contiguous with each other? 

 45 

MR FALCONER:   Sorry? 
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MR ILLINGSWORTH:   You do not have any argument about the definition 

of site being in the Tertiary zone that it is parcels of land that are 

contiguous with each other? 

 5 

MR FALCONER:   No, I am not aware of any. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Okay.  So when I read your statement at 10.3 it does 

seem a bit ambiguous to me because what it appears to me that you are 

trying to do is to locate the parking on the piece of land, not necessarily 10 

the site associated with the buildings of greatest use, that is what it 

appears to me.  So, if that is the case, do you agree that these rules as 

they stand are somewhat ambiguous? 

 

MR FALCONER:   No, well, what my evidence is, which is what is in the 15 

Transport chapter, that the parking should be located on the same site 

as the activity.  I think the disagreement between the University and 

Council’s position is what is the site.  I have no issues with parking, for 

example, being located anywhere within the Dovedale campus, for a 

building on the Dovedale campus, likewise on the Ilam campus.  My 20 

concern is when parking is located on a – it requires people to have to 

cross a road to get to the building where the lecture is, I think that 

creates a further barrier or further disincentive for people to use that 

parking. 

 25 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Yes, I accept that and I accept your intention but 

what I am saying is that the way it sits at the moment, the way I read it 

is the site is those parcels of land that are contiguous with each other.  

We know that the University can assess parking on full-time 

equivalents.  So it would seem to me that it is logical that you could 30 

locate the parking on the site anywhere and not necessarily close to the 

area which has the largest buildings on for instance.  Doesn’t it appear 

that way to you? 

 

MR FALCONER:   Yes, I think the issue is what is the site.  So, yes, it could 35 

be located anywhere, for example within the Dovedale campus, so 

anywhere west of Waimairi Road.  It does not have to necessarily be 

right outside the front door of the building and that is not the current 

situation.  If we consider everything west of Waimairi Road as one site, 

because it is divided by a road before you get to the rest of the 40 

University, then any parking anywhere on that side of Waimairi Road 

is in my opinion fine if it is serving a building on that side of Waimairi 

Road. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   So you do not think there is any ambiguity in the way 45 

it is drafted at the moment? 
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MR FALCONER:   No, I do not. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Thank you.  

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Daysh? 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, thank you, Mr Falconer.  I am looking at your 10.1 and the 

G which we are talking about, is that from chapter 7, where does the G 

fit into the plan? 10 

 

MR FALCONER:   Sure, so that is in addition to the definition of site which 

will be in chapter 2, so the definition chapter, so that is up on the screen 

now. 

 15 

MR DAYSH:   All right.  So that is not from our zone, so how does the other 

zone all link into that definition?  Can we look at the zone provisions 

and I just want to get crystal clear how this all works. 

 

MR FALCONER:   Sure. 20 

 

MR DAYSH:   Because I am totally confused to be honest. 

 

MR FALCONER:   Fair enough.  So I think the issue is that the chapter 7, the 

transport chapter which a decision has been released on the stage 1 25 

provisions of that, requires car parking to be located on the same site as 

the activity. 

 

  [1.25 pm] 

 30 

MR DAYSH:   And site is defined. 

 

MR FALCONER:   Site is defined in chapter 2 and so the issue is really how 

chapter 7 relates to chapter 2 in terms of the definition of site and 

obviously the University are seeking an amendment to this addition of 35 

G, which would change the way the general City rules in the Tertiary 

Education zone, the definition of site is applied to them. 

 

MR DAYSH:   So the submission is not in relation to any specific clause in the 

Specific Purpose Tertiary Education zone, it is in relation to the 40 

definitions chapter? 

 

MR FALCONER:   That is correct and so the definitions that relate to the topic 

have been brought to the statement of issues of this zone.  The reason 

why it has been brought into this zone is because obviously that 45 

definition in G refers to the Specific Purpose Tertiary Education zone 
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so it is really the boundaries of that zone which are quite important for 

this definition of site. 

 

MR DAYSH:   All right, I think that is clearer, thank you. 

 5 

MR FALCONER:   Thank you. 

 

SJH:   I just want to go back to some questions Mr Chapman put to you which I 

did not really feel got answered.  He was asking you whether there is 

the supply of adequate parking at each of the three mini campuses, if I 10 

can call it that way, and you did not actually answer that, are you 

satisfied there is? 

 

MR FALCONER:   Well, I am not a traffic engineer, I do not assess the 

parking currently, but from what I understand it complies with the 15 

current Operative Plan rules. 

 

SJH:   Well, which site falls short in your view of adequate parking, which of 

the three? 

 20 

MR FALCONER:   I do not think currently, well, my issue is not the current 

situation, my issue is that this change of definition could enable the 

University to provide parking all on one part of their campus for 

buildings all on another site.  So currently I am not aware that it is an 

issue but this change in definition could enable a change. 25 

 

SJH:   Right.  So they would close down some car parks and open others, you 

think they could do? 

 

MR FALCONER:   They could do. 30 

 

SJH:   Right.  Your real beef which you made very clear at the transport 

hearings is that the University’s charging regime for their car parks 

makes it prohibitive and people do not use them.  And you have said it 

again today, they sit empty? 35 

 

MR FALCONER:   They do sit empty, yes, the charging, yes. 

 

SJH:   You also in the transport hearings gave us various examples of how the 

problems over on-street parking by students and University users and 40 

its impact on residents could be managed. 

 

MR FALCONER:   Yes. 

 

SJH:   Has the Council initiated over the years any of those? 45 
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MR FALCONER:   Yes, so there are time limits for parking on a lot of the 

streets around the University and we have some restrictions in some 

areas.  You will find yellow dotted lines in some areas where people 

cannot park. 

 5 

SJH:   And have they been successful in reducing the problem? 

 

MR FALCONER:   A lot of them were put in well before my time at Council 

so I am not sure what the situation was before then but they are 

enabling some turnover of parking but it is still encouraging students to 10 

park there. 

 

SJH:   Do you know anything about the level of enforcement of those time 

limits? 

 15 

MR FALCONER:   Not that I have to hand.  I am aware that they are enforced, 

yes, but apart from that I do not know. 

 

SJH:   But at this stage there has been no effort to create resident parking which 

occurs in many cities? 20 

 

MR FALCONER:   We have been looking at that and - - - 

 

  [1.30 pm] 

 25 

SJH:   But it has not been done to date is what I meant, sorry. 

 

MR FALCONER:   It has not been done to date, that is correct. 

 

SJH:   I probably should have put it better. 30 

 

MR FALCONER:   It is okay. 

 

SJH:   It is not unusual is it, for large-scale organisations such as a university or 

health facilities to have a number of their facilities close together but 35 

not necessarily contiguous? 

 

MR FALCONER:   Yes - - - 

 

SJH:   All round the world? 40 

 

MR FALCONER:   Yes, there are cases. 

 

SJH:   Now leaving aside definitions and all of the other matters, from the 

University’s point of view, or any operator of a facility such as that, is 45 
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it not common sense they would want to manage the whole of it 

holistically? 

 

MR FALCONER:   Yes, yes. 

 5 

SJH:   And I may have misunderstood you but I thought you actually conceded 

in your evidence in answer to Mr Chapman at one stage and then I am 

not sure if I misheard it or your qualified it, that you would have no 

objection to the University managing the whole three sites as one from 

parking provisions points of view, as long as something was put in 10 

place that prevented them lumping all the parking on one lot and none 

on the other two for example? 

 

MR FALCONER:   Yes, I do not recall that discussion.  I suppose my evidence 

is, and this is what we proposed in the Transport Chapter, and this is 15 

one of the solutions that we suggested to the University, is that parking 

could be managed through an integrated transport assessment so that 

these issues of putting parking in a certain location can be considered 

through that. 

 20 

 Now that was not accepted by the University and has not been put in 

the decision so that would be my preferred option, that all these things 

are considered through an assessment.  It may be appropriate that 

parking is provided in a certain location as long as other mitigating 

measures are put in place and that could be considered through an 25 

assessment but we do not have that ability through the decision, we are 

dealing with parking requirements and how to apply them and that is 

my concern. 

 

SJH:   But I come back to my question, that it would be sensible to manage the 30 

parking overall, as long as your concerns about adequate parking for 

each site, is dealt with? 

 

MR FALCONER:   Yes, if that could be assessed, and the effects on the 

residents could be assessed comprehensively, that is exactly the 35 

position we were promoting in the Stage 1 chapter. 

 

SJH:   And that particular cat I imagine there are a number of ways of skinning 

it, not just your integrated traffic assessment? 

 40 

MR FALCONER:   There would be some other ways, yes. 

 

SJH:   All right, thank you.  Anything arising, Mr Chapman? 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   No, sir. 45 
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SJH:   Ms Scott? 

 

MS SCOTT:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [1.33 pm] 5 

 

SJH:   I think, Mr Chapman, there is room for some discussion around those 

last line of questions perhaps, over lunch? 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Yes, thank you. 10 

 

SJH:   Okay, thank you, sorry we will have to wait for Ms Schroder for after 

lunch.  We will take a luncheon adjournment now.  We will make it 

2.15 when we start back, thank you. 

 15 

ADJOURNED [1.33 pm] 

 

RESUMED [2.16 pm] 

 

SJH:   Yes, thank you.  Yes, Ms Scott? 20 

 

MS SCOTT:   Good afternoon, sir.  The Council’s final witness is Ms 

Schroder, and she has taken the liberty of already coming up to the box. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 25 
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<JOSEPHINE SCHRODER, affirmed [2.16 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS SCOTT [2.16 pm] 

 

MS SCOTT:   Good afternoon.  If you could confirm your full name is 

Josephine Fredericka Jane Schroder? 

 5 

MS SCHRODER:   Yes, it is. 

 

MS SCOTT:   You have prepared two statements of evidence for this hearing 

on urban design matters, the first dated 6 October 2015, the second, in 

rebuttal, dated 23 October 2015? 10 

 

MS SCHRODER:   Yes, that’s right. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Do you have any corrections you wish to make to either of those 

statements? 15 

 

MS SCHRODER:   No, I do not. 

 

MS SCOTT:   If you could confirm that those two statements are true and 

correct to the best of your knowledge? 20 

 

MS SCHRODER:   Yes, they are. 

 

MS SCOTT:   And if you could provide a brief highlights package of your 

evidence and remain seated for questioning? 25 

 

MS SCHRODER:   Thanks very much.  I have provided evidence on the 

Specific Purpose Hospital, School and Tertiary Education zones.   

 

 The Specific Purpose Hospital Zone provisions were developed with 30 

the underlying principles of increasing the development opportunity on 

the sites, while addressing potential amenity and safety effects, 

particularly in regard to residential neighbours and in respect to the 

interface with public space. 

 35 

 The classification of hospital sites into Suburban, Suburban Service, 

and Inner Urban sites related to their context and their location, and the 

consequent provisions package was the resultant approach taken. 

 

 The classification enabled simplification of the proposal while 40 

recognising and managing the potential amenity effects of hospital 

activities on the surrounding environment.   

 

 In respect to the Inner Urban sites, all of the urban design matters were 

agreed as the result of expert conferencing and mediation.  More 45 

recently, the Crown has become party to the discussions in regard to 
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the Suburban and Suburban Service sites, and this has resulted in 

further changes to the revised proposal, with the weighting erring 

towards development intensity, with less emphasis on design and 

amenity, with the except of control at the interfaces of the site. 

 5 

 I have revised my position from that outlined in my evidence-in-chief 

in respect to the Suburban hospital sites as a result of both the evidence 

of and meeting with Mr Willis from the CDHB and Ms Kelly for the 

Crown, in regard to both the activity status and the built form rules, and 

which I discussed in my rebuttal of 23 October. 10 

 

 However, there were still a number of matters that were outstanding, 

primarily in respect to the Crown’s position, which were identified in 

my rebuttal.  Since that time, discussions have been ongoing, including 

in respect to the location of security fencing, building bulk and location 15 

provisions, activity status and associated assessment matters. 

 

 Each of these matters has now been addressed and agreed between the 

Council, the CDHB and the Crown, and proceeded to the Panel 

yesterday through a memorandum of Council. 20 

 

 Clarity has been provided in respect of the activity status in regard to 

the scale and location of buildings in conjunction with the respective 

site boundaries.   

 25 

 There is some risk in respect of the potential effects of poor design, 

such as blank facades to the street of small buildings with the permitted 

activity status.  However, I consider that the activity status, based on 

the potential scale of effects of building size and location, should result 

in a balance between managing effects and increasing intensification 30 

and efficiency of these hospital sites. 

 

  [2.20 pm] 

 

 I have reduced the building setback and simplified the setback rule as 35 

agreed through facilitated mediation.  The reasons for this agreement 

are that while the setback is significantly less than as notified, I 

consider the reduced setback, in conjunction with the proposed 

landscape strip and revised controls on building scale and design, and 

associated assessment matters, will adequately manage the effects of 40 

development. 

 

 Overall I consider that the revised Hospital Zone proposal adequately 

acknowledges the importance of the design and layout of buildings and 

associated landscape with particular emphasis on the interface between 45 

the Hospital sites and their surrounds, and to a lesser degree through a 



 Page 89 

  

Ch21: Specific Purposes Zones (Stage 2) Commenced 03.11.15 

controlled activity status, the potential impacts of building within the 

interior of the site. 

 

 Now in regard to the Specific Purposes Tertiary Education and School 

Zones. 5 

 

 My association with the Tertiary Education and School Zones has been 

much more recent and I was not involved in the development of the 

provisions package for these zones.   

 10 

 However the Tertiary Education Zone, and to a lesser extent the School 

Zone, are of a similar nature to the Hospital Zone in that they provide 

for a campus-style development including large-scale buildings located 

within predominantly suburban-residential areas.  As such there are 

similar potential impacts in regard to amenity and the qualities of the 15 

neighbourhood in which these zones are located as a result of the 

development. 

 

 In regard to the School Zones, I consider the provisions package has 

achieved an appropriate balance between amenity of the adjacent 20 

environment, including in respect to matters such as privacy and access 

to sunlight.  And this is achieved through a combination of provisions 

addressing building height and length, building setbacks and recession 

planes and landscaping, while allowing for the functionality and 

efficiency of the site. 25 

 

 In respect to the Tertiary Education Zone, the built form rules have 

been largely agreed with submitters.  This is with the exception of the 

built form provisions proposed for the University of Canterbury 

Dovedale site, where the Council and the University has agreed but 30 

Carter and the IURRA are not in agreement, and in regard to the 

building modulation provision. 

 

 In my view the package of built form standards applying to the Tertiary 

Education Zone recognises the need to intensify development on these 35 

sites to provide increased opportunity for the growth and functionality 

of the sites while addressing some of the amenity values and potential 

for adverse effects. 

 

 I do not consider, however, that the provisions package adequately 40 

addresses the adjacent context and related visual impact of large scale 

buildings at the interfaces with adjacent environments, including 

residential and public environment. In my view this is a key matter that 

remains outstanding in regard to the Tertiary Education Zone. 

 45 
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 I consider that this building bulk, and to a degree the concerns of 

submitters in regard to the Dovedale campus in relation to setbacks and 

building height, could be addressed through the introduction of a 

building modulation controlled activity provision as I proposed in my 

rebuttal of 23 October.  Thank you. 5 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Allen? 

 

MR ALLEN:   No questions, sir, given the Hospital agreement. 

 10 

SJH:   Mr Chapman? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR CHAPMAN [2.23 pm] 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Good afternoon, Ms Schroder.   15 

 

MS SCHRODER:   Good afternoon. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Just in relation to the evidence that you have just given, you 

have confirmed that you were not involved in the rules package relating 20 

to the University of Canterbury site? 

 

MS SCHRODER:   No, not through its development. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   And if you were asked to put reasons to it, why do you 25 

think, in terms of the rules package, the University of Canterbury was 

missed out from having urban design controls placed on it? 

 

MS SCHRODER:   I am afraid I cannot answer that question, I am not sure. 

 30 

MR CHAPMAN:   Pardon? 

 

MS SCHRODER:   I am not sure as to the reason why that was. 

 

SJH:   Could you just pull the microphone a little in front of you so we get it on 35 

this? 

 

MS SCHRODER:   Sorry, sure. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 40 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Do you know if there is in the Operative Plan any urban 

design controls on the University? 

 

MS SCHRODER:   I believe that in respect to things like building modulation, 45 

no. 
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MR CHAPMAN:   And then I understand that what occurred effectively is you 

went into expert conferencing, correct? 

 

MS SCHRODER:   Yes, that is right. 5 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   And that translated to a site visit. 

 

MS SCHRODER:   Yes, that is true. 

 10 

MR CHAPMAN:  And then you effectively came back and wrote up 

effectively the agreed matters as a result of the site visit, is that correct? 

 

MS SCHRODER:   That is right. 

 15 

MR CHAPMAN:   Yes, and as part of that, at 4.4 which is in your evidence of 

the expert caucusing what I understand you agreed to was that the 

continuous building length should be a matter for control? 

 

  [2.25 pm] 20 

 

MS SCHRODER:   Yes, that is right. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   And am I correct that that kind of rule would say for 

example that if you are building something of a continuous length of 25 

40 metres or whatever you have got to take a step in terms of the way 

the building would be designed? 

 

MS SCHRODER:   There are various ways of actually doing it.  It is not 

necessarily that it is just a step-in plan.  To explain in a little bit more 30 

detail, we have had several plan provisions in relation to the continuous 

building length in the District Plan previously and we still do, that do 

things like have a step-in plan or a step-in height.  The alternative is to 

look for a bit more flexibility and innovation and that is where the 

controlled activity status idea comes in, because it is not really a one 35 

size fits all in terms of the outcome that you achieve often with a 

permitted activity status. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   But you would accept that from that agreed caucusing 

statement where the continuous building length was identified, the rule 40 

that you have come up with in terms of your rebuttal evidence goes 

well beyond simply controlling continuous building length? 

 

MS SCHRODER:   I consider that it has raised a number of points in regard to 

– and I think you touched on it before in terms of the visual quality of 45 

the building.  Yes, so that, and more respect in terms of the assessment 
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matters, that is one way of managing the scale of building from a visual 

perspective. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   It is a complete urban design rule, is it not? 

 5 

MS SCHRODER:   It is more complete, yes. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   When you did your site visit – you will accept there is a lot 

of building going on at the moment at the University? 

 10 

MS SCHRODER:   Yes, there is. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   And did you, in looking at that, come to focus on there 

being, because of what is being built at the moment, that there must be 

an urban design rule? 15 

 

MS SCHRODER:   No, that is not the reason behind it, no. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   So there was nothing inherently bad that you saw in terms 

of what you know of what the University is building at the moment or 20 

what it has built that would cause you to have a ‘my goodness’ moment 

in saying look what bad urban design has occurred here? 

 

MS SCHRODER:   I would agree that I did not need to have one of those 

moments on the campus, however in my role as urban designer with the 25 

Council I have seen most recently, a lot of value engineered buildings 

that end up not having the design qualities that we would probably 

anticipate would be good for a particular environment. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Well we have got a School of Engineering out there, 30 

haven’t we? 

 

MS SCHRODER:   Yes, you do. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Yes, but presumably you are satisfied that the University 35 

will engage urban design and architectural advice, not let the engineers 

loose in terms of building design, effectively? 

 

MS SCHRODER:   I think there is always a risk with that in terms of larger 

scale campuses and not always necessarily following the same 40 

objectives over a longer period of time. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Would you describe that as an academic risk or as a very 

real risk associated with University buildings? 

 45 
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MS SCHRODER:   I think there is a lesser risk with University buildings than 

perhaps for, for example some of what we may have seen on some 

other campus-style developments. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:  So the whole genesis for this rule has been generated 5 

primarily out of your urban design caucusing rather than any particular 

submission that you are directing your attention to cure? 

 

MS SCHRODER:  No, that is not quite right because in looking at the 

modulation of the buildings and looking at the submission of 10 

Mr Carter, I felt that there were steps in plan provided in the notified 

version and Mr Carter had a number of considerations I suppose in 

terms of the impacts in relation to the Dovedale campus and the 

setbacks and the heights of buildings, and I consider that one way of 

actually being able to mitigate some of the issues around that and 15 

maybe to a degree allow some agreement, was to propose a modulation 

or a continuous building length, style rule. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Yes, but your agreed changes to the rules with Mr Jolly 

about the setback issues and the recession planes, that has already cured 20 

that issue, has it not? 

 

  [2.30 pm] 

 

MS SCHRODER:   So in terms of the recession planes, so there was a 25 

combination of, if we remove the steps in height and institute a 

recession plane to simplify the rules there is still the potential for some 

effects, and those effects are around the building modulation.   

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Okay, I am going to turn you to the rule that is in your 30 

rebuttal evidence, it was up on the board a moment ago, controlled 

activity rule.  This is just your proposal in terms of an option to provide 

for an urban design assessment with every building that is over a 

certain scale.  Is that correct? 

 35 

MS SCHRODER:   That is right.  It was just an option to provide to the Panel 

to give them some opportunity. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Do you accept that there could be a range of matters that 

might also deal with these issues by say a limitation on the continuous 40 

building lengths.  It might not deal with it as comprehensively as this 

rule, but it would be within the range? 

 

MS SCHRODER:   As I have noted in my rebuttal there are a range of different 

methods that you could use to address this matter. 45 
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MR CHAPMAN:   And so just I asked some questions of Ms Dixon in relation 

to how she would interpret this rule.  In terms of your mentioning that a 

building has to have visual interest you would expect that visual 

interest can be both negative and positive, in terms of looking at a 

building? 5 

 

MS SCHRODER:   Yes, it can. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   But provided it had visual interest it would pass the test? 

 10 

MS SCHRODER:   One part of the test, yes. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   And then you look at this word “breaking down” the bulk 

and scale of the building, and again I want to know what your reference 

point is, whether it is the 30 metres that one can build as a permitted 15 

activity – is that what you have got to break down a building against 

when you are looking at this test? 

 

MS SCHRODER:   Could you just clarify what you mean by - - - 

 20 

MR CHAPMAN:   Yes.  Look, just say for example we are building a building 

which is 12 metres tall and meets all the other criteria here.  You would 

accept that that building would be caught by this rule? 

 

MS SCHRODER:   Yes, that is right - - - 25 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Yes. 

 

MS SCHRODER:   - - - because it is over 11-metres.  If it was an extensive 

length - - - 30 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Yes, and on the basis that you can build as a permitted 

activity to 30 metres, are you going to assess the scale, in breaking 

down the bulk of the building, against what one can do as of right, a 

permitted activity?  So you are going to look to whether the 12-metre 35 

building breaks down the scale of a 30-metre building?  Is that the way 

you are going to look at it? 

 

MS SCHRODER:   It would be that – so when, and perhaps breaking it down, 

so in terms of it, it would be breaking down the length of the building 40 

as opposed to necessarily the height of the building. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Yes, but all referenced against a scaled of what one can do 

as of right in the zone? 

 45 

MS SCHRODER:   As of right, yes. 
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MR CHAPMAN:   And then in relation to (b), active engagement with the 

street, do you accept the evidence for the University that it is trying to 

develop a campus core and that is trying to focus the buildings around 

that campus core, as a strategy which the University is adopting? 5 

 

MS SCHRODER:   I was not aware of that strategy. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Would it be odd to have to turn a building towards the 

street, to have active engagement with the street, when the University 10 

wants to develop a campus internally? 

 

MS SCHRODER:   In respect to this rule, the purpose of (b) was largely to 

look at Ilam Road.  I would not expect that a building would turn away 

from the core, but I would expect that a building would have some 15 

relationship to the public space of the street. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   “Some relationship” rather than “active engagement”, for 

example? 

 20 

MS SCHRODER:   Preferably active engagement.  That makes for safer 

places. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   And then in the context of a 30-metre building, we have got 

to have human scale promoted, is that right? 25 

 

MS SCHRODER:   Yes. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   So a glass-fronted building which is, I don’t know, six 

storeys high, glass top to bottom, no differentiation between floor 30 

levels, not of human scale presumably? 

 

MS SCHRODER:   No, not – it can be but may not be. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Do you accept that when one has got 16,000 students on 35 

site that having every building having human scale might be rather 

problematic for the University? 

 

MS SCHRODER:   Human scale generally relates to the relationship at the 

ground floor or the first floor level.  It does not relate necessarily to the 40 

full 30 metres up.  It is about what you see or how you relate to a 

building that is directly beside you or across the street from you. 

 

  [2.35 pm] 

 45 

MR CHAPMAN:   Is that just your interpretation of what human scale is? 
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MS SCHRODER:   No, I think it is pretty much a generally accepted 

interpretation of human scale, from an urban design perspective. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   So at ground floor, if it had a door which was of human 5 

scale and effectively a known entranceway, that is going to tick the box 

in terms of human scale? 

 

MS SCHRODER:   That would provide some human scale. 

 10 

MR CHAPMAN:   Do you think it is likely that the University is not going to 

build a building of human scale, so that this needs to be the subject of a 

consent process? 

 

MS SCHRODER:   No, I believe that in likelihood the University at this point 15 

of time, would. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Would do it without this rule? 

 

MS SCHRODER:   Yes. 20 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Thank you.  No further questions. 

 

MS SCHRODER:   Yes, thank you. 

 25 

SJH:   Mr Illingsworth? 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Yes, good afternoon, Mr Schroder. 

 

MS SCHRODER:   Good afternoon. 30 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Just with reference to your proposed controlled 

activity - - - 

 

MS SCHRODER:   Yes? 35 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   - - - could you tell me the degree to which you have 

discussed that with the other submitters at this stage, because it is quite 

late in the process?  Have you got a general agreement to this or is it 

something that you have not had a chance to discuss? 40 

 

MS SCHRODER:   No, we do not general agreement to it.  I have discussed it 

with Mr Jolly, the expert of the University of Canterbury.  We have 

discussed a number of matters in regard to this, a number of ways to 

address this, but do not have agreement on that.   45 
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 In respect to Mr Carter, no, I have not discussed it with Mr Carter.  

This was really identified as a means to provide some direction to the 

Panel.  

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Thank you. 5 

 

SJH:   Mr Daysh? 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, thank you very much, Ms Schroder.  This type of 

controlled activity design provision, is that common through the rest of 10 

the plan or the Operative Plan? 

 

MS SCHRODER:   It is not common through the Operative – it is not in the 

Operative Plan.  It has become more common, I suppose, in the 

Revised Plan, partly because it is sort of seen as a grounds of having 15 

some ability to discuss the design of a building.  So that is where we 

have used it in the Hospital Zone and the reason behind, so that there is 

some measure of control in there.  But no, it is not particularly 

common. 

 20 

MR DAYSH:   But it is similar provision in the Hospital Zone? 

 

MS SCHRODER:   Yes, it is, and that is an agreed provision in the Hospital 

Zone with the CDHB and with the Crown. 

 25 

MR DAYSH:   Okay, and how does the Council deal with this?  Is it with 

inhouse expertise, or do you have a design panel, or who assesses these 

types of design? 

 

MS SCHRODER:   We have a number – so we have an urban design panel, 30 

and so for large scale developments the panel will often provide a 

review.  The review is a voluntary review and it is a non-statutory 

process.  Or we have inhouse urban design expertise within my team. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Okay.  Have you ever processed an outline plan under a 35 

designation? 

 

MS SCHRODER:   Yes, I have.  

 

MR DAYSH:   Would this type of provision be similar to the things you can 40 

look at under an outline plan? 

 

MS SCHRODER:   I think it has some similarities but I think it probably, 

under an outline plan, goes a little bit further than an outline plan? 

 45 

MR DAYSH:   In what sort of way? 



 Page 98 

  

Ch21: Specific Purposes Zones (Stage 2) Commenced 03.11.15 

 

MS SCHRODER:   Well, it depends on exactly what the matters are that you 

can refer to.  The experience that I have had, for example, with schools 

where we have been able to provide feedback on proposals, but 

certainly there is less opportunity to provide conditions of consent as 5 

you can with this rule. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Okay.  Let us look at your rebuttal – sorry, so your rule, 

suggested rule, appears in this latest of the zone provisions? 

 10 

MS SCHRODER:   Yes, it does. 

 

MR DAYSH:   And just to clarify, there is this issue that is not agreed, in terms 

of the experts in your field? 

 15 

MS SCHRODER:   That is right. 

 

  [2.40 pm] 

 

MR DAYSH:   The continuous building length was another area that you 20 

mentioned was not agreed? 

 

MS SCHRODER:   No.  So this is referring to the same proposal - - -  

 

MR DAYSH:   That issue?  Okay. 25 

 

MS SCHRODER:   - - - and the same issue, yes.  So in terms of the expert 

conferencing with Mr Jolly, there was a discussion of how these 

interfaces might work, and this is the controlled activity provision here 

proposed was essentially my version of saying “this is one way that it 30 

could actually be done”. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes.  In your rebuttal evidence you talk about at 3.1, a without 

prejudice meeting, is this the meeting you are referring to as a 

mediation?  I am just interested in a subsequent without prejudice 35 

meeting – what do you mean by that? 

 

MS SCHRODER:   So this is in relation to the Hospital Zone that you are 

speaking about.   

 40 

MR DAYSH:   Okay, that is the Hospital Zone? 

 

MS SCHRODER:   This is not in relation to the Tertiary Education Zone. 

 

MR DAYSH:   All right.  Thank you, that is all I have.   45 
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SJH:   You will be well aware by now of the Statement of Expectation and the 

requirement of clarity of language? 

 

MS SCHRODER:   Yes, I am. 

 5 

SJH:   Visual interest is subjective? 

 

MS SCHRODER:   Yes, it is to a degree. 

 

SJH:   Well what is visually interesting to you is different from what might be 10 

visually interesting to me.   

 

MS SCHRODER:   Yes, that is correct. 

 

SJH:   That is subjective. 15 

 

MS SCHRODER:   Yes, okay.   

 

SJH:   Human scale is subjective? 

 20 

MS SCHRODER:   I don’t consider that human scale is so subjective.   

 

SJH:   So what if my view of human scale is different from yours, as it 

inevitably, being humans, will be? 

 25 

MS SCHRODER:   I think that that, in terms of urban design, there is an 

adopted practice around human scale, and I think there is a pretty 

reasonable understanding of what that means.   

 

SJH:   Amongst urban designers? 30 

 

MS SCHRODER:   Amongst urban designers.  And architects. 

 

SJH:   What does it mean to a lay reader?  It is a subjective term to lay readers, 

isn’t it? 35 

 

MS SCHRODER:   Yes, As with probably many of the urban design 

terminology. 

 

SJH:   Active engagement is subjective? 40 

 

MS SCHRODER:   I don’t consider so, but maybe to a layperson, yes. 

 

SJH:   Who is the plan for? 

 45 
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MS SCHRODER:   I think the plan is for all of us.  So I think it is for the 

community.   

 

SJH:   Most of whom are laypeople? 

 5 

MS SCHRODER:   Yes, they are.  Generally when we are looking at 

development, particularly of this scale, there will be a range of experts, 

however, involved.   

 

SJH:   All right, thank you.  Mr Chapman, anything arising? 10 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   No, sir. 

 

SJH:   Ms Scott? 

 15 

MS SCOTT:   No, thank you, sir.   

 

SJH:   Thank you, Ms Schroder, you may stand down.   

 

MS SCHRODER:   Okay. 20 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [2.43 pm] 

 

SJH:   Ms O’Brien is no longer being called because there is no cross-

examination, so that is your case?   25 

 

MS SCOTT:   That is the Council’s case, sir.   

 

SJH:   Thank you, Ms Scott.   

 30 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Yes, Mr Allen? 

 

MR ALLEN:   Thank you, sir.  Now, sir, has the Panel had an opportunity to 35 

read the Crown’s opening submissions? 

 

SJH:   We have, if you would care to speak to it.   

 

MR ALLEN:   I will do just very briefly, sir, and then I think I will answer any 40 

questions from the Panel and then we will get the witnesses underway.   

 

 In terms of some issues that have come up this morning that may need 

to be clarified, the first point I would like to make actually is there has 

been a lot of agreement between the Crown and the Council and the 45 

experts have worked to achieve that agreement. 
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SIR HANSEN:   We note that, and it is a very good outcome.   

 

MR ALLEN:   And from this morning’s discussions some further clarification 

may have to be made to some of the provisions just to tweak some of 5 

the matters that the Panel has raised with various witnesses, so the 

Crown is happy to work with the Council as necessary on that.   

 

SIR HANSEN:   Thank you.   

 10 

MR ALLEN:   The next point moving first to Defence Wigram and this is at 

paragraph 19 and 20 of the opening submission, so skipping right 

through to there.  There has been discussions this morning with 

Ms Carter in relation to the setback issue and the scope matter in 

respect of that.   15 

 

 From the Crown’s perspective set out there the issue is, as I understand 

it on behalf of the Council, is there a real risk that a neighbour may 

have submitted had they known there was a 10 metre or 6 metre 

setback.   20 

 

  [2.45 pm] 

 

 One matter that is not in the legal submissions at paragraph 20, but is 

relevant, and it relates to the Panel’s discussion so far today about this 25 

sort of tiered approach, is for the Defence Wigram site the top tier is 

the designation.  The designation has no setback, therefore it is 

submitted that the opportunity for a neighbour to think a 10 metre 

setback in the Special Purpose Zone versus a 6 metre setback may be a 

matter that gives them a real risk that they may have submitted on, is in 30 

the Crown’s position not a tenable one given the no setback 

requirement of the designation.  So just would like to add that clarifier 

to those two paragraphs.   

 

 Then moving on to actually the only other matter, and it is right 35 

through to the Cemetery Zone from paragraph 57 of the opening 

submissions.  First up we have discussed this morning, or the council’s 

witnesses have discussed and the Panel has, the policy versus a note or 

a rule et cetera.  Unless the Panel has got any questions on that I don’t 

proposed to dwell on it.  Of course, the Crown’s witness on that point, 40 

Ms Hickey, can address any questions from the Panel. 

 

 Again, over the page at paragraph 64 there is this issue about, and the 

Panel explored it, about Scope again.  In the Crown’s submission the 

approach taken by the Council in this matter is a very pure and strict 45 

approach and the Crown considers that its submission point does fairly 
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and reasonably raise the issue and that it does address a change to the 

pre-existing status quo and does not create a real risk that persons 

directly or potentially directly affected will be denied an effective 

response.   

 5 

 And, sir, on that basis, unless there are questions from the Panel, I have 

got one question, if I may, sir, in relation to closings and timing of 

closings, and then the Crown will call its first witness. 

 

SJH:   All right.  No, not at this stage.  The question around closings? 10 

 

MR ALLEN:   Sir, there was an email from the secretariat about closings being 

due 5.00 pm tomorrow.  With respect, the Crown would like a little bit 

more time to prepare a written closing.  The Crown does not propose to 

give an oral closing, but as the Panel had earlier directed these opening 15 

submissions quite brief and succinct with more fulsome closing 

provided - - -  

 

SJH:   We will deal with it when we get to where we get to with the evidence 

tomorrow, but we will stage it in the normal way where we give the 20 

submitters the opportunity with the Council responding.   

 

MR ALLEN:   Thank you, sir.  And I was thinking that there may be points for 

discussion with the council too.   

 25 

SJH:   Yes. 

 

MR ALLEN:   Thank you.  Well, sir, on that basis I will hand over to 

Ms Bazalo and we will get on with the Crown’s witnesses. 

 30 

SJH:   Thank you.   
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<MANEA AWHI SWEENEY, affirmed [2.48 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS BAZALO [2.48 pm] 

 

MS BAZALO:   Can you please confirm for the Panel that your full name is 

Manea Awhi Sweeney? 

 5 

MS SWEENEY:   Yes, it is.   

 

MS BAZALO:   And that you have prepared a statement of evidence for this 

hearing dated 15 September 2015? 

 10 

MS SWEENEY:   I have. 

 

MS BAZALO:   And that you have the qualifications and experience as set out 

in that statement of evidence? 

 15 

MS SWEENEY:   I do.   

 

MS BAZALO:   Do you have any changes or amendments to that statement? 

 

MS SWEENEY:   No, I don’t.   20 

 

MS BAZALO:   Can you confirm please that your statement is true and correct 

to the best of your knowledge? 

 

MS SWEENEY:   Yes. 25 

 

MS BAZALO:   And I understand you have prepared a brief summary in 

relation to this hearing, so could you please read that out and then 

remain to answer any questions from the Panel. 

 30 

MS SWEENEY:   Good afternoon.  My evidence relates to the Specific 

Purpose Defence Wigram Zone.  Since the circulation of my evidence I 

have undertaken informal discussions with Ms Carter, the Council, and 

we have reached agreement on the majority of the Crown’s submission 

points.   35 

 

 As you have heard earlier, there is one outstanding issue relating to the 

including of a note under Rule 21.1.2 to avoid confusion in the event of 

an overlap of matters in other chapters of the plan.   

 40 

  [2.50 pm] 

 

 In my evidence I address the need for such a note, to also provide 

certainty to NZDF for development of the Replacement Plan 

progresses. 45 
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 Ms Carter identifies in her rebuttal evidence that Council has 

subsequently undertaken a comprehensive review of proposal 6, with 

the drafter of that proposal, to identify double-ups of those provisions.  

In this respect these largely relate to noise.  I wish to acknowledge that 

this has been very helpful.  I consider however that in note, as proposed 5 

in the amended version of the provisions attached to my evidence-in-

chief, would still be helpful to the users of the Plan, when matters of 

conflict between provisions arise. 

 

 I would like to note that should the Panel decide that this matter should 10 

be included in the Panel’s proposed wash up at the end of this process, 

I would be please to work with Ms Carter to identify all matters that 

may result in an overlap so that these could be addressed in that way. 

 

 Finally, following discussions with Ms Carter, as you heard, we have 15 

also agreed on that six metre setback from any other boundary other 

than a road boundary under rule 21.1.2.35, is appropriate. 

 

 Thank you. 

 20 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Scott? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS SCOTT [2.51 pm] 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, sir, good afternoon.  Ms Sweeney, so just this minor 25 

issue that remains outstanding, about providing direction as to the other 

parts of the Replacement District Plan which apply to the Defence 

Wigram zone, your primary concern is that the general rules are yet to 

be heard, is that correct? 

 30 

MS SWEENEY:   The general rules and other proposals which might have 

provisions in them that are yet to come before the Panel. 

 

MS SCOTT:   For example the Natural Hazards Chapter? 

 35 

MS SWEENEY:   Natural Hazards and Heritage, I believe. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Okay, and would you agree with me that it is a better planning 

outcome that double ups or duplications are removed from the 

Replacement District Plan? 40 

 

MS SWEENEY:   It would certainly be good to address double ups through 

this plan process. 

 

MS SCOTT:   And you referred to Ms Carter’s rebuttal evidence where she had 45 

worked with the chapter leaders for the general rules, and I understand 



 Page 106 

  

Ch21: Specific Purposes Zones (Stage 2) Commenced 03.11.15 

you accept that those changes she has outlined in her attachment 

resolve your concerns for the general rules? 

 

MS SWEENEY:   Certainly the work that has been done on Chapter 6 today 

has been really useful and I think we have canvassed the matters there.  5 

I am concern that there is still some uncertainty that might lie in terms 

of what submissions might come up during that process or other 

provisions and the uncertainty that lies in that process. 

 

MS SCOTT:   The Crown has not sought this text elsewhere in the plan has it? 10 

 

MS SWEENEY:   The Defence Force has not, no. 

 

MS SCOTT:   The Defence Force has not, so – and the Defence Force sitting 

under the Crown’s submission as a whole, a consistent approach has 15 

not been taken to requesting this text, you agree with that? 

 

MS SWEENEY:   I am not aware of the Crown raising this elsewhere. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Did you speak with any of the other Crown planners who have 20 

provided evidence on the need for this text for the other – in the other 

zones? 

 

MS SWEENEY:   Not directly on this matter, no. 

 25 

MS SCOTT:   No further questions, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Illingsworth? 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   I think my questions have been asked, thank you. 30 

 

SJH:   Mr Daysh? 

 

MR DAYSH:   I would just like to talk to you about your proposed note, I 

think page 8 of your evidence, is that right, Ms Sweeney? 35 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   9.4. 

 

MS SWEENEY:   Yes, that is right – the notes actually shown on page 9. 

 40 

MR DAYSH:   Page 9. 

 

MS SWEENEY:   The very top of. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Were you here when Ms Carter talked about her problems with 45 

this, she thought it was probably more of a rule rather than a note and 
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she said that she had a, in principle, concern about this type of 

provision, but when we asked her about actually what she was worried 

about, do you have the same sorts of concerns? 

 

MS SWEENEY:   I do not have a concern with this notation being a rule either, 5 

I think that a rule would be an appropriate mechanism to deal with this 

overlap. 

 

 I guess it is really there in the event that there is a conflict, to 

emphasise that there is conflict with other sections of the plan, not with 10 

the intention to override as I heard Ms Carter say, I think at some point 

it is not the intention to have a statement in this to override other 

general provisions. 

 

MR DAYSH:   And you have told us in the introduction that you are interested 15 

in working with Ms Carter and the Council about dealing with this in a 

more comprehensive way, how do you suggest that is done in terms of 

the series of hearings and proposals being heard one-by-one and – how 

would you do it as a planner, would you do it right at the end and come 

with some suggestions, or? 20 

 

  [2.55 pm] 

 

MS SWEENEY:   I note that the Defence Force specifically is it not a 

submitter on every aspect that is coming before the Panel, and there is 25 

potential that there might be provisions that come up through others 

that have the ability to conflict with the provisions that sit in this zone.  

So it would be problematic not being in that process as each proposal 

comes up.  So the ability to address things at the tail end of it will be an 

appropriate way to revisit that there is not been any conflict that has 30 

come up through the process. 

 

 I am not sure if that specifically is - - -  

 

MR DAYSH:   It is a plan integration issue which is always quite a tricky 35 

practitioner issue when you are looking at these plans and decisions 

being made and - - -  

 

MS SWEENEY:   Yes, it is.  I have certainly seen notations or “advice notes” 

as they are sometimes called or even “explanation notes” as they are 40 

used in the Auckland Operative District Plans for Isthmus and Marko 

sections, there are plenty of examples that sit out there where notes to 

this effect have been applied to try and prevent that.  So I do believe 

that it is a planning mechanism that has been applied in plenty of other 

plans around the country. 45 
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MR DAYSH:   Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Accepting that, is not the better course that the Council and submitters 

stay alert as we go through chapter by chapter or bit chapter by bit 

chapter, and advise the Panel of potential conflicts so we can resolve 5 

them and we have an integrated plan at the end? 

 

MS SWEENEY:   Yes, that is certainly one way of going about it. 

 

SJH:   Is that not the preferable way?  You are scared something will slip 10 

through the cracks, is that the fear?  Because one would not 

deliberately have provisions that conflicted with the - - -  

 

MS SWEENEY:   No, I am sure. 

 15 

SJH:   Unless for some very valid reason it was a conscious decision, and I 

cannot think of one of the top of my head. 

 

MS SWEENEY:   No, I guess an example might be in the transport section, 

there might be additional provisions that come up that conflict with a 20 

temporary activity and that might be undertaken on Defence Wigram, 

but again there would be the opportunity for Council – sorry, Defence 

and the Crown to be involved in that proposal.  I am not aware of 

Defence being a submitter on that proposal. 

 25 

SJH:   All right, thank you. 

 

 Anything arising, Ms Scott? 

 

MS SCOTT:   No, thank you, sir. 30 

 

SJH:   Ms Bazalo? 

 

MS BAZALO:   No further questions, thank you. 

 35 

SJH:   Thank you, you may stand down. 

 

MS SWEENEY:   Thank you. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [2.58 pm] 40 

 

SJH:   Yes, Ms Bazalo. 
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<MATTHEW McCALLUM-CLARK, affirmed [2.58 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS BAZALO [2.58 pm] 

 

MS BAZALO:   Can you please confirm that your full name is Matthew Eaton 

McCallum-Clark? 

 5 

MR McCALLUM-CLARK:   It is Matthew Eaton Arthur McCallum-Clark. 

 

MS BAZALO:   Thank you, Matthew Eaton Arthur McCallum-Clark, and that 

you have prepared a statement of evidence for this hearing, dated 15 

September 2015? 10 

 

MR McCALLUM-CLARK:   I have. 

 

MS BAZALO:   And that you have the qualifications and experience as set out 

in that statement? 15 

 

MR McCALLUM-CLARK:   I do. 

 

MS BAZALO:   Do you have any changes or amendments to that statement 

that you would like to make? 20 

 

MR McCALLUM-CLARK:   No changes. 

 

MS BAZALO:   Can you please confirm that your statement is true and correct 

to the best of your knowledge? 25 

 

MR McCALLUM-CLARK:   I do. 

 

MS BAZALO:   And I understand you have prepared a brief summary of your 

statement in relation to this hearing, could you please read that and 30 

remain to answer any questions. 

 

MR McCALLUM-CLARK:   Thank you.  This summary is of planning 

evidence lodged on behalf of the Crown, and the Ministry of Education 

in particular, on proposal 21.6 in relation to the Specific Purpose 35 

School Zone and associated planning maps of the Christchurch 

Replacement Plan. 

 

 My evidence is brief and focuses on the Specific Purpose School Zone 

which is of specific interest to the Ministry of Education.  I rely on the 40 

evidence of David Hoburn of the Ministry of Education, who presented 

evidence to the Strategic Directions hearing early this year in relation 

to the importance of education facilities and their role in the 

community and the considerable investment in the rebuild and repair of 

education facilities. 45 
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  [3.00 pm] 

 

 Agreement has been reached between the Council and the Crown on a 

number of matters of interest to the Ministry of Education.  These 

agreements are recorded in the City Council’s revision of the proposal 5 

21.6, as attached to Ms Glenda Dixon’s rebuttal evidence and served on 

6 October this year. 

 

 There are a small number of matters where I consider there remains the 

opportunity to more effectively and efficiently provide for the range of 10 

activities that could be undertaken on school sites, in particular, default 

noncomplying activity status for unforeseen activities at my paragraph 

4.4. 

 

 At the time of preparing my evidence, I had been under the impression 15 

that there was a matter of consistency with other chapters that needed 

to be continued.  Ms Dixon’s rebuttal evidence confirms that this is not 

the case. 

 

 I maintain my view that a default status for activities not otherwise 20 

provided for more appropriate as a discretionary activity rather than as 

a noncomplying activity, with the consequent application of the 

threshold test under section 104 (INDISTINCT 1.32) of the RMA. 

 

 In particular, I do not consider there to be any resource management 25 

justification as to why unforeseen activities at schools should be 

noncomplying activities. 

 

 Finally, I note that Ms Dixon and I agree on the relevant zone boundary 

changes that ought to occur with respect to six Ministry of Education 30 

school sites.  Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Scott? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS SCOTT [3.02 pm] 35 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, sir.  Good afternoon, Mr McCallum-Clark.  My 

questions are just focused on the default activity status, noncomplying 

or discretionary.  What has been referred to the three-tier approach by 

the hearings Panel, we have the school zoning, the alternative zoning as 40 

is listed in the table in the appendices, in 21.64 of the chapter, and then 

of course there is the designation as well.  So when I talk about the 

three-tier approach, you understand that is what I am referring to? 

 

 And your evidence on this matter is limited to paragraph 4.4 of your 45 

written evidence.  I have not been able to identify what specific 
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activities you are anticipating might fall under the default rule when 

you take the view that you do at paragraph 4.4.  Have you given any 

consideration to what activities are missing from the three-tier 

approach? 

 5 

MR McCALLUM-CLARK:   When I tried to run some scenarios through this 

rule regime, it occurred to me that Ms Dixon’s view that noncomplying 

activity status was appropriate to capture these kinds of activities when 

the residential alternative zoning provisions were considered.  To me it 

appeared that most of these – or these activities would fall through to 10 

that discretionary activity status under those Residential Zone rules, as 

sort of the catchall, and then we would end up with a conflict in 

position between the Special Purpose Zone that had a default 

noncomplying and that residential type – typically residential 

alternative zone that would have discretionary activity status, and that 15 

is my conclusion, why I maintain the view that discretionary activity 

status here would be a better approach. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Okay.  What are the types of activities that are not anticipated by 

the School Zone rules, the underlying alternatives zones, which is 20 

usually Residential, that might fall within this default rule?  Have you 

given thought to that? 

 

MR McCALLUM-CLARK:   I tried to come up with some but I am struggling 

to come up with some because they fall through to that default 25 

discretionary status under the Residential Zone rules. 

 

MS SCOTT:   So there is uncertainty as to what you are recommending might 

become a discretionary activity in the zone? 

 30 

MR McCALLUM-CLARK:   Sorry, can you repeat the question? 

 

MS SCOTT:   There is uncertainty, because you cannot provide the list of 

activities that is not already anticipated, as to what might fall to that 

default rule. 35 

 

  [3.05 pm] 

 

MR McCALLUM-CLARK:  I think the uncertainty is coming through 

potentially having two activity statuses for the same activity. 40 

 

MS SCOTT:  Is it not a better planning approach to create certainty by 

identifying those activities that are not already included in the chapter, 

and by allocating them in an appropriate activity status? 

 45 
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MR McCALLUM-CLARK:   The structure of the rule that we are talking 

about is about those activities that are not otherwise identified, so by its 

very nature we do not know what they are. 

 

MS SCOTT:   No further questions, sir. 5 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Illingsworth? 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   No questions. 

 10 

SJH:   Mr Daysh? 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, I just want to explore that a little bit more.  Are you saying 

– I am not familiar with the Residential Chapter, I will preface my 

questions with that – are you saying that in the Residential Zone that 15 

there is no default non-complying status when you do not meet 

permitted discretionary, restricted discretionary activities? 

 

MR McCALLUM-CLARK:  The version of the Residential rules I am 

referring to is the ones that were attached to the Council’s closing legal 20 

submissions which I understand are the final track changes version that 

are circulating, and in the activity tables the discretionary activities as 

D1, which is on page 44, is any activity not provided as a permitted, 

controlled, restricted discretionary, non-complying or prohibited 

activity. 25 

 

 So it sets that default for anything else I would think, as a discretionary 

activity. 

 

MR DAYSH:   There is quite an unusual cascade.  Normally the cascade goes 30 

through a table and ends with non-complying and picks up matters that 

are not anticipated or enabled specifically in the zone as something 

unusual that you might anticipate or enable is the word that I would 

use. 

 35 

MR McCALLUM-CLARK:   There is a list of non-complying activities which 

by their nature appear to be the things that are discouraged in the 

Residential Zones.  But that default activity status for anything else was 

originally as notified, was listed in the non-complying activities, 

however it states here that the change was made and it is noted cross 40 

examination of Mr Blair transcript, page 267, lines 1 to 9, so that was 

the outcome of that hearing sought. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, but we are not dealing with the Residential Zone here, are 

we, in terms of this zone?  So this zone is designed around school 45 

provisions, school activities. 
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MR McCALLUM-CLARK:   Yes, sir. 

 

MR DAYSH:   And so we have got things that you anticipate would be 

permitted and there are some discretionary activities and in this zone if 5 

you are not doing school-type things you need to get a non-complying 

consent.  Do you think that is a reasonable cascade for this, a specialist 

zone like this? 

 

MR McCALLUM-CLARK:   There are two parts to that answer, and my 10 

answer to that.  In my view there are a range of activities that are 

occurring or may occur on school sites in terms of shared use of 

facilities, whether they are private, public partnerships, various 

situations like that which may well fall through to a non-complying 

activity status, if that was the intention to have a catch-all for 15 

unforeseen things, that would fall through to non-complying. 

 

 However it is my interpretation of the way that these rules work that 

D3 on page 5 of Ms Dixon’s final version there, those kinds of 

activities would go through this pathway through to that alternative 20 

Residential Zone rule where everything else is a discretionary activity. 

 

MR DAYSH:   So this is this three-tier, this is the alternative zone, how the 

plan deals with that?  You are pointing out that if you went down the 

Residential alternative zone you would be discretionary as a default? 25 

 

MR McCALLUM-CLARK:   Yes, sir.   

 

MR DAYSH:   But because the way this is ruled, residential type things in this 

zone would be noncomplying, which is inconsistent?  Is that the way I 30 

am reading your - - - 

 

MR McCALLUM-CLARK:   Well, yes.  In my view on it, from a planning 

point of view, discretionary is an appropriate activity status, rather than 

noncomplying.  But in any event, because of the way these rules have 35 

been constructed, we end up at that discretionary status anyway, in 

which case the noncomplying rule here is somewhat redundant. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Okay, thank you. 

 40 

SJH:   Anything arising, Ms Scott? 

 

MS SCOTT:   No, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 45 
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MS BAZALO:   No, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Mr McCallum-Clark, you may stand down. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [3.10 pm] 5 

 

SJH:   Yes? 

 

MS BAZALO:   Sir, I see we are down for an afternoon break at 3.00 pm.  Do 

you want – shall we continue - - - 10 

 

SJH:   No, we will take another witness before that break, thank you. 

 

MS BAZALO:   Cool.  Thank you. 

 15 

MR CHAPMAN:   Sir, just while that witness is taking the chair, I just sort of 

signalled that with my last witness of the day, Mr Jolly, has got 

commitments tomorrow, he has got running a workshop for eight to 10 

people, so I will forgo doing my opening, potentially, or - - - 

 20 

SJH:   Yes, I think, of the witnesses to come, I think Ms McLeod, Mr Flowers, 

Mr Owen have no questions, so they will not be called. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Yes. 

 25 

SJH:   Mr Carr is sort of a replacement, but I do not believe there are any 

questions of that replacement either, so there is no need to call that.   

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Yes.  Sorry, I was not aware of that. 

 30 

SJH:   So I do not think it will be time issue. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Yes, thank you, sir. 

 

35 
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<WENDY SARAH HICKEY, affirmed [3.12 pm] 



 Page 117 

  

Ch21: Specific Purposes Zones (Stage 2) Commenced 03.11.15 

<EXAMINATION BY MS BAZALO [3.12 pm] 

 

MS BAZALO:   Would you please confirm for the Panel that your full name is 

Wendy Sarah Hickey? 

 5 

MS HICKEY:   Yes, it is. 

 

MS BAZALO:   And that you have prepared a statement of evidence for this 

hearing, dated 15 September 2015? 

 10 

MS HICKEY:   Yes. 

 

MS BAZALO:   And that you have the qualifications and experience as set out 

in that evidence? 

 15 

MS HICKEY:   Yes. 

 

MS BAZALO:   Do you have any changes or amendments to that evidence that 

you would like to make? 

 20 

MS HICKEY:   No, I do not. 

 

MS BAZALO:   Could you please confirm that your statement is true and 

correct to the best of your knowledge? 

 25 

MS HICKEY:   Yes, I can. 

 

MS BAZALO:   And I understand you have prepared a brief summary of your 

evidence in relation to this hearing.  Could you please provide that 

summary to the Panel and remain to answer any questions? 30 

 

MS HICKEY:   Yes.  Good afternoon.  My evidence relates to the Specific 

Purpose (Cemetery) Zone.  The Crown’s submissions points have 

largely been met, with the only outstanding issue relating to the 

comprehensive consent approach, which has been adopted by the 35 

Council as an advice note. 

 

 In my evidence, I address the need for a policy rather than using other 

methods, such as rules or advice notes.  I consider that a policy is the 

most appropriate way to implement objective 3.3.2 as set out in the 40 

Strategic Directions chapter, which sets clear expectation that 

objectives and policies should clearly state the outcome intended.  I do 

not think an advice note will achieve this. 
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 Mr Eman in his rebuttal evidence states that by including such a policy 

would imply that the need for a comprehensive consent is of particular 

importance in a Cemetery Zone and less so in other zones.   

 

 I acknowledge that other proposals in the Replacement Plan do not 5 

have such a similar policy.  However, the cemetery and its zone, as 

notified, included a specific rule requiring a comprehensive consent to 

be undertaken, which the Crown responded to in its submission. 

 

 Now that decision has been made on the Strategic Directions chapter, I 10 

consider that a policy is the most appropriate way to achieve objective 

3.3.2, rather than a rule.   

 

 Additionally, the use of a policy will allow the processing planner to 

have some discretion as to whether or not a comprehensive consent, 15 

including joint hearings, should be undertaken.  A rule would not allow 

the planner to have the same discretion. 

 

 Further to this, I acknowledge that Section 102 of that deals with joint 

hearings, and I have considered leaving the words “joint hearing” out 20 

of the policy proposed in my evidence.   

 

  [3.15 pm] 

 

 However I consider that the joint hearings form part of the 25 

comprehensive consent approach and the use of a policy will allow the 

planner to use their discretion to determine if a joint hearing is 

appropriate or not.  Therefore I do not think that this removes the 

discretion contained within section 102 for the Council to determine 

whether or not a joint hearing is necessary.   30 

 

 Mr Eman in his rebuttal evidence also considers that using such a 

policy will not reduce transaction costs.  I consider that if a cemetery 

operator considers all works across various cemeteries is needed in the 

foreseeable future then the consents could be applied for together 35 

therefore reducing transaction costs.  Transaction costs could also be 

reduced by holding a joint hearing.  Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Scott? 

 40 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS SCOTT [3.16 pm] 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, good afternoon, Ms Hickey.  Just to confirm you are 

providing the evidence for the Crown as a whole, is that correct, not for 

one of the departments sitting underneath the Crown’s submission? 45 

 



 Page 119 

  

Ch21: Specific Purposes Zones (Stage 2) Commenced 03.11.15 

MS HICKEY:   No, for the Crown, yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you.  And just so that we have some certainty on what 

has been agreed about this issue, in terms of notified 21.2.2.1, there has 

been agreement that C, which refers to the comprehensive consent 5 

process, that it should not be a rule, is that your understanding? 

 

MS HICKEY:   Yes, that is my understanding. 

 

MS SCOTT:   And there has also been agreement that the definition of 10 

comprehensive consent be deleted primarily because it is no longer 

required because of course C has been deleted? 

 

MS HICKEY:   Yes, I don’t support the definition. 

 15 

MS SCOTT:   Okay.  And we are agreed that integrated planning is a good 

outcome just to confirm that? 

 

MS HICKEY:   Yes, correct. 

 20 

MS SCOTT:   Okay, so the policy that you have recommended, the policy 

itself doesn’t create a requirement to make applicants cover multiple 

consents, does it? 

 

MS HICKEY:   No. 25 

 

MS SCOTT:   And you say in your evidence, and I am referring to 

paragraph 6.4, that you have considered the most appropriate method to 

address instances where consents are triggered in Regional and District 

Council plans and in the NES and that you have landed on the policy as 30 

the most appropriate method, is that correct? 

 

MS HICKEY:   Yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Okay, because there is no specific rule that triggers 35 

consideration of that policy, do you not consider that the policy creates 

some uncertainty or confusion? 

 

MS HICKEY:   No, I consider that the policy provides direction on what to do 

if there are instances where multiple consents are required. 40 

 

MS SCOTT:   Okay, in terms of it being a process obviously?  

 

MS HICKEY:   Yes. 

 45 

MS SCOTT:   But a policy on its own cannot reduce transaction costs, can it? 
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MS HICKEY:   I think that, well, the policy provides direction on what to do if 

multiple consents are required so therefore it encourages people to 

lodge various consents together rather than separately.   

 5 

MS SCOTT:   And there are no restricted discretionary matters of discretion 

that include consideration of whether other consents may be required? 

 

MS HICKEY:   No, there is not. 

 10 

MS SCOTT:   Okay, just turning to other zones, have you given some thought 

as to other zones in the plan where such a policy might be relevant 

because of the activities anticipated in that zone? 

 

MS HICKEY:   I haven’t been involved in any other proposals for other zones 15 

but I am aware that there are other zones that contain similar link notes.  

I think the subdivision probably will. 

 

MS SCOTT:   The Rural Quarry zone comes to mind where discharges to air 

and water et cetera are likely to be triggered in terms of Environment 20 

Canterbury’s plans, would you - - - 

 

MS HICKEY:   Yes, they are.   

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, and have you considered where the issue of applying for 25 

related consents together might be more relevant in a zone such as the 

Rural Quarry zone? 

 

MS HICKEY:   I am not involved in the Rural Quarry zone for hearing the 

submission on that but that is still to be heard in a couple of weeks’ 30 

time. 

 

MS SCOTT:   And the Crown hasn’t made a submission asking for this type of 

policy to be included in any other zone, has it? 

 35 

MS HICKEY:   Not that I am aware of, no. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Are you aware about why it is focused in on the Cemetery zone? 

 

MS HICKEY:   The reason why the submission specifically focused on the rule 40 

itself so that triggered the concern for the submission point relating to 

comprehensive consent and – yes. 

 

  [3.20 pm] 

 45 
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MS SCOTT:   Do you hold a concern that having a policy in this one particular 

zone raises the importance of it over and above every other zone type 

in the proposal, sorry in the Plan? 

 

MS HICKEY:   No, given that a decision has now been made on the Strategic 5 

Directions Chapter which provides clear expectation about including 

objectives and policies that have a clear outcome. 

 

MS SCOTT:   So in your view a need for comprehensive consents and an 

approach towards them is more important in the Cemetery Zone than 10 

the other zones in the Plan? 

 

MS HICKEY:   Well I have not been involved in the other zones.  I was not 

involved in the submission points there. 

 15 

MS SCOTT:  Would you accept that that could be, in a reasonable 

interpretation if the policy is just included in this one zone? 

 

MS HICKEY:   No, I do not think it is. 

 20 

MS SCOTT:   Okay, no further questions, sir. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:  Ms Hickey, is it your submission that a 

comprehensive consent approach must be taken at all times or most of 

the time or just in specific applications, with the Cemetery Zone? 25 

 

MS HICKEY:   So it would be where more than one consent is required, for 

various different activities. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   So if for instance there were two consents required, 30 

in general more consent would be required in the Cemetery Zone itself, 

that would not necessarily have to be included.  You are just saying that 

if you are making an application there are two consents required, it 

would be a comprehensive approach? 

 35 

MS HICKEY:   That is correct, yes. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Mr Daysh? 40 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, thank you, Ms Hickey.  Have you been involved for a 

client or parties that are seeking to do a project or a building activity 

that require more than one consent, yourself? 

 45 

MS HICKEY:   No, I have not. 



 Page 122 

  

Ch21: Specific Purposes Zones (Stage 2) Commenced 03.11.15 

 

MR DAYSH:   Would you think it would be reasonable to think that if you 

were doing a project, let us call it a project, it would be efficient to 

bundle up your consents in district and regional and lodge them as one 

single proposal? 5 

 

MS HICKEY:   Yes, I do, yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   So as a matter of practise, that would be the normal course of 

someone bring a proposal or a project to a council for consent? 10 

 

MS HICKEY:   Yes, I think so, yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   So why in your opinion do you think, when you have policy to 

state the obvious that that is an appropriate, practical normal thing to 15 

do? 

 

MS HICKEY:   Just the intention was that it would provide clear direction and 

that I did not think a note would achieve that.  I thought a policy has 

more weight than a note itself which would not have as much weight. 20 

 

MR DAYSH:   So given that fact that we have heard that the comprehensive 

consent idea as a rule is gone, it is not in the proposed provisions from 

the Council, and the Crown I think saw it as an alternative, they did not 

like that being a rule, so they saw it as an alternative, which would be a 25 

policy.  Given that is the case, why in your opinion is that type of 

policy appropriate for this particular zone as opposed to other Special 

Purpose Zones or other zones throughout the Plan?  What is unique 

about the Cemetery or the type of activities that would make it 

especially important for this Special Purpose Zone? 30 

 

MS HICKEY:   I think it is something that could have been addressed in other 

proposals but it has not been to date, and it was specifically the 

inclusion of a rule that sort of flagged to the Crown a concern and 

through me picking up this proposal, I thought a better alternative 35 

approach to the rule was a policy.  But I do think now that we have a 

decision on the Strategic Directions Chapter, that that is something that 

could be considered across all other proposals. 

 

MR DAYSH:   But if it has not been asked for in a submission you could not 40 

apply it across the rest of the Plan, could you? 

 

MS HICKEY:   No, that is correct, yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Thank you. 45 
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SJH:   Just following on, put aside the Cemetery Special Purpose Zone and 

given, Ms Scott, I think you have conceded that integrated planning is 

the best approach, would it not be sensible at some stage, and it may 

not be possible unless we use our wrap-up powers, to provide that 

where there are multiple applications, or consents, required from one 5 

authority, or two or more required from local and regional authorities, 

that there is simply one application and joint hearings unless for some 

reason section 102 applied?  Across the board? 

 

  [3.25 pm] 10 

 

MS HICKEY:   So you ask if that is a good approach, is that? 

 

SJH:   Yes, leaving aside the Cemetery Zone, I mean you have not asked in 

other zones and you have been cross examined and criticised on that 15 

and you go back to the Strategic Direction where we made it quite 

plain.  In hindsight, should we not have been looking at this right 

across? 

 

MS HICKEY:   Yes, I think it is a good approach across all chapters, yes. 20 

 

SJH:   Okay, anything arising, Ms Scott? 

 

MS SCOTT:   No, sir. 

 25 

SJH:   Ms Bazalo? 

 

MS BAZALO:   No, sir. 

 

SJH:   You can stand down. 30 

 

MS HICKEY:   Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  I think that is worth just giving some consideration to.  We 

have got bogged down on it but how we frame it, whether it is joint or 35 

comprehensive or whatever, everyone agrees integrated approach is a 

good approach, it is just quite how we do it I think that some 

consideration should be - - -  

 

MS SCOTT:   Absolutely, sir.  The Council does not oppose that at all. 40 

 

SJH:   No, no, I did not think anyone opposed it in principle - - - 

 

MS SCOTT:   But there is concern with placing just within this one chapter. 

 45 
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SJH:   - - - yes, and that would wrong, but this is quite how we did it.  Okay, 

thank you. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, sir. 

 5 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [3.26 pm] 

 

SJH:   The next witness, Ms Kelly, was on Hospital Zones and I think you 

withdrew your application to cross examination? 

 10 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, sir. 

 

SJH:   Yes.  So that is your case. 

 

MR ALLEN:   Yes, thank you, sir, and sir, with your leave I will not be present 15 

tomorrow but Mr Bazalo will be. 

 

SJH:   No, that is fine, Mr Allen. 

 

MR ALLEN:   Thank you, sir. 20 

 

SJH:   All right, Mr Chapman, we will take a break for 15 minutes and you can 

open and then call Mr Jolly, thank you. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Thank you. 25 

 

ADJOURNED [3.27 pm] 

 

RESUMED [3.42 pm] 

 30 

SJH:   Thank you.  Yes, Mr Chapman? 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Sir, I have pre-circulated my opening submissions, I don’t 

intend to read them, I simply want to make a few pointers both from 

some of the discussion that has been occurring this morning and in 35 

relation to the witnesses’ position.   

 

 So the first point I wish to make is that, as I think many counsel have 

said, the issues before you today are about tinkering around the edges.  

The University is entirely comfortable with the overall zoning and is 40 

indeed appreciative that a Special Purpose Tertiary education zone 

forms part of this plan. 

 

 The issue for the University is more about very specific issues on the 

ones that we have traversed; urban design, car parking, zone boundary 45 

interface issues.  The University’s position is that it has been a long-
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standing owner of the site and developer of the site and that it wants to 

eliminate rules which it perceives as unnecessary, having regard to both 

its track record and the fact that it will continue to be a single owner of 

the overall University site. 

 5 

 So that probably brings me to the issue of the definitional issues about 

site and I may be going over slightly old ground but I want to make it 

clear that the University was partly caught between a rock and a hard 

place in terms of some of the statements that have been made to the 

Panel. 10 

 

 It couldn’t have submitted on the introduction of a new statement 

defining what zone is at stage 1.  It only came about as part of stage 2. 

 

  [3.45 pm] 15 

 

 So initially the University’s approach to the definition of site, which 

particularly to car parking is that, it was happy with the stage 1 decision 

and through the discussion of options with the Council it became happy 

with the way car parking was going to be determined based on full-time 20 

student numbers, and that is one of the measurable that the University 

currently use from both a financing position, its position with 

government in terms of defining what the full-time equivalents are, so 

it is a highly recorded statistic from the University’s perspective. 

 25 

 So to fix car parking, on the basis of that approach was highly practical 

from the University’s perspective, and the fact that the site definition 

was locked down to be overall the site, was also accepted. 

 

 So the issue with car parking and the definition of site only came in 30 

when the University could submit on the introduction of subparagraph 

G to the definition, and that referred you back to the general city rules 

with respect to car parking and said, “It is an exception that you got to 

look at because you cannot rely on the overall site when you are 

assessing car parking”, or namely general city wide standards. 35 

 

 The University in its submissions has suggested simply deletion of that 

part of G, and in light of your comments before lunch, sir, in relation 

to, “Could there be some dialogue between the Council and ourselves”, 

I can say that our people are talking to their people, have not quite 40 

reached an accommodation on that but they will continue to do so. 

 

 But the missing piece of the jigsaw that I do not think that the Panel has 

heard about yet is, “Are there any other effects of removing general 

city wide rules in relation to the University activities”, because general 45 

city wide rules control not only car parking but a number of other 
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things.  So Ms Lemon’s evidence effectively from a planning 

perspective will address, “Are there other impacts of just doing a 

deletion for that part of the rule”, and in my submission they are of a 

minor nature. 

 5 

 I want to keep the discussion this afternoon as practical as possible, any 

suggestion that the University fully intends to “move all its car parking 

in one direction and have no parking on one part of the university and it 

all lock down somewhere else”, I think you can pose that question 

Deputy Vice Chancellor this afternoon and it is just beyond conception, 10 

that there is parking on all three sites at the moment, there is no 

intention to effectively eliminate parking from one particular site. 

 

 So the university is saying that from the perspective of consistency, that 

would be desirable to make sure that the definition of “site” carries 15 

through to all of the rules that the University needs to look at, in terms 

of this plan. 

 

 And trying to allow on the one hand a definition of “site” which is 

comprehensive for one part of the SPTE rules, but then having to 20 

artificially split it up in terms of dealing with another part of the rules is 

going to, in my submission, impose a heavy burden on the University 

in terms of, even whether it can physically do it, and particularly if it 

comes down to having to try and assess all of its students what part of 

the day they are spending where. 25 

 

 I also want to say that, and it will be well probably common knowledge 

to the Panel, that the university is still in a state of flux as a result of 

earthquake development, it still has a number of temporary buildings 

onsite that have got a limited life and it will need to resolve more 30 

permanent buildings, and in fact it is doing so – it is under a mandate to 

do so because of government funding. 

 

  [3.50 pm] 

 35 

 It will, however, be in a state of flux for the next five to ten years and 

so I think that it is just too premature to try and lock down what the 

final position of the University might be in terms of where the overall 

big buildings might be, where the focus of all of the learning centres 

will be.  It is going to continue – I can tell you the University will 40 

continue to use its whole campus the way it has been outlined for the 

next five to ten years, thereafter who knows, you can ask the 

University’s witness about the master plan and what that might entail.  

The University does have one. 

 45 
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 So I am going to leave it at that from the point of the view or the car 

parking and the definition of “site”.  I then come onto the urban design 

issues that we have been discussing with witnesses for the Council and 

my submission is really raising the issue of scope relating to these 

matters.  I fully accept that the urban designers for both my submitter 5 

as well as the Council are very well intentioned in terms of what they 

are trying to deliver here but I do say that this is not a matter that was 

raised in submission.  It is a completely new matter to introduce urban 

design parameters into the Plan. 

 10 

 And you have got, I think, a pretty well-known two-tier test, that I 

outline at paragraph 35 of my submission, is that is the change on a 

plan change and the second one is, is there a risk that persons affected 

may have wanted to change or look at or comment at what an urban 

design rule might look like as a controlled activity, and I cannot answer 15 

that one. 

 

 I know that the buy-in of the residents surrounding the University is 

large, they do want to know what is going on, so from an overall 

assessment point of view I think you should adopt a cautious approach 20 

in terms of whether you go to the scope issue because I do think there 

is a high degree of scrutiny in relation to University actions. 

 

 I think that the legal test as far as I have laid out in paragraphs 36 and 

following of my evidence, I have tested the witness as well as the Panel 25 

have in terms of the general workability of this rule and I have great 

concern that it could lead to a delay in a University building 

programme because of the need to try to lock down issues about what 

is of human scale or what is of visual interest, and I am concerned that 

if it goes to the Council and there are one or two people looking at it we 30 

are going to get a very subjective view from those people in terms of 

how this test should be applied to the University buildings, conceivably 

resulting in redrafting although I can accept that with something as this 

it would be desirable to have pre-consultation on what things might 

look like, and I have also questioned about what the reference point for 35 

all of these controlled activity standards are because I do accept that the 

University is capable of building very, very large buildings on this site 

as of right. 

 

 Finally on this issue, irrespective of the scope issue it is an issue that I 40 

think you need to be satisfied that there is a genuine need to go in this 

direction of comprehensive urban design rules and for the University I 

am not there on that issue, I say that unlike the city centre where there 

are urban design controls, where you have a multitude of owners all 

with different plans with respect to buildings, you have the safeguard 45 

here that you have one owner and one developer on the site and it is an 
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owner that has got a master plan in terms of how this University will 

look to 2025, and then further to 2045, so well beyond the life of this 

plan, in terms of what the University’s aspirations are.   

 

  [3.55 pm] 5 

 

 And I genuinely think that that is the reason why design controls were 

not introduced into this part of the plan.  Because there was a degree of 

satisfaction that the University, from its own marketing perspective, it 

is not going to attract students if its building and design of the campus 10 

has got 45 metre walls without windows, or whatever, running in one 

direction.   

 

 So that is a final part of that, except to say that on the issue of scope I 

do accept that you have got jurisdiction to make a decision on that, and 15 

so the planner called for the University is simply going to present to 

you a spectrum of, firstly developing a permitted activity rule that 

introduces a very limited nature of design control, purely on the 

building modulation, and I interpret that as the length of a continuous 

wall.  And of course you have at the other end of the range the 20 

controlled activity status that the Council’s planner has advocated in 

her evidence. 

 

 So they are my opening submissions for the University.  I am happy to 

answer any questions.   25 

 

MR DAYSH:   I do have just a question of clarification.  You took us to the 

sites definition? 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Yes. 30 

 

MR DAYSH:   And it is up in front of us.  So that G, that came in as part of the 

stage 1 - - -  

 

MR CHAPMAN:   No, stage 2. 35 

 

MR DAYSH:   Stage 2, so that was notified in stage 2? 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Yes.  So if you go to the upper part, just the first part of that 

definition, the University was happy with the definition on the basis 40 

that it felt it can come within the first words of the definition.  It is in 

the area of land shown on a plan with defined boundaries.  And that has 

been ring fenced in terms of the SPTE zone.  And it really needed to 

look no further than that being a definition of “site”, and then not 

agreed to car parking on the basis of full time equivalent student 45 

numbers on the overall site, so it did not really need to go anywhere 
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further in terms of being satisfied that the plan accommodated the way 

the University was also viewing its site.  And then stage 2 came along 

which just altered. 

 

MR DAYSH:   And then came in at stage 2 and you made a submission on 5 

that. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Yes, correct. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Asking for some changes there? 10 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Correct.  And jumping out from this over all site definition 

back into say for the city wide standards the definition of site is 

something else than all of the land.  

 15 

 And ion fairness then the University has submitted on what it considers 

would be a better outcome in terms of the wording of G.   

 

SJH:   So it is really the words in brackets that caused you the concern? 

 20 

MR CHAPMAN:   It is the bracketed words that are causing the problems, and 

probably question for Ms Lemon because I do not know enough about 

it, but it is the second part of the brackets, the general city wide rules, I 

do not think there is any issue with built form, but you can ask Ms 

Lemon about that. 25 

 

SJH:   Okay, thank you. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   So I am going to call my first witness which is Dr Hamish 

Cochrane, who is the substitute witness for Dr Rod Carr, who - - -  30 

 

SJH:   So the brief will be the same as Dr Carr’s brief? 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Yes, I am just going to introduce the changes to you.  

 35 
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<DR COLIN HAMISH COCHRANE, sworn [4.00 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR CHAPMAN [4.00 pm] 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Good afternoon.  So your full name is Colin Hamish 

Cochrane? 

 5 

DR COCHRANE:   Correct. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   And in front of you, you have got a Brief of Evidence that 

was originally prepared for the Vice Chancellor to this hearing? 

 10 

DR COCHRANE:   I have, yes. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   So in terms of paragraph 2 of that brief, we should correctly 

say that you are the Deputy Vice Chancellor (Academic), is that the 

way we use it? 15 

 

DR COCHRANE:   That is correct. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Yes.  And your qualifications we should effectively in 

terms of the experience delete all of paragraph 3 being Mr Carr’s 20 

qualifications? 

 

DR COCHRANE:   That is correct, that is Mr Carr’s, yes. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   And your qualifications are that you hold a doctorate in 25 

Environmental Science? 

 

DR COCHRANE:   Correct. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   And you have been at the university, I think, since – dare I 30 

say it – the 1980s? 

 

DR COCHRANE:   That is correct, yes. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   But dealing with paragraph 4, where Mr Carr indicates that 35 

he has an overseeing governance role, you can confirm that that is 

within your area of expertise as well? 

 

DR COCHRANE:   Yes, it is more focused around academic matters but 

extends into student matters as well. 40 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   And you have also been the proctor of the university? 

 

DR COCHRANE:   Yes, from approximately 2003 until 2007. 

 45 

MR CHAPMAN:   That is controlling the bad boys in part, is it? 
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DR COCHRANE:   That was one of the duties that the proctors undertake, yes. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Do you otherwise confirm the evidence in this Brief of 

Evidence? 5 

 

DR COCHRANE:   I do. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Would you present a summary of this evidence to the Panel 

and then please answer any questions. 10 

 

DR COCHRANE:   Thank you.  Thank you for the opportunity to be here.  

First of all, I would just like to apologise on behalf of Dr Carr who, 

ironically, is meeting with the Council this afternoon easements of the 

cycle network.  So his apologies for not being here. 15 

 

 Educational zoning is critical to maintaining the vibrancy and future 

potential of the university.  Universities now days are, of course, 

competitive environments and this is particularly so when we look at 

the attraction of students both undergraduate and postgraduate and 20 

academic staff.  We need modern, quality teaching and research 

facilities and we need modern campus accommodation which is not 

only aesthetically pleasing but perhaps a stimulating environment in 

which students can live and study. 

 25 

 We are once again a growing community post-earthquakes, and we 

need a flexible planning framework in which we can sustainably grow 

our size and thus our positive impact upon broader cultural economic 

aspects of the city and the region. 

 30 

 Increasing, our research and teaching activities are becoming a full year 

round all day occurrence.  We are effectively now running a trimester 

system with an increasingly popular summer school period.  We are 

also responding to signals from central government around better space 

utilisation like considering how we can better spread out teaching 35 

activities over longer daily periods. 

 

 I also note that we are not only about research and teaching, we are 

again regularly hosting international conferences, we have actively 

supported summer and winter sports by making the Ilam Fields 40 

available for many years.  We obviously have retailers on campus, so 

food, books, pharmaceuticals, and this is an area we wish to further 

development over the next 20 to 40 years. 

 

 Post-earthquakes, like many institutions in Christchurch, has been a 45 

very challenging period, focuses on rebuilding and purposing our build 
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infrastructure to support teaching and research activities.  The current 

focus is climbing back to the pre-2011 student numbers and then 

expanding beyond that to maintain the vibrancy that you see in our 

different academic disciplines.  

 5 

 We are known for some specific disciplines – and I will give you 

engineering as an example, but we are absolutely proud of the fact that 

we are a comprehensive university and will remain so.  Our challenge 

is to rebuild the numbers across the university to maintain the depth of 

knowledge and a broad range of disciplines.   10 

 

 I note within the body of evidence mentioned the campus master plan, I 

want to demystify the master plan a little.  The master plan is an 

internally focused document that provides us with our planning 

principles and framework for the medium term out to 2025, and long 15 

term out to 2045. 

 

 In it are a set of 10 principles which our governing body, the UC 

Council, have endorsed.  The principles are streams and landscapes, a 

coherent spatial network, an energetic campus centre, connected 20 

learning and research hubs, environmental responsibility, a 

collaborative campus, innovative teaching and learning environments 

we use adapt and experiment, expression and culture, image and 

identity. 

 25 

  [4.05 pm] 

 

 The rest of the document is filled with a series of ideas of what might 

be possible in various spaces across the campus.  In that sense as the 

ideas form they will require formal approval from our governing body 30 

and consenting before they proceed.  As such the document is very 

much a living document. 

 

 Any finding that forced us to consolidate high level developments only 

on the centre of the campus would obviously be challenging for us.  35 

The idea that we would move to build new multi-storey buildings along 

our campus perimeter is not supported by the building activity we have 

been undertaking, and I give as an example the two-storey NZI3 

building. 

 40 

 And, finally, I would simply like to note that given that we are a small 

community, that we live on 87 hectares, we are responsible therefore 

for all the services that sit within that parameter.  Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.   Mr Illingsworth? 45 
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MR ILLINGSWORTH:   I have no questions. 

 

SJH:   One that Mr Chapman invited us to address and I am not sure if you 

were here earlier and heard the concerns of Mr Falconer, the traffic 

expert from the Council.  His concern is that if your sites are treated as 5 

one for a traffic assessment, worst case scenario is you would put all 

the parking on one and have none on the others.  Can you just give us 

some general feel about how the master plan treats the three different 

pieces of land and those types of things? 

 10 

DR COCHRANE:   Thank you, sir.  The master plan does not propose to locate 

or concentrate all the parking onto one site and I will use Dovedale as 

an example.  There is a recognition with the spread of activities across 

the University that we do need, if you like, satellite parking on the 

campus across the entire campus.  So there is no intent within the 15 

master plan at this time to do that. 

 

SJH:   I suppose the other one I am bound to put to you, one of his major beefs 

is that you charge so much for parking people do not use it and it sits 

empty?  It would be far more sensible to drop the price and fill it up. 20 

 

DR COCHRANE:   In fact parking is going up again next year.  So the purpose 

of that is to look at recovering some of the cost associated with 

providing that parking.  Over a 15 year period we are looking at about 

$7,000 per park so it is designed to recover some of that cost.  Equally 25 

the University, and I mentioned earlier the commitment around the 

environmental principle, is looking at mechanisms or levers by which it 

can encourage people not to use personal transport or vehicle transport 

and look at using public transport or cycles or walking.  So it is seen as 

a mechanism to promote that. 30 

 

SJH:   Okay, thank you.  Anything arising, Mr Chapman? 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   No, sir. 

 35 

SJH:   Thank you, you may stand down. 

 

DR COCHRANE:   Thank you. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [4.08 pm] 40 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   The next witness is Mr Jolly. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

45 
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<EDWARD LEWIS JOLLY, affirmed [4.08 pm] 



 Page 136 

  

Ch21: Specific Purposes Zones (Stage 2) Commenced 03.11.15 

<EXAMINATION BY MR CHAPMAN [4.08 pm] 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Good afternoon, Mr Jolly. 

 

MR JOLLY:   Good afternoon. 5 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Your full name is Edward Lewis Jolly? 

 

MR JOLLY:   It is, correct. 

 10 

MR CHAPMAN:   And you have prepared a brief of evidence dated 

15 October 2015 for this hearing? 

 

MR JOLLY:   That is correct. 

 15 

MR CHAPMAN:   Do you wish to make any changes to that brief of evidence? 

 

MR JOLLY:   No, I do not. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   You confirm it? 20 

 

MR JOLLY:   Yes. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Would you please summarise your highlights in terms of 

this package where necessary taking the Panel to various diagrams that 25 

are attached to your evidence and then answer any questions? 

 

MR JOLLY:   Absolutely.  Good afternoon, I am here today to provide 

evidence in relation to urban design matters considered in the Special 

Purpose zone, Tertiary Education, of the Proposed Replacement 30 

District Plan and specific reference to Canterbury University campus. 

 

 My involvement in the process has been ongoing since September 2015 

and has included expert conferencing mediation and today’s hearing.  I 

was not involved in the earlier submission process.   35 

 

 I have a good working knowledge of the University campus as I have 

recently been involved in the University campus master plan which you 

have just heard about.   

 40 

  [4.10 pm] 

 

 Although this is not a binding document it has given me an overall 

understanding of the intentions of the University in terms of its post-

quake rebuild as well as future development potential on campus. 45 
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 Now my evidence builds on the expert conferencing statement co-

authored between myself and Ms Schroder from Christchurch City 

Council and the conclusions that were made within it.  I have provided 

some sectional studies in support of my evidence in appendix A, that 

compares the potential built form effects in terms of recession planes 5 

and the stepped height rules. 

 

 My conclusion states that the stepped height rule, 21.7.2.3.5, in the 

Notified Plan, is not required as I believe the combination of building 

setbacks, recession planes and the maximum height controls, along 10 

with the addition of the façade modulation, are sufficient to manage 

effects on surrounding Residential Zones. 

 

 Therefore I support the University of Canterbury’s submission to 

remove the proposed step height rule.  I believe the removal of the rule 15 

is appropriate as it will firstly simplify the controls in the zone, and 

secondly the combination of the other rules, which I have just 

mentioned, will in principle manage effects in a similar manner. 

 

 I believe that residential properties to the south of the University, those 20 

with north facing dwellings and gardens, are more sensitive to the 

effects of development on the campus in terms of shadowing and 

overlooking, and hence the recession plane control which provides 

greater control than the stepped height rule to the southern boundaries 

is the appropriate rule to minimise these effects. 25 

 

 However, I recommend in my evidence that the recession plane control 

is extended to road boundaries in Kirkwood Avenue, Clyde Road and 

Creyke Road, on the main campus, to manage effects on neighbouring 

Residential Zones.  I acknowledge this is inconsistent with the 30 

approach for recession planes elsewhere in the Plan but I think this is 

an important consideration. 

 

 Now in terms of façade modulation I consider that in addition to the 

height maximum, setback and recession planes rules, the potential of 35 

continuous building facades should be considered.  Given that at the 

time of writing this may have been an issue out of scope I have not 

made any further recommendations in my evidence.  I consider the 

setback provisions as identified in the Notified Plan adequate to both 

restrict building development within the landscaped areas at campus 40 

boundaries and manage effects on neighbouring residential zones when 

considered in combination with other built form provisions.  

 

 I consider that the internal boundary setback of six metres across the 

campus in combination with recession planes and height controls will 45 
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be sufficient to adequately manage effects on neighbouring Residential 

Zones. 

 

 Overall I consider the built form provisions in the Special Purpose 

Zone Tertiary of the Notified Proposed Replacement District Plan, with 5 

the amendments as proposed, are appropriate to achieve acceptable 

urban design outcomes.  I am happy to take any questions on my 

evidence. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Scott? 10 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS SCOTT [4.13 pm] 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, sir.  Good afternoon, Mr Jolly.  You have I think 

answered some of my questions in your highlights package.  My 15 

questions relate to the façade modulation issue. 

 

MR JOLLY:   Yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Am I correct that your expert recommendation to delete the 20 

stepped height rule in the Tertiary Zone is based on the combination of 

setbacks, recession planes, maximum height controls and façade 

modulation.  Is that correct? 

 

MR JOLLY:   I do not believe that the modulation rule is a replacement for the 25 

stepped height rule. Although they are related I think it is the 

combination of the rules that create the outcome.  I believe the 

modulation rule is aimed to manage the concern around the horizontal 

variation rather than height that the stepped height rule was.   

 30 

MS SCOTT:   Okay, if we can turn to paragraph 9 of your written evidence, 

that is in the executive summary.  And there you state, “my conclusions 

state that the combination of setbacks, recession planes, maximum 

height controls and façade modulation are sufficient to manage effects 

on surrounding residential zones and hence the stepped height rule is 35 

not required”. 

 

MR JOLLY:   That is correct. 

 

  [4.15 pm] 40 

 

MS SCOTT:   So that is how you have summarised your conclusion there?  

And if we turn to page – sorry, paragraph 11D on the following page, 

there you refer to your agreement that continuous unmodulated built 

form is a design matter that requires resolution, correct? 45 
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MR JOLLY:   Yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   And over in paragraph 19, there you provide your view on built 

form provisions, and again you say there that your recommendation 

relating to the stepped height control deletion includes the façade 5 

modulation, the need to address that? 

 

MR JOLLY:   Correct.    

 

MS SCOTT:   And again, in paragraph 20, in that paragraph you again refer to 10 

the façade modulation, correct? 

 

MR JOLLY:   Correct. 

 

MS SCOTT:   So your expert view to delete the stepped height provisions is in 15 

fact based on the need to address that rule, is that correct? 

 

MR JOLLY:   Well, I believe that potentially the stepped height is not evident 

in the notified plan either.   Sorry, the façade modulation rule is not in 

the notified plan either, so this is something that is in addition to that.  20 

So it is not a replacement. 

 

MS SCOTT:   No, and I am not suggesting that as a replacement, but it is part 

of your expert view and your recommendations that that rule can be 

deleted, and that is how you have drafted your evidence.  Is that 25 

correct? 

 

MR JOLLY:   Yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, sir, I have no further questions. 30 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Illingsworth? 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Yes, I do have a few questions.  I am a little bit 

confused about what the recession plane is.  I have read in the evidence 35 

there is 26 degrees and I see here in the plan, it is appendix 14.10.2. 

diagram A.  Because when I look at your recession plane, shown in 

your appendix A, there is a number of different recession planes there, 

20 - - - 

 40 

MR JOLLY:   Yes. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   - - - 26.  Are they examples, or are they actual, those 

boundaries? 

 45 
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MR JOLLY:   The recession plane varies depending on its aspect.  So from the 

south it is at 26 degrees. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   So these diagrams that you have got in your appendix 

A relate to 14.10.2, diagram A, do they? 5 

 

MR JOLLY:   Yes. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Okay, so there they are there. 

 10 

MR JOLLY:   That is not the diagram. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Not them, no.  Okay, so what you have done is you 

have applied those - - - 

 15 

MR JOLLY:   If you go up a little bit further.  So there is diagram A in the top 

left-hand of those diagrams. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Top left-hand? 

 20 

MR JOLLY:   You have a 26-degree from the south - - - 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Okay. 

 

MR JOLLY:   - - - a 39 from the east or west and 55 from the north, and that is 25 

why the recession plane - - - 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Okay, in your diagrams you have applied them to all 

of those - - - 

 30 

MR JOLLY:   That is correct. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   - - - that diagram to all of these recession planes? 

 

MR JOLLY:   That is the typically residential recession plane rule. 35 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Okay, thanks.  I understand. 

 

SJH:   Mr Daysh? 

 40 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, thanks, Mr Jolly.  I do want to really take you to your 

expert statement which is before as an expert position.  And I think that 

there is a catch with Ms Schroder’s evidence dated 25 and 28 

September 2015.  Do you have that with you? 

 45 

MR JOLLY:   Is this the conferencing statement? 
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MR DAYSH:   This is the expert conferencing statement - - - 

 

MR JOLLY:   Yes. 

 5 

MR DAYESH:   - - - 25 and 28 September. 

 

MR JOLLY:   Yes, I have that.   

 

MR DAYSH:   Because it seems like you are in agreement in terms of the way 10 

the rule provisions are presented to us, but you agree with Ms Schroder, 

and you signed this together, that, “we have agreed” – this is 4.4, this 

statement – “that the length of continuous building, including 

potentially rooflines is a design matter that requires resolution, i.e. can 

ensure a grain of development that provides building modulation to 15 

reduce building bulk, provide some visual (INDISTINCT 4.41) rather 

an extensive planned (ph 4.42) façade”.  That is your - - - 

 

MR JOLLY:   Combined statement. 

 20 

MR DAYSH:   - - - combined statement? 

 

MR JOLLY:   Correct. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Expert statement. 25 

 

MR JOLLY:   Correct.  

 

MR DAYSH:   So do you resile from that now? 

 30 

MR JOLLY:   In which way, sorry? 

 

MR DAYSH:   Do you resile from that expert statement?  You think that is 

important? 

 35 

MR JOLLY:   Yes, I do. 

 

MR DAYSH:   All right.  So can you point me then to the zone provisions that 

meet that?  I asked Ms Schroder where those were and said it was her 

controlled activity suggestion, so - - -  40 

 

  [4.20 pm] 

 

MR JOLLY:   She has proposed an activity, and it is controlled activity - - -  

 45 

MR DAYSH:   Yes. 
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MR JOLLY:   - - - status, I have not because I left it open because my 

understanding was there was potential issue of scope. 

 

MR DAYSH:   But how would you meet that – how would you achieve that 5 

expert position if that controlled activity standard or status in the rule 

table is taken out?  You will see that is a gap? 

 

MR JOLLY:   I would see that it is a gap if there is no control in place. Yes, so 

are you asking me if I agree with - - -  10 

 

MR DAYSH:   I suppose I am pointing - - -  

 

MR JOLLY:   Sorry, can you (INDISTINCT 0.55). 

 15 

MR DAYSH:   - - - to the fact that, given your expert statement that 

modulation is important - - -  

 

MR JOLLY:   Yes. 

 20 

MR DAYSH:   - - - if the controlled activity status as proposed by Ms Schroder 

comes out, you think there is a gap? 

 

MR JOLLY:   Yes, I do. 

 25 

MR DAYSH:   Right, thank you.  Are you familiar with outline plan 

procedures under the Resource Management Act, have you actually 

prepared an outline plan? 

 

MR JOLLY:   No, I have not. 30 

 

MR DAYSH:   Right.  I might ask a planner about that. 

 

MR JOLLY:   Yes. 

 35 

MR DAYSH:   Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Leaving aside for the moment the question of scope, if Ms Schroder’s 

controlled activity comes out, what would you substitute into that? 

 40 

MR DAYSH:   I am not sure what I would put in place of that.  Do you want 

me to - - -  

 

SJH:   Well do you think there is a need for rule at all? 

 45 

MR JOLLY:   I believe there is a concern - - -  
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SJH:   Well what would should it cover off and what is the content of it, 

particularly in a fashion that is not full of subjective language, which 

you would have heard earlier. 

 5 

MR JOLLY:   Yes indeed. Through this process we have considered a 

permitted rule, but I struggle to define in terms of – sorry, I take that a 

step back – in my evidence I have suggested my biggest issue is the 

horizontal length of the building potential for that. 

 10 

SJH:   So that is a horizontal building with the same height for a long - - -  

 

MR JOLLY:   Exactly, and I think in the controlled activity, the triggers 

actually are quite correct and they identify that it is the biggest 

building, so those buildings that can reach 30 metres in height that are 15 

within that 30 metre zone of the boundary, et cetera, et cetera, in that 

rule. So I was concerned with that being a building of 30 metres high 

and potential façade of 100 metres in length as example, that is my 

biggest concern. 

 20 

 Now when thinking about that in terms of a permitted activity, how to 

determine how long is too long or how short is too short, I found that 

difficult to determine, particularly in the zone, and hence my 

conclusions led me back to a control that provided an assessment 

criteria, similar to what Mrs Schroder has proposed. 25 

 

SJH:   Well we have had this issue in every part of this plan so far with urban 

design, and we have a requirement to use clarity of language and 

subjective language is not clear because it means what the reader wants 

it to mean really, and do you accept Ms Schroder’s evidence that things 30 

like “human scale” are technical terms that it clearly understood? 

 

MR JOLLY:   I think the specific one about “human scales” one that I have the 

most ambiguity in my mind, I do not necessarily think there is a 

definitive definition for that. Architectural (INDISTINCT 4.07) 35 

materials, architectural form and modulation, I think they are quite 

understandable.  Visual interest and breakdown, the bulk and scale of 

the building, again I think those are quite understandable. 

 

SJH:   For a lay person, what does “visual interest” mean? 40 

 

MR JOLLY:   Well I guess my definition - - -  

 

SJH:   That is the problem, urban designers know what it is - - -  

 45 

MR JOLLY:   Yes. 
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SJH:   - - - but if there is a controlled activity, surely there can be assessments 

in plain language to measure this. Would you and Ms Schroder be 

prepared to, assuming in it is in scope and we have not made any 

decision on that yet, to work together to try and achieve that? 5 

 

MR JOLLY:   Absolutely. 

 

SJH:   All right. 

 10 

MR JOLLY:   Yes. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Anything arising, Ms Scott? 

 

MS SCOTT:   No, sir, but I am sure Ms Schroder would be happy to work with 15 

Mr Jolly. 

 

SJH:   Yes, thank you, I think it should be looked at because it is similar to the 

one we had earlier with Mr McIndoe in one of the chapters – oh, that is 

(INDISTINCT 5.04). 20 

 

MS SCOTT:   It is sir. 

 

SJH:   Mr Chapman, anything from the Panel’s questions? 

 25 

<FURTHER EXAMINATION BY MR CHAPMAN [4.25 pm] 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Yes, just one matter.  Just in relation to this issue between 

the difference between horizontal modulation and vertical modulation, 

you have been asked about that by the Council and also by the Panel, 30 

can you be more precise about the difference please? 

 

MR JOLLY:   Between the horizontal and the vertical?  Well the horizontal is, 

I guess a good example to use where there would be a bad outcome, if 

there was a large industrial building, it has a blank façade and its 35 

purpose is as a storage shed, whereas a building in the university, its 

façade would have some modulation.  So just some step change on its 

horizontal façade.  

 

 The vertical we are talking about heights and variations in heights, and 40 

I am comfortable that the recession planes will be sufficient to deal 

with the stepping from a height perspective. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   And then just in terms of the range of options that is 

available in relation to the Panel’s questions about subjectivity, when 45 

you are dealing with this in building modulation thing, it might not deal 
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with the whole package, but a rule which stipulated a building length, 

which you have said to the Panel you are undecided as to what that 

length should be, and then requiring a step as a permitted activity either 

in, or a step in or a step out from the building, would be one option at 

one end of the range purely to deal with that building modulation issue, 5 

would it not? 

 

MR JOLLY:   Yes, it would. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:    And then you go further depending on how further you go 10 

and how subjective you become to get a full controlled activity rule, is 

that - - -  

 

MR JOLLY:   That is correct.  I guess my position really is that when you get 

to a building of this size, scale, it warrants probably some specific 15 

design flexibility to it.  Whereas down a permitted road it is a 

prescribed outcome I guess in a sense. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   You also indicated to the Panel that you do consider some 

form of control in this area necessary.  Do you do that based on your 20 

knowledge as an architect of what the university is doing at the moment 

and you are worried with designs presently occurring on the university? 

 

MR JOLLY:   Absolutely not. 

 25 

MR CHAPMAN:   Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Thank you, Mr Jolly, you may stand down.   

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [4.27 pm] 30 

 

SJH:   And we will adjourn until 10.00 am tomorrow morning, thank you. 
 
MATTER ADJOURNED AT 4.27 PM UNTIL 
WEDNESDAY, 4 NOVEMBER 2015 35 


